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Foreword from the 
Authority  
 

 

Maritime New Zealand Nō te rere moana Aotearoa 
has a vision of ‘a maritime community that works 
and plays safely and securely on clean waters.’ The 
Statement of Intent 2013–16 (SOI), and its 
associated Statement of Service Performance, set 
out how Maritime NZ intends to move towards this 
vision. They also set out the day-to-day work that is 
vital to the effective and efficient operation of the 
national maritime system, on which New Zealand’s 
security and prosperity depend. 

This annual report ensures that Maritime NZ is 
accountable for what it does and also informs those 
who have an interest in what it does and the extent 
to which it delivered on the plans and targets laid 
out in the SOI. 

It also demonstrates the positive difference the 
organisation has made to those who use New 
Zealand’s seas and waterways for work and 
recreational activities. 

The annual report shows that Maritime NZ has 
achieved much in its role as New Zealand’s national 
maritime regulatory and compliance and response 
agency – both in its business-as-usual and strategic 
areas of work. In general, planning timelines and 
targets were met and improvements are being made 
to ensure New Zealand has safe, secure and clean 
waters. 

Chief among the successes of Maritime NZ for the 
reporting period are the introduction of the Maritime 
Operator Safety System (MOSS) and Seafarer 
Certification (SeaCert) projects – both critical to 
improving safety in the New Zealand commercial 
maritime sector.  

Given the importance of our people in determining 
what we do, the substantial improvement in staff 
engagement over previous years is also particularly 
satisfying. That this was achieved in a very busy and 
challenging year is a reflection of the high quality of 
the people who work at Maritime NZ. 

The Authority would also like to acknowledge the 
efforts of all of those who help ensure that everyone 
who goes out onto New Zealand’s seas and 
waterways is able to return safely home.  

 

David Ledson 

Chairman, Maritime New Zealand
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From the Director 

 
 
Kia ora koutou 

This annual report reflects that 2013/14 has been a 
year in which Maritime NZ has balanced significant 
changes inside the organisation with the delivery and 
improvement of its regulatory, compliance and 
response activities.  

We refreshed and clarified key aspects of our 
strategic direction in a way that provides a clear and 
enduring picture of what we do and what we seek to 
achieve. Elements of this are reflected in this report, 
although of course in large part it responds to the 
strategic and reporting framework that was in place 
at the beginning of the year. 

We completed work to ensure the way we are 
organised in our business groups, teams and roles is 
aligned to what we seek to achieve, we made good 
progress on systems that support our work and 
played a leading role in transport sector agency 
collaboration and capability work. 

We maintained a strong focus on operating according 
to our values – integrity, commitment and respect – 
and continued to give priority to recruiting, 
developing and retaining excellent people who are 
highly committed and motivated to achieve our 
goals. These efforts were reflected in the excellent 
results of our engagement survey, which 
demonstrated significant improvement from the 
previous survey in 2012 and a positive result in 
comparison to both overall public sector and ‘all 
organisations’ results. 

Key highlights of our regulatory compliance and 
response work have included: 

• a wide range of activities that supported, 
encouraged and required participants in the 
maritime systems to operate in a safe, secure 
and environmentally responsible way 

• completion of the new SeaCert and MOSS 
regulatory frameworks that went ‘live’ on 1 
April and 1 July 2014 respectively 

• developing and enhancing our maritime 
incident response capability – while there is 
more to do, the investment the Government has 
made in this area is making a difference 

• sharpening up our international engagement, 
particularly in respect to the International 
Maritime Organization (IMO) – a critically 
important part of the international maritime 
regulatory environment 

• refreshing our approach to key areas, such as 
port and harbour marine safety, recreational 
boating safety, port state control and marine oil 
spill response, through significant reviews of 
how the risks in these areas are managed. 

Our ability to undertake this work has been 
enhanced by working collaboratively with key policy 
and regulatory agencies, both in central and local 
government, and constructively with industry groups 
and operators. 

The work done in 2013/14 has positioned Maritime 
NZ to deliver improved safe, secure and clean 
outcomes in the years ahead. It has been possible as 
a result of the skills, knowledge and dedication of all 
of our people, working together for success. 

 

Keith Manch 
Director, Maritime New Zealand 
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Foundations of Maritime 
New Zealand  
Our role 
Maritime NZ is the national maritime regulatory, 
compliance and response agency for the safety, 
security and environmental protection of coastal and 
inland waterways. We are established as a Crown 
entity under the Maritime Transport Act (MTA) 1994 
to promote a safe, secure and clean maritime 
environment and to minimise the impact of maritime 
incidents and accidents on the physical and 
economic wellbeing of the country and its people. 

Our vision 

A maritime community that works and 

plays safely and securely on clean 

waters. 

Maritime NZ brings together its three core roles – the 
national regulatory and compliance agency, a 
provider of maritime safety infrastructure, and a 
national incident response agency – to achieve its 
vision of three key outcomes: 

 

SAFE – a maritime system that 
supports, encourages and requires 
strong safety standards and behaviours. 

 

SECURE – a maritime system that 
protects people and goods from 
unlawful actions as they move across 
domestic and international waters. 

 

CLEAN – a marine environment that 
is clean and protected. 

Our values  
Our success depends on the commitment, 
performance and attitudes of all those who work for 
Maritime NZ. To achieve this, we demonstrate the 
following values: 

Integrity  

• We are honest, ethical and trustworthy. 

• We are fair and objective.  

• We maintain confidentiality.  

• We demonstrate moral courage – engaging in 
the difficult conversations and making the hard 
decisions.  

Commitment 

• We think about Maritime NZ as a whole.  

• We support the purpose, goals and values of 
the organisation. 

• We support others at Maritime NZ to succeed.  

• We take personal responsibility for our own 
behaviour and expect others to take 
responsibility for theirs. 

Respect  

• We treat everyone fairly and courteously. 

• We listen to others and act on the information 
received. 

• We value the different skills, experience and 
world views each of us bring to our work. 

• We role model the belief that how we do things 
is important, not just what we do. 

• We share information and help others at 
Maritime NZ to do well. 

Maritime New Zealand’s 
roles and functions 
Our responsibilities 
Maritime NZ’s work is central to ensuring New 
Zealand’s commercial and recreational vessels 
operate safely and securely on clean waters, and its 
maritime transport system functions efficiently and 
effectively.  

Our responsibilities extend over an extensive 
geographical area and across a diverse range of 
maritime, environmental and search and rescue 
activities. Every year, hundreds of thousands of New 
Zealanders and visitors to New Zealand work and 
play on the water, in a wide variety of operations, 
activities and craft.  

Our aim is to continually improve as an evidence-
based, intelligence-led and risk-focused 
contemporary regulatory, compliance and response 
organisation. This is in keeping with the 
Government’s focus on better quality regulation, 
responsible financial management, and the delivery 
of better public services.
Maritime NZ has three key roles: 
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1. Regulation1 and compliance 
We help to develop and maintain the national safety, 
security and environmental protection regulations 
that govern the operation of vessels, ports and 
offshore installations in New Zealand waters.  

We support, encourage and require operator 
compliance with those regulations by: 

• licensing and certifying seafarers and 
commercial operations  

• educating the maritime community 

• auditing operators and service providers, such 
as ship surveyors,  

• investigating incidents to try to stop them 
happening again 

• enforcing the regulations to hold people to 
account for their actions. 

Maritime NZ also monitors the security provided by 
port operators and undertakes security profiling of 
vessels as required by the Maritime Security Act 
(MSA) 2004. Information about security threats to 
New Zealand’s maritime interests is also gathered, 
assessed and exchanged, as appropriate. 

Maritime NZ has specific functions under the Health 
and Safety in Employment Act (HSE Act) 1992 and 
the Hazardous Substances and New Organisms Act 
1996 for work on board ships and ships as places of 
work.  

Effective regulation that delivers a safe, secure and 
clean maritime environment, by definition provides a 
foundation to enable and support a productive and 
competitive economy. 

2. Provision of maritime safety 
infrastructure 
We maintain New Zealand’s coastal navigation aids 
to shipping (principally coastal lights and 
lighthouses), the national maritime distress and 
safety radio service, and an emergency distress 
beacon detection network for land, sea and air.   

3. Response to incidents 
We provide a national land, sea and air search and 
rescue coordination service that covers some 30 
million square kilometres, from the Pacific Islands in 
the north to Antarctica in the south. The Rescue 
Coordination Centre New Zealand (RCCNZ) operates 
and maintains the ground-based equipment that 
forms part of the international satellite system and 
provides a round-the-clock response for all notified 

                                                      

1
  The term regulation is used here to refer to the 

international and national conventions, laws, 
regulations, rules and standards that govern maritime 
activity. 

distress beacon alerts within the search and rescue 
region.   

Oil tankers transport over 11 million tonnes of oil 
around New Zealand’s coastline every year and deep 
sea drilling and exploration activities present further 
spillage risks. Maritime NZ manages the 
development and improvement of national maritime 
incident and oil spill response capability, and leads 
New Zealand's responses to significant maritime 
incidents and emergencies, including oil spills. 

International obligations 
The vast majority of New Zealand’s imports and 
exports are transported by sea, and Maritime NZ 
works to ensure that the hundreds of foreign vessels 
visiting this country each year comply with the safety 
and environmental protection conventions set under 
international law. 

Maritime NZ’s active participation in international 
standard setting and the timely adoption and 
maintenance of conventions in domestic law is vital 
to managing significant safety, environmental and 
economic interests 

Maritime NZ represents New Zealand’s interests at 
the IMO, which is the international United Nations 
body responsible for developing maritime 
conventions and marine safety, security and 
environmental protection regulations.  

Maritime NZ also represents New Zealand’s interests 
at the International Oil Pollution Compensation 
Funds (IOPC Funds), which provides financial 
compensation for oil pollution damage that occurs in 
Member States, resulting from spills of persistent oil 
from tankers. 
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Contributing to key transport sector objectives 
Overview of the government 
transport sector 
Transport is a critical component of daily life for all 
of New Zealand’s businesses and people. New 
Zealand’s transport system is our primary 
mechanism for international connectivity, linking our 
businesses to their export markets and supporting 
New Zealand’s $23 billion a year tourism industry. 

Figure 1 provides an overview of the transport sector 
and Maritime NZ’s role within this. 

The Government is seeking a transport system that 
maximises economic and social benefits for New 
Zealand and minimises harm. The Ministry of 
Transport has defined four system outcomes that 
guide the work of transport sector agencies and 
Crown entities, including Maritime NZ: 

 Safe and responsible – reduces the harms from 
transport 

 Effective – moves people and freight where they 
need to go in a timely manner 

 Efficient – delivers the right infrastructure and 
services to the right level at the best cost 

 Resilient – meets future needs and endures 
shocks. 

The Minister of Transport has also identified five key 
priorities, namely: 

 better quality regulation 

 investment in infrastructure 

 a safer transport system 

 opening markets 

 sector performance. 

Maritime NZ is expected to contribute to these goals 
and priorities.

 

 

 

Figure 1: Overview of New Zealand’s transport sector 
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Our operating environment in 2013/14 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

   

 

Domestic operators 

1,267 fishing vessels 
1,096 passenger vessels 
977 non-passenger 
vessels 

Interisland 
passenger & freight 

ferries 

Four ferries 
One UK-flagged ferry 
7,000 annual crossings 

Cargo 

897 ships 
65 oil tankers 

2,407 voyages 
5,692 port visits 
 

Legislation 

Maritime Transport Act 1994 
Maritime Security Act 2004 
Ship Registration Act 1992 
Health and Safety in Employment 
Act 1992 
40 maritime rules and 30 marine 
protection rules. 

Offshore 

Two FPSOs 
Five gas platforms 
Three drilling rigs  

Increasing activity 

Cruise 

35 ships 
104 voyages 

531 port visits 

Distress & safety radio 

30 VHF & HF radio network 
sites covering 98% of 
coastal waters & inland 
waterways to 30–50 miles 
offshore, monitored 24/7 

 Ports and harbour 

14 ports 

33 pilotage areas 

Eight harbour safety 
management systems 
in place; nine 
pending 

Domestic outdoor 
and adventure  

43 white water rafting 
operators – 305 rafts 

42 commercial jet 
boating operators – 
115 jet boats 

Aids to navigation 

98 lighthouse/light 
beacons & buoys 
maintained outside 
harbour limits 

Oil spill response 

24/7 response to oil spills 

339 regionally-based oil 
spill responders 

Search and rescue 

24/7 coordination of land, 
sea & air SAR services 
covering 30 million km2 
and all distress beacon 
alerts 
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2013/14 Key highlights 

    

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

   

  

Increased funding for: 

 Oil spill response 
capability 

 Search and 
rescue capability 

 IT System Reform 

73% of survey 
respondents 
recall Maritime 
NZ’s summer 
safety 
campaign 
advertisement 

Independent 
review of 
Maritime NZ’s 
response to Rena 
incident found it 
was effective 

248 port state control 
inspections  
6 flag state inspections 
311 safety inspections 

Rescue 
Coordination 
Centre New 
Zealand celebrated 

10 years in 
operation 

542 distress 
beacon alerts 
 
762 category II 
search and 
rescue incidents 

1,249 
certificates 
issued for safe 
ship management 
and standard 
operating plan 
vessels 

Rules for 
MOSS and 
SeaCert came 
into force 

100% 
improvement 
in staff 
engagement 

Proactive 
engagement 
in transport 
sector 
collaboration 
& capability 
programme 

Expenditure 

$36.7m 
Revenue 

$35.9m

Strategy for New 
Zealand’s 
engagement at the 
International 
Maritime 
Organization 

adopted 

 

Review of the 
effectiveness of 
the New Zealand 
Port and 
Harbour Marine 
Safety Code 
completed

 

Lifejacket campaign 

wins four gold 
awards at the 
CAANZ Beacon 
awards and named 
‘Advertiser of the 
year’ 

Funding review 

completed 
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Achieving outcomes 
Maritime NZ’s outcome framework ensures strategic alignment with the Government’s key areas of focus for 
transport. 

Maritime NZ identified three key outcomes for the transport sector that it is seeking to achieve through its 
Statement of Intent 2013–16. These outcomes were subsequently reviewed and revised for the Statement of Intent 
2014–2020 to ensure a clearer alignment to safe, secure and clean outcomes. The following table outlines these 
sets of outcomes: 

Statement of Intent 2013–16  Statement of Intent 2014–20 

Outcome 1: A maritime community that actively 
embraces a safety and security culture. 

Safe: Our maritime system supports, 
encourages and requires strong safety 
standards and behaviours.  

Outcome 2: An efficient, effective and safe maritime 
transport system. 

Secure: Our maritime system protects people 
and goods from unlawful actions as they 
move across domestic and international 
waters. 

 

Outcome 3: A marine environment that is pristine and 
protected. 

Clean: Our marine environment is clean and 
protected. 

System performance (outcome) indicators were not specified in Maritime NZ’s Statement of Intent 2013–16 
therefore for the purpose of reporting in this annual report, progress is against outcome indicators specified in 
Maritime NZ’s Statement of Intent 2014–2020. The indicators are described further in the section Maritime 
system performance on page 14 and are reported on pages 16–20.  

Intermediate outcomes for Maritime NZ 
To drive performance towards these desired end states, Maritime NZ puts focus on three intermediate outcomes 
that can be directly influenced by the organisation. 

1. An effective regulatory framework for New Zealand’s maritime sector. 

2. Effective and efficient regulatory services. 

3. Effective and efficient maritime safety and environmental response services. 

These are underpinned by organisational health and capability objectives. 

Maritime NZ monitors these outcomes at a strategic performance level and these are described further in the 
section Progress against intermediate outcomes on page 20. 

These intermediate outcomes will be replaced by four strategic goals. Progress against these will be reported on in 
subsequent annual reports. These goals are: 

1. Regulation that is relevant and robust. 

2. Risk-focused, responsive compliance practices that reduce harm in the maritime system. 

3. Response capability that is well prepared and effectively deployed to resolve emergency incidents. 

4. A results-driven, resilient organisation, working collaboratively for success. 
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Maritime NZ’s approach to monitoring performance 
To understand the contribution we are making as New Zealand’s maritime regulatory, compliance and response 
agency, Maritime NZ’s approach is to set indicators and monitor performance at three levels: 

The level at which we 
measure performance 

Why do we measure performance? 

System level: 

 

To monitor the extent to which the NZ’s maritime system is safe, secure and clean. 

Changes at this level depend on complex, dynamic interactions and factors that 
Maritime NZ has only limited or indirect control over. As a result, improvement in 
the system tends to occur very slowly and is often only observable in retrospect. 
Although Maritime NZ’s direct control of change at this level is limited, it is still 
important to monitor indicators that demonstrate changes in the long term. This is 
because this information helps Maritime NZ determine and adjust its contribution to 
the system, and shapes Maritime NZ’s strategic objectives and direction in the 
medium term.  

System level performance measurement against indicators established in the 
Statement of Intent 2014–2020 are outlined on page 14. 

Strategic: 

 

To understand the impact of our collective activities and their contribution to 
improvements in safety, security and cleanliness, over the medium term.  

As a regulatory, compliance and response agency, Maritime NZ engages in activities 
that collectively support, encourage and require all maritime sector participants to 
demonstrate safety, security and environmentally responsible standards and 
behaviours.  

While Maritime NZ is able to control or directly influence some of the factors that 
shape people’s willingness to comply (such as the costs and ease of compliance) it 
cannot control all of them (for example, tight fiscal conditions can encourage 
business to take greater risks as a result of reducing expenditure on safety-related 
costs and practices).  

Maritime NZ also works closely with a range of stakeholders to help us sustain and 
widen our level of influence. Monitoring our impact at this level is critical to ensuring 
that Maritime NZ’s activities are directed appropriately, that is, where they can make 
most difference over time. We also monitor aspects of our collective internal 
organisational capability since this also contributes to our ability to impact on those 
we regulate. 

Strategic performance measurement against intermediate outcome and capability 
objectives targets set in the Statement of Intent 2013–16 are outlined from page 
20. 

Operational: 

 

To understand and continuously improve the quality of Maritime NZ’s core activities 
and functions.  

Everything we do impacts on our effectiveness as a regulatory, compliance and 
response agency. All of our activities influence the behaviours of those we regulate 
and rescue. Our core activities and functions also support our ability to work with our 
key government partners, industry and the recreational sector to achieve our goals. 
The quality of what we deliver is directly within our control and therefore critical to 
our success. As a result, we monitor our operational performance on a regular basis 
by tracking our ‘effort’ (through quantity, timeliness, quality and cost indicators), 
and its immediate short-term impact.  

Operational performance measurement against targets set in the Statement of Intent 
2013–16 are presented in Maritime NZ’s statement of service performance on page 
38.  
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Maritime system performance 
Maritime NZ is developing measures to monitor the extent to which New Zealand’s maritime system is safe, secure 
and clean. 

Changes at this high ‘system’ level depend on complex dynamic interactions and factors that Maritime NZ has only 
limited or indirect control over. Improvement in the system tends to occur very slowly and is often only observable 
in retrospect. Although Maritime NZ’s direct control of change is limited, it is still important to monitor indicators 
that signal changes in the system over the long term. This is because this information helps Maritime NZ 
determine and adjust its contribution to the system and shapes Maritime NZ’s strategic objectives and direction in 
the medium term. 

The following system performance measures were established in Maritime NZ’s Statement of Intent 2014–2020: 

NZ’s Maritime 
system outcomes 

Desired trend Indicators 

SAFE 

 

The average annual rate of maritime fatalities 
and serious injuries consistently trends 
downwards over time 

Annual incidence and frequency of 
fatalities and serious harm injuries 
occurring per sector 

(lag indicator2) 

Annual incidence of minor injury and/or 
‘damage’ to vessels 

(lead indicator3) 

SECURE 

 

The New Zealand maritime system is 
recognised as secure by key trading partners 

Annual number of security incidents 
reported in New Zealand waters  

(lag indicator) 

Annual number of cruise ship voyages 
made to New Zealand 

(lead indicator) 

 

CLEAN 

 

The number of pollution incidents impacting on 
our marine environment reduces over time 

The status of the Oil Spill Preparedness 
Index 

 

 

These indicators are still under development and the results reported on the following pages 16–19 are 
preliminary, as Maritime NZ seeks to establish baselines during 2014/15.  

                                                      

2
  Lag indicator – provides information about performance over a past or ‘elapsed’ period of time.   

3
  Lead indicator – provides information that is considered to predict a change in outcomes or activities that are valued by the 

organisation. 
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SAFE – Our maritime system supports, encourages and 
requires strong safety standards and behaviours 
Safety in New Zealand’s maritime environment supports New Zealand’s economic and social interests and is one of 
Maritime NZ’s key legislative obligations. Maritime NZ monitors safety through a variety of means, including 
notifications of commercial accidents, serious harm injuries and fatalities and recreational boating fatalities. Work 
is underway to understand and report what is happening by sector. In lieu of this information, the following data is 
presented in its ‘raw’ form.  

Commercial sector – summary of maritime safety notifications 
Table 1 below presents the number of accidents, serious harm injuries and fatalities within the commercial sector 
that were reported to Maritime NZ over the past five years. 

TOTAL 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 

Commercial accidents 262 314 422 317 234 

Commercial serious harm injuries4 67 92 100 105 64 

Commercial fatalities 9 3 9 3 7 

Table 1: Summary information of notifications that are reported directly to Maritime NZ by parties observing or involved in an 
event.  

In presenting this data, it should be noted that comparisons between notifications data and other sources of data 
on the number of harm events (for example, Accident Compensation Corporation (ACC) claims for injuries occurring 
in maritime industries) indicate that the notifications captured by Maritime NZ are not representative of the actual 
number of harm events occurring in the maritime system annually, and the numbers are much higher. 

The information reported is the number of events occurring annually as reported to Maritime NZ. It is not a rate 
and should not be used to draw any conclusions or inferences about trends. Maritime NZ is planning further work 
to improve its access to statistics to report against the indicators outlined on the previous page, and to better 
enable it to draw conclusions about trends and information itself of regulatory or compliance interventions needed 
to respond to such trends. 

The figures on the following pages provide a breakdown of the summary information by vessel type.  

                                                      

4
  Serious harm, as defined by the HSE Act 1992, means: 

(a) death; or 

(b) harm of a kind or description referred to in Schedule 1 of the HSE Act 1992; or 

(c) harm of a kind or description declared by the Governor-General by Order in Council to be serious for the purposes of the 
HSE Act 1992. 
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SOLAS/NZISM 

These are vessels undertaking international 
voyages under the International Convention for 
the Safety of Life at Sea (SOLAS Convention) 
with a New Zealand International Safety 
Management exemption. 

 

Figure 2: Summary of SOLAS/NZISM accidents, serious harm injuries 
and fatalities reported to Maritime NZ over the past five years. 

Safe Ship Management  

Vessels within the following domestic sectors 
are required under Part 21 of the Maritime 
Rules to have a safe ship management plan: 
adventure, cray/rock lobster, dive vessel, 
dredger, foreign chartered fishing vessels, 
fishing vessel, other fishing, passenger, 
passenger ferry, tourism activity, trawler and 
workboats. 

 

Figure 3: Summary of Safe Ship Management accidents, serious harm 
injuries and fatalities reported to Maritime NZ over the past five years. 

Less than 6 metres 
This category includes vessels of less than 6 
metres, which includes workboats, personal 
water craft, tourism and recreational vessels. 

 

Figure 4: Summary of less than 6 metre vessel accidents, serious harm 
injuries and fatalities reported to Maritime NZ over the past five years. 
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Tourism 
This category covers water-based adventure 
tourism operators 

 

Figure 5: Summary of tourism operator accidents, serious harm injuries 
and fatalities reported to Maritime NZ over the past five years. 

Recreational sector – summary of fatality notifications 
The recreational boating sector covers a wide range of craft, including kayaks, personal water craft, waka, sail and 
power boats. 

Maritime NZ works with sector organisations on a range of interventions to educate and inform recreational boating 
participants about appropriate safety behaviour.  

 

Following the introduction of the first National Pleasure Boat Safety Strategy in 2001/02, there was a significant 
reduction in the annual boating toll through to 2007. After 2007, the picture shows that – based on the trend line 
– fatality numbers have levelled off and it has been more difficult to maintain a downward trend. In the seven years 
between 2007 and 2014, the total number of deaths was less than the seven years between 2000 and 2007 – 
115 compared with 124.  
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SECURE – Our maritime system protects people and goods 
from unlawful actions as they move across domestic and 
international waters 
Close to 99 percent of New Zealand’s imports and exports (by volume) are transported by sea, so it is important 
that the international transport system operates without disruption. The Maritime Security Act (MSA) requires all 
vessels that visit New Zealand ports and harbours to comply with the International Ship and Port Facility Security 
(ISPS) Code.  

While security breaches are difficult to predict, Maritime NZ monitors a high-level system indicator with sub-
categories. The first indicator, being the most important, concerns ISPS code compliance and all New Zealand 
ports are compliant, the sub-categories are:  

 the number of security incidents reported by ports and offshore industry bodies – to provide a picture of 
past security performance 

 annual cruise ship voyages made to New Zealand – to help predict changes in the perception of New 
Zealand as a secure destination. 

Security incidents reported annually in New Zealand waters (lag) 

There have been no major incidents reported at ports. Some minor incidents have been reported to Maritime NZ, 
but these have not met the threshold for reporting under the MSA. No major security incidents have been reported 
in the offshore sector.  

The US Coast Guard rated New Zealand's port security compliance as very good and future compliance visits will 
likely occur every two or more years, rather than annually. 

Annual number of cruise ship voyages (lead) 
Cruise NZ reports the following data on ship visits: 

Year Ships Visits Days in port 

2010/11 34 96 559 

2011/12 30 121 756 

2012/13 37 129 763 

2013/14 33 119 699 

The cruise industry, like the rest of the maritime sector faces threats from terrorism, piracy and crime, and can be 
impacted by geopolitical events. For the most part, incidents of terrorism and piracy are isolated and have not 
greatly affected the industry over the past decade, although the threat most certainly remains real. Terrorist threats 
are specifically risk managed through the ISPS Code, while introduction of anti-piracy best management practices 
and the industry’s own security measures, planning and intelligence work to lessen the risk from other threats. 

The cruise industry anticipates continued growth of the New Zealand market, with increased frequency and larger 
cruise ships coming next season and beyond. Cruise New Zealand forecasts that during the 2014/15 cruise season, 
32 ships will visit New Zealand making 125 voyages and spending 705 days in port.  
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CLEAN – Our environment is clean and protected 

Activities such as shipping and offshore oil and gas development bring important economic benefits to New 
Zealand, but they also create environmental protection issues. These have historically had a significant focus on 
the prevention and response to oil spills although, following the Rena incident, the wider pollution impacts from 
maritime activity have come more to the fore. Maritime NZ’s goal is to minimise compliance costs for industry, 
while safeguarding lives, the marine environment and property. 

Maritime NZ has recently introduced a broader high-level assessment tool to measure overall preparedness and 
response capability for maritime emergency incidents in general.  

A more thorough comprehensive capability development programme is underway to improve capability around 
these specific very low likelihood but high consequence events, noting that it will always be challenging to sustain 
comprehensive response capabilities for such events.   

Oil spill preparedness index 

Category Performance indicator Consolidated 
rating (as at 
30 June 2014)

Personnel – MNZ Percentage of: 
 Maritime NZ staff qualified to be in the Maritime Incident 

Response Team 
 Qualified National On-Scene Commanders 
 Qualified Oil Spill Duty Officers 
 Qualified National Response Team staff 

 

Personnel – regions Number of: 
 Regional On Scene Commanders 
 Regional Field Operators 

 

Equipment – Tier 2 Percentage: 
 readiness of regional equipment 
 of regional equipment inspected 

 

Training courses Percentage of programmed courses conducted  

Plans – national  National plans in date (within six months)  

Plans – regional Percentage of current regional plans in date  

Exercises – Tier 3 Time elapsed since last exercise  

Exercises – Tier 2 Percentage of: 
 planned tabletop exercises 
 equipment deployment exercises conducted 
 combined exercises completed 

 

OVERALL RATING (as at 30 June 2014) 
At the system level there is good capability to respond to the more likely, lower consequence 
maritime emergency incidents and to support the maintenance of a ‘clean’ maritime 
environment. Work continues to improve response capability for very low likelihood, large scale, 
complex and high consequence events 
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Progress against intermediate outcomes 

Intermediate outcome 1: An effective regulatory framework for New 
Zealand’s maritime sector 

Link to government priorities for transport: Safe and responsible; Effective; Efficient; Resilient 

Link to Minister of Transport’s priorities: Better quality regulation 

Strategic objectives 

Objective Action Timeframe Progress 

Strategic objective 1.1 

New Zealand engages effectively 
with IMO to achieve safe, secure 
and clean seas and efficient 
shipping 

Strategy for New Zealand’s engagement 
with IMO implemented with 
demonstrable progress in advancing its 
five strategic goals. 

June 2016 On track 

Very good progress has 
been made to advance the 
five strategic goals that 
will enhance the ability for 
Maritime NZ to manage 
and respond to 
international 
developments. 

 

Strategic objective 1.2 

A seafarers’ qualifications 
framework that is current, flexible 
and supports industry needs 

Develop SeaCert framework with 
supporting infrastructure. 

January 
2014 

Complete 

Timeframes were revised 
to April 2014. 

Strategic objective 1.3 

A relevant and effective national 
recreational boating strategy 

Complete a review of the current 
recreational boating safety strategy. 

June 2014 Complete 

The National Pleasure 
Boat Safety Forum 
formally accepted the 
review in May 2014. 

 

Impacts for intermediate outcome 1  

Impact Impact measure  Progress 

A regulatory framework that 
stakeholders understand and comply 
with  

75 percent of maritime survey 
participants state by 2015 that they 
find the safety regulatory framework 
easy to understand. 

The development of an evaluation 
framework and a stakeholder survey 
has now commenced, following the 
implementation of MOSS.  

Contribution to and influence on 
international outcomes consistent with 
New Zealand’s interests. 

At least 80 percent of New Zealand’s 
participation objectives are met at 
international meetings attended. 

100% achieved. 

Delegates attended 10 international 
meetings during the reporting period 
and reported back that all 
participation objectives set prior to 
each meeting, were met. 
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Regulatory work programme – year in review 
International engagement Maritime NZ represents New Zealand’s interests at the IMO. With almost all of New Zealand’s 

trade being carried by foreign-flagged ships, our key goal at the IMO is to make sure that 
international shipping regulations adopted by the international community are set at levels that 
meet New Zealand’s stringent safety, security and environmental protection standards. Over 
the year Maritime NZ has supported New Zealand’s progress toward becoming party to key 
international conventions, such as the Maritime Labour Convention, Supplementary Fund 
Convention and Ballast Water Convention. 

Maritime NZ provides support for the Government’s Pacific Maritime Safety Programme, which 
is active in Kiribati, Tonga and the Cook Islands. 

Maritime NZ continues to engage regularly with representatives of the Australian Maritime 
Safety Authority (AMSA) on areas of common strategic and operational importance. 
Relationships with other administrations have also been cemented over the year through visits 
from Jeffrey Hoedt, the U.S. Coast Guard (USCG) Chief of Boating Safety Division, and Peter 
Chennell, the then head of the Royal National Lifeboat Institution, United Kingdom who 
participated in a National Pleasure Boat Safety Forum. 

Introduction of MOSS and 
SeaCert programmes 

2013/14 saw the achievement of significant enhancements to the two key pillars of domestic 
shipping safety regulation, aimed at strengthening safety standards in the domestic maritime 
transport sector. 

The first involved the introduction of a new safety management system framework for New 
Zealand’s 3,300 domestic commercial vessels, MOSS, which is better aligned with the needs 
of New Zealand’s domestic shipping industry. The second was an overhaul of SeaCert, which 
was aimed at placing greater emphasis on seafarer competence and ability, providing a clear 
career path for mariners, and delivering certification services online. 

MOSS replaces the previous Safe Ship Management (SSM) system, which required vessel 
owners to engage a third party to develop a safety management system for their vessels. 
Commercial operators will be required to fully integrate into MOSS over the next four years and 
will be required to interact directly with Maritime NZ on the development of the safety 
management system for their entire operation. 

In addition, the competencies and performance standards for surveyor recognition are being 
raised. Maritime NZ will be taking a more hands-on approach to creating and maintaining a 
competency framework, instructions and guidelines. 

SeaCert is Maritime NZ’s new seafarer licensing framework for domestic and international 
certificates of competency and proficiency. It also sets out where seafarers can operate in local 
and international waters. 

The new SeaCert framework has been developed with the industry to provide a modern system, 
with measurement of competence at its core and provision for clear and transparent career 
progression. SeaCert also takes account of international standards and transferability of 
certificates to other countries. Online applications enable greater efficiencies and faster 
turnaround times. 

Amendments to the MTA Maritime NZ worked closely with the Ministry of Transport on amendments to the MTA, which 
came into force in October 2013. Operational changes are now being implemented to give 
effect to the amendments. 

Changes to Maritime Rules and 
Marine Protection Rules 

The introduction of the MOSS and SeaCert regimes required significant changes to maritime 
rules to enable the new systems to come into force from 1 July 2014 and 1 April 2014, 
respectively. Other changes made during the year to rules include: 

 Part 24A – The carriage of dangerous goods rule fulfils New Zealand’s obligations 
under the SOLAS Convention 

 Parts 180 and 200 – dumping and discharge management rules have been reviewed 
to meet requirements for the transfer of functions from Maritime NZ to the 
Environmental Protection Agency 

 Part 40 series – amendments to align ship design and construction rules within 
MOSS. 

Rules under review Drafting is underway for an Omnibus Maritime and Marine Protection Rule Amendment and 
will continue into 2014/15. Significant policy and operational input was undertaken to 
advance Part 102 amendments to increase the minimum insurance limits for offshore 
installations. This work will continue in 2014/15. 

Policy work has progressed for rules relating to commercial rafting operations, navigation safety 
rules (personal flotation devices), regulation of ships’ ballast water, marine oil spill response, 
emergency position indicator radio beacons and personal locator beacons, and Dispersants and 
Demulsifiers. An assessment was undertaken of the work required to bring New Zealand’s rules 
into conformity with various outstanding and pending amendments to the SOLAS Convention. 
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Contribution to Government 
Initiatives 

Maritime NZ has contributed to numerous government initiatives including: the transfer of 
functions to the Environmental Protection Agency under the Exclusive Economic Zone and 
Continental Shelf (Environmental Effects) Act (EEZ Act) 2012,  the Customs and Excise Act 
1996 Review, the review of financial security required for Certificates of Insurance for Offshore 
Installations, the Productivity Commission review into regulatory institutions and practices, 
advice on the use of drugs and alcohol in adventure activities, offshore oil response and 
environmental permitting, and the Marine Management Act and marine reserves. 

The Health and Safety Reform Bill has been introduced into Parliament. Maritime NZ’s role in 
administering the HSE Act for work on board ships, and ships as places of work is expected to 
be extended under the new legislation.  

Maritime NZ has been supporting the drafting of the legislation and looking at alignment and 
delineation of operational practices with WorkSafe NZ, particularly in the area of water-based 
adventure activity, where operators may be audited by both WorkSafe NZ and Maritime NZ.   

Review of the Port and Harbour 
Marine Safety Code (2004) 

A review of the effectiveness of the New Zealand Port and Harbour Marine Safety Code (2004) 
was completed in February 2014.  

The review found that the code is relevant for, and valued by, regional councils and port 
companies. Further, the roles, responsibilities and activities described in the code are closely 
aligned with the 2013 amendments to the MTA. However, the review also found that the code 
needs updating and that about half of the relevant ports and harbours had not confirmed that 
their safety management systems are consistent with the code. Work to address these issues is 
underway. 

New Zealand Marine Oil Spill 
Response Strategy 

Under the MTA, Maritime NZ is required to regularly update the NZ Marine Oil Spill Response 
Strategy, which was last revised in 2006. Maritime NZ engaged with regional councils, 
industry, iwi and the public to collate and consider inputs from interested parties. The draft 
strategy has been released for public comment. 

The draft strategy is based on the current version but is substantially updated to include 
lessons learned nationally and internationally, and incorporating feedback from key 
stakeholders. 

The draft strategy not only provides information about how Maritime NZ responds to marine oil 
spills but also sets the vision, principles, goals and objectives for the next five years for New 
Zealand’s marine oil spill readiness and response. When finalised, the strategy will shape the 
future capability requirements for New Zealand, and the resources needed by Maritime NZ, 
regional agencies and industry to meet the aims for readiness and response.  

Recreational Boating Strategy 
Review 

Maritime NZ has been leading work with the National Pleasure Boat Safety Forum (the Forum) 
on a review of the Recreational Boating Safety Strategy, to develop a more collaborative and 
concerted approach to improve safe boating behaviour and reduce injuries and fatalities. The 
review report was accepted by the Forum in May 2014 and a draft strategy document for 
consultation is due in November 2014.  
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Intermediate outcome 2: Effective and efficient regulatory services 

Link to government priorities for transport: Safe and responsible; Effective; Efficient; Resilient 

Link to Minister of Transport’s priorities: Better quality regulation; A safer transport system 

Strategic objectives 

Objective Action Timeframe Progress 

Strategic objective 2.1 

A clearly articulated operating model that 
incorporates a risk-based, intelligence-
led approach to achieving its outcomes 

Communicate and implement 
Maritime NZ’s operating model 
internally and externally 

June 2014 Complete 

September 
2013 

Strategic objective 2.2 

An operational framework that delivers an 
efficient and effective safety 
management system for the domestic 
commercial maritime sectors 

Implement the Maritime Operator 
Safety System  

July 2014 Complete 

1 July 2014 

Complete a post-implementation 
review of the Maritime Operator 
Safety System 

Dec 2016 To be started in 
2014/15 

Strategic objective 2.3 

A seafarers qualifications framework that 
is current, flexible and supports industry 
needs 

Implement the Seafarer 
Certification Framework (SeaCert) 

January 2014 Completed 

Timeframes 
revised April 
2014 

Complete a post-implementation 
review of the Seafarer Certification 
Framework 

December 2015 To be started in 
2014/15 

Strategic objective 2.4 

A relevant and effective national 
recreational boating strategy 

Communicate and implement a 
revised recreational boating safety 
strategy 

June 2015 To be started in 
2014/15 

Strategic objective 2.5 

Improve maritime industry health and 
safety capability 

Develop and implement an 
integrated health and safety in 
employment training programme 

June 2014 Completed 

June 2014 

  

Impacts for intermediate outcome 2   

Impact Impact measure / target  Progress 

Improve the safety and 
environmental performance 
of international vessels 
visiting New Zealand 

A 15 percent reduction in the number 
of high-risk ships coming to New 
Zealand by 30 June 2016 

New Zealand is a party to the Tokyo MOU
5
 which has 

established new risk criteria – Maritime NZ has 
established a new monitoring system and will report 
results against it next year. 

A 10 percent reduction in the number 
of incidents that require follow-up 
inspections by 30 June 2016 

This is a new measure and the baseline is being 
established. 

In 2013/14 Maritime NZ completed 248 port state 
control inspections, 88 (35%) required follow-up 
inspections 

Improve the safety and 
environmental performance 
of the New Zealand 
domestic fleet 

A 20 percent reduction in the number 
of illegal operators by 30 June 2016 

This is a new measure and the baseline is being 
established. 

200 operators were identified as potentially operating 
illegally. 127 of these were either encouraged into 
compliance or exited the system, 33 were detained 
and/or prosecuted, 1 sank, 12 are continuing to work 
through the process towards compliance, and a further 
27 remain as potential illegal operators.  

                                                      

5
  The Tokyo MOU is the Memorandum of Understanding on Port State Control in the Asia-Pacific region.  
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Impact Impact measure / target  Progress 

A 10 percent reduction in the number 
of high-risk domestic operators by 30 
June 2016 

A system has been developed to determine the risk 
profiles of operators as they enter MOSS. This will allow 
Maritime NZ to identify high-risk operators and take the 
appropriate measures to reduce risk.  

Improved recreational 
boating safety 

A 10 percent reduction in the number 
of target group fatalities by 30 June 
2016 

This measure will no longer be used for impact 
measurement and instead will be monitored at the 
maritime system performance level. A revised 
measure of an increasing proportion of survey 
respondents who report positive changes in behaviour 
as a result of exposure to safety messages is being 
developed and a baseline will be established in 
2014/15 

A 10 percent increase in the carriage 
and use of appropriate safety 
equipment (as evidenced by boat ramp 
surveys) by 30 June 2016 

18% increase (from 68% to 86% of vessels)  

 

Regulatory Services – year in review 

Supporting entry into MOSS 
and SeaCert 

Maritime NZ has been receiving applications for MOSS since 1 April 2014. A three month 
lead time, prior to expiry of existing SSM certificates, is advised to allow for full review and 
analysis of applications, site visits and any necessary follow up work.  

Introduced on 1 July 2014, MOSS is the new regulatory framework for the majority of 
domestic commercial operators.  

Industry engagement has been a key part of the implementation phase, achieved through the 
Maritime Industry Advisory Group (MIAG), the Large Operator Liaison role and through 
Maritime Officers holding interactive briefing sessions and workshops for operators and 
surveyors across the country. The support provided by Maritime NZ and the relationships 
developed are not only smoothing the way for the MOSS changes but will also assist work in 
other areas. 

Maritime NZ also undertook industry briefings on SeaCert and visited maritime training 
providers across New Zealand. 

Education Recreational boating  

Maritime NZ undertakes a range of educational and promotional activities in collaboration 
with sector organisations to improve safety attitudes and behaviours across the recreational 
boating community.  

For example, the new lifejacket-wearing campaign was launched in December 2013, with the 
theme “Get it on or it’s no good”. 

Maritime NZ commissioned market research of the campaign which showed recall at 73 
percent. This compares with the unusually high recall rate for the 2012/13 "Don't be a Clown" 
campaign of 95 percent. Unprompted awareness of boating safety television advertising was 
87 percent in 2014, compared with 90 percent recorded in 2013.  

Maritime NZ's "Clown" lifejacket campaign won four gold awards for media agency FCB Media 
at the Communication Agencies Association of New Zealand (CAANZ) 2014 Beacon awards. 
Maritime NZ was named ‘Advertiser of the Year’ at the awards, and the Clown campaign 
notched up wins in ‘Best Use of Insight’, ‘Best Integrated Campaign’, ‘Social 
marketing/public service’ and ‘Best Communications Strategy’. 

Maritime NZ also coordinates an annual Boat Ramp Survey to build a picture of boating 
behaviour relating to lifejackets, safety equipment, and checking of weather reports. The 
results are used to target education and resources.  

The results of the latest Boat Ramp Survey signal some improvements in safe boating 
behaviour but also highlight the need to sustain education and communication programmes 
and other initiatives such as the Safe Boating Adviser Volunteer network that Maritime NZ 
organises.  

Commercial fishing  

Commercial fishing is a dangerous occupation in New Zealand. Maritime NZ has a number of 
initiatives underway to promote the sector’s compliance with maritime safety regulations. The 
most significant of these initiatives is the introduction of MOSS and SeaCert. Other initiatives 
that were undertaken during the reporting period include reviewing the FishSAFE programme, 
ongoing work to reflag Foreign Charter Fishing Vessels (FCFVs), a lifejacket campaign for West 
Coast fishermen, an on-water campaign in conjunction with NZ Police and a safety campaign 
for those engaged in muttonbirding at the Titi Islands. 
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Monitoring and investigation of 
compliance – Domestic 
operators 

Illegal operators 

During this reporting period Maritime NZ has focused on targeting non-compliance. 200 
operators were identified as being potentially operating outside of compliance. Maritime NZ 
actively checked 173 of these operators and took appropriate compliance action (which 
included education, support to become compliant and in some cases, an imposition of 
conditions). These operators either took steps to become compliant or they have ceased 
operating. The remaining 27 percent have not yet been checked, but will be assessed under 
MOSS, either through reviewing their Maritime Transport Operator Certificate (MTOC) 
application or undertaking a deemed MTOC audit. Maritime NZ will apply the same range of 
compliance actions for those that are identified as non-compliant. 

Maritime NZ’s intelligence gathering capability has improved through agency cooperation and 
relationship building, which will assist with renewed focus on serious offenders who actively 
attempt to avoid compliance. 

Monitoring and investigation of 
compliance – SOLAS vessels 

European Maritime Safety Agency (EMSA) Audit 

In June 2013 EMSA audited Maritime NZ and relevant New Zealand training providers 
against the Standards of Training, Certification and Watchkeeping Convention. The majority of 
EMSA’s recommendations following this audit have been addressed through the 
implementation of SeaCert.  

Benchmarking Review of Maritime NZ’s Port State Control capability 

Port State Control is the international framework under which New Zealand inspects visiting 
foreign ships to verify that they comply with international regulations. In 2013 a 
Benchmarking Review of Maritime NZ’s Port State Control capability found that our 
supporting systems meet international requirements. Work has commenced on implementing 
the recommendations from the review. 

Port State Control – new inspection regime  

From 1 January 2014, New Zealand began implementing the New Inspection Regime (NIR) 
set by the Tokyo MOU. Under the NIR, more high risk ships will be inspected. This is in 
keeping with Maritime NZ’s objective to target high risk ships to reduce the harm in this 
sector. The new regime will enable Maritime NZ to build better baseline measures and a 
richer understanding of the risks this sector. 

Inspection Campaigns 

Four concentrated inspection campaigns were completed over 2013/14 targeting fire-fighting 
equipment, lifting plant equipment, hazardous substances and dangerous goods, and 
navigation safety and passage training. These campaigns deepen Maritime NZ’s 
understanding of factors that cause harm, while sending a clear deterrent message that non-
compliance or unsafe operating practice is increasingly likely to be detected when vessels 
visit New Zealand. 

Significant prosecutions Maritime NZ successfully undertook a number of prosecutions. 

The bulk carrier Lake Triview ran aground in New Plymouth in May 2014 but did not report 
the grounding. However, as a result of the new intelligence-led inspection regime the vessel 
was scheduled for a port state control inspection and through this the full extent of the 
grounding came to light. The master was convicted of failing to notify Maritime NZ and fined. 

In June 2104, Albacore Fisheries of Wellington was fined for operating without the required 
SSM certificate, relating to 38 fishing trips by the vessel Star of the Sea between February 
and May 2013. Catch returns showed the vessel was operating as a commercial fishing vessel 
on each trip. 

The Easy Rider case involved the sinking of the vessel and eight fatalities in March 2012. The 
prosecution raised a significant legal issue because it tested the responsibilities of company 
directors in such cases. The case was prosecuted under both the MTA and the HSE Act and 
convictions were entered against the company and its sole director.  

On 27 May 2014 the director of the company was found guilty of charges and sentenced to 
350 hours of community service and a fine of $3,000, and AZ1 Enterprises received total 
fines of $204,500. This conviction is important because it reinforced the accountability of 
operators and the responsibilities of those who hold roles as directors. 

Rena incident response 

 

Maritime NZ continues to provide guidance and support to the Bay of Plenty Regional 
Council. Statutory notices have remained in place and therefore Maritime NZ has maintained 
a residual oversight role and will need to devote resources to Rena-related matters for at least 
the remainder of 2014. The owners of the vessel Rena have sought to obtain resource consent 
to leave parts of the wreck on Astrolabe Reef. 

Maritime NZ also had significant involvement in supporting the Crown in dealing with Treaty 
of Waitangi claims (heard in June 2014) and draft resource management consent applications 
lodged by owners in May 2014. 
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Intermediate outcome 3: Effective and efficient maritime safety and 
environmental response services 

Link to government priorities for transport: Effective; Resilient 

Link to Minister of Transport’s priorities: Opening markets; Investment in infrastructure 

Strategic objectives 

Objective Action Timeframe Progress 

Strategic objective 3.1 

Continue to enhance 
Maritime NZ’s emergency 
response capability 

Establish a Maritime Distress and Safety 
Communications Forum that engages the 
maritime community in distress and safety 
communications issues 

Dec 2013 Delayed 

Due to other priority 
work. 

Implement agreed recommendations arising 
from the external value for money review of the 
RCCNZ 

June 2014 Underway, but 
delayed 

Revised Dec 2014 

Implementation 
delayed due to timing 
of funding approvals.  

Implement contractual arrangements for the 
delivery of Maritime NZ maritime 
communications services in 2014–2025 

June 2014 Completed 

 

Develop and implement a Medium Earth Orbit 
Search and Rescue project plan: 

  

Stage 1 – Contract for service provision in 
place 

June 2014 Slight delay but now 
complete 

Maritime NZ and the 
Australian Maritime 
Safety Authority 
(AMSA) have 
concluded the joint 
tender and contract 
negotiation processes. 
The contract was 
signed on 29 August 
2014 

Stage 2 – Service infrastructure implemented Dec 2015 Underway 

Stage 3 – Service commissioned Jan 2016 Delayed 

Date revised to 
October 2016 to align 
with international 
organisation meeting 
schedules for formal 
commissioning. 

Develop and implement a plan to respond to 
agreed recommendations of the independent 
review of Maritime NZ’s response to the Rena 
incident. 

  

Stage 1 – Complete overall project plan for 
implementation 

Dec 2013 Completed  

Feb 2014 

 

Stage 2 – Implementation of work strands in 
project plan 

Dec 2015 Underway 
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Marine pollution response and 
capability building 

Maritime NZ leads the country’s response to major marine spills and maritime emergencies 
and manages the development of national maritime incident and oil spill response 
capability through its Marine Pollution Response Service (MPRS). MPRS, working closely 
with regional councils, runs training courses, maintains oil spill response equipment and 
resources an expert advisory team.   

New Zealand’s capacity was tested through the Rena grounding. Maritime NZ needs to 
prepare for a broader range of risks arising from increasing offshore oil and gas exploration 
and other commercial activity. 

Independent review of the Rena 
response 

The independent review of Maritime NZ’s operational response was released on 4 December 
2013. The review recognised the unprecedented complexity of the Rena grounding and 
determined that Maritime NZ’s response achieved a high quality, world class clean-up and 
minimised the risks to wildlife. It made 22 recommendations to improve Maritime NZ’s 
ability to respond to large scale, complex maritime incidents, including the need for a 
joined-up approach across Maritime NZ and a broad range of agencies and local and 
regional partners. 

The lessons from the Rena response have also informed the review of the New Zealand 
Marine Oil Spill Response Strategy which has been released for public comment. 

Response capability-building 
programme 

After considering the Rena review report and other recommendations, the Government 
approved a funding programme aimed at increasing the effectiveness and efficiency of New 
Zealand’s maritime emergency response capability. Two capability development outputs 
(non-oil and oil) have been established under a new Output Class 6: Maritime Incident 
Response, providing $2 million over three years for implementation of the recommendations 
of the Rena Review and $1 million over two years for off-shore oil improvements. The Oil 
Pollution Fund has also been enhanced by $400,000 per year for oil spill response 
capability improvements. 

Offshore oil response To support the New Zealand Marine Oil Spill Response Strategy, Maritime NZ has been 
developing compliance and response systems targeting the growing off-shore oil, gas and 
mining exploration sector and working with other government agencies to develop a ‘whole 
of government’ approach.  

In 2014 Maritime NZ led a whole-of-Government exercise to examine NZ’s capability to 
deal with a significant oil spill from an off-shore drilling operation. Maritime NZ’s Oil Spill 
Response Capability Project involves making arrangements for New Zealand-based aerial 
dispersant and building oil spill observation capability. Projects are also underway to 
address off-shore surface vessel dispersant systems and modelling of sub-sea events and 
gas hazards. 

Search and Rescue response and 
capability building 

Maritime NZ provides a national land, sea and air search and rescue coordination service 
and maintains New Zealand’s coastal navigation aids to shipping, the national maritime 
distress and safety radio service, and an emergency distress beacon detection network for 
land, sea and air. 

Distress and safety 
communication 

To meet New Zealand’s national and international obligations to promote safe navigation 
and respond to distress alerts within New Zealand’s area of responsibility, Maritime NZ 
provides a network of aids to navigation, and a national Maritime distress and safety 
communications service. Maritime NZ has an on-going programme to maintain and upgrade 
the system. 

Impacts for intermediate outcome 3 

Impact Impact measure  Progress 

New Zealand’s reputation for 
secure port facilities is 
maintained and enhanced 

US Coast Guard inspection demonstrate 
New Zealand’s compliance with the 
ISPS Code 

The US Coast Guard has noted New Zealand's 
port security compliance as being very good and 
future compliance visits will likely occur every 
two or more years rather than annually. 

Search and rescue 
responses are reliable, 
effective and efficient 

At least 80 percent of 406 MHz distress 
beacon alerts are from registered 
beacons by 2015 

In 2013/14 78 percent of 406 MHz distress 
beacon alerts were from registered beacons 

The marine oil pollution 
response capability meets 
New Zealand’s requirements 

At least 400 appropriately trained and 
regionally based oil spill responders are 
available 

339 regionally-based responders as at 30 June. 
A training programme aimed at increasing 
numbers is planned 

Response Services – year in review 
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Beacon registrations As at 31 August 2014, more than 46,540 emergency distress beacons have been registered 
with the RCCNZ. There have been 7,921 new registrations during the year, representing a 
16 percent increase on the previous year. Registrations of personal locator beacons made 
up 68 percent of the total. 

Maritime NZ continues to promote the use and registration of beacons, which continues to 
pay dividends, with most false or inadvertent activations able to be easily resolved by a 
phone call to the registered contact person listed in the beacon database.  

Beacon alerts There were 547 beacon alerts during the year, a 1.1 percent decrease over last year 
(2012/13: 553). Of these, 157 involved real distress incidents, an increase of 26.6 percent 
(2012/13: 124). This marks the first year that RCCNZ has responded to more real distress 
beacon alerts than false alerts and is testament to the efficiency improvements that come 
from better education for beacon users and an effective registration system. 

Search and Rescue services In 2013/14 the RCCNZ coordinated a total of 825 incidents: 

 749 Category II search and rescue incidents – those associated with emergency 
location transmitters, missing or distressed aircraft or vessels 

 61 Category I searches where RCCNZ provided some support for the New Zealand 
Police 

 15 other (non SAR) incidents, such as medical evacuations. 

This is a slight decrease from the total number of incidents last year, but overall the trend 
has been increasing since 2009/10. 

Independent review into the 
search and rescue operation for 
the yacht Nina 

The yacht Nina, bound from Opua to Newcastle, Australia with seven on board, was 
reported overdue in June 2013. The RCCNZ mounted a large scale search involving the 
Royal New Zealand Air Force and commercial aircraft, covering more than 736,870 square 
nautical miles. RCCNZ also provided extensive support to the subsequent private search – 
unfortunately both searches were unsuccessful.  

An independent reviewer found that RCCNZ went well beyond the requirements of the SAR 
Convention in terms of effort, resource allocation, consultation and duration, demonstrating 
“conviction, compassion and determination to achieve a satisfactory result”. A number of 
recommendations were made regarding RCCNZ’s operating procedures, which have been 
acted upon. 

Increased funding for capability 
building 

RCCNZ has continued to develop and support improvements to the search and rescue 
system within New Zealand and internationally. A value for money review in 2013 found 
that while RCCNZ is delivering value for money there is a need for capability development 
to enhance the effectiveness of search and rescue efforts, particularly through technology. 
The Ministers of Transport and Finance have agreed additional funding of $480,000 per 
annum from 2014/15 for additional staff, beacons-related work, and ‘variable SAR costs. 

Medium Earth Orbiting Search 
and Rescue (MEOSAR) Ground 
Station 

New Zealand is part of the global search and rescue satellite system. Medium-orbit 
satellites will replace the current low-orbit satellites over the next four years. Maritime NZ 
has been working with AMSA to commission a more effective MEOSAR satellite emergency 
locator beacon receiving network, which will greatly improve the way emergency distress 
signals are picked up and passed on to rescue authorities. A new satellite ground station 
will be required in New Zealand to support MEOSAR. Contracts for the building and 
operation of this ground station were signed in August 2014. 

Pacific Shipping Safety Maritime NZ’s Pacific Maritime Safety Adviser has continued to work with the Ministry of 
Foreign Affairs and Trade over the year to implement the Government’s Pacific Maritime 
Safety Programme, active in Kiribati, Tonga and the Cook Islands as well as supporting 
hydrographic survey needs across the region.  

The programme supports South Pacific nations to achieve clean and safe seas through 
marine pollution response and search and rescue workshops, mentoring newly recruited 
marine surveyors, and assisting with maritime sector policy development, and facilities 
development. 
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Organisational Capability 

Progress against organisational capability objectives 

Link to Minister of Transport’s priorities: Sector performance 
Link to Government’s priorities: Better public services 

Strategic objectives  

Objective Action Timeframe Progress 

Organisational capability 
objective 1.1 

Have the right people in the 
right place at the right time 

Provide a Structured and 
Integrated Learning (SAIL) 
initiative focused on supporting 
frontline staff in the effective 
implementation of strategic 
projects: MOSS and SeaCert 

June 2014 Achieved 

Learning and Development was 
highly rated in Maritime NZ 
Workplace Survey undertaken in 
May 2014. 

Develop a people capability 
strategy 

Four areas of organisational focus: 
selection, development, energising 
and valuing staff 

March 2015 Achieved 

 

Organisational capability 
objective 1.2 

Ensure information is used 
effectively to support 
evidence-based, intelligence-
led decision making 

Identify key performance 
indicators, comparisons and 
benchmarks  

June 2014 Partially achieved 

Key performance indicators 
identified 

Development of benchmarks on-
going 

Implement Maritime NZ’s 
Information System Strategy 

Oct 2015 Achieved 

Organisational capability 
objective 1.3 

Continue to identify further 
opportunities for sharing 
services with other 
government agencies 

Identify and implement 
opportunities to embrace 
functional leadership initiatives 
across the government sector 

June 2015 Achieved  

Participation on-going  

Identify and implement 
opportunities for sharing transport 
sector services 

June 2015 Ongoing programme 

Organisational capability 
objective 1.4 

Ensure that Maritime NZ’s 
funding and business 
operating models are 
sustainable and 
appropriately managed 

Develop a medium-term (3-5 year) 
finance strategy 

March 2014 In progress 

Draft strategy developed and will be 
completed following mid-point 
funding review. 

Review maritime funding 
framework 

June 2015 Due to start in 2014/15 

Review Oil Pollution Levy June 2015 Due to start in 2014/15 
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Organisational capability work programme – year in review 
Funding review As a result of the Maritime NZ funding review in 2011/12, new Marine Safety Charge rates, 

revised hourly rates and fixed fee services were introduced in 2013.  

The funding review recommended a six-year path to the establishment of a full cost recovery 
hourly rate which will result in a decrease in Marine Safety Charge rates over the same period. 
The shift over time to greater reliance on fees based revenue may increase uncertainty and 
volatility in Maritime NZ’s funding.  

Maritime NZ will closely monitor revenue during this period to ensure any material variances 
from projections made during the funding review modelling are managed appropriately and 
expenditure reprioritised if required. Pursuing business efficiencies, reviewing organisational 
and financial systems and working with key stakeholders will be continuing areas of focus. 

A review of fees, charges and levies will be undertaken in 2015 before the planned 
adjustments are made at the three-year point on the transition path. 

System Reform strategic project The Maritime NZ System Reform Project is about putting in place a technology solution that 
comprehensively meets the data capture, retention, decision-making support, and reporting 
needs of the new MOSS and SeaCert frameworks. System Reform is a fundamental enabler of 
Maritime NZ’s strategy which focuses on being an intelligence-led, evidence-based regulator. It 
also contributes to the Better Public Services – Key Result Area 10: New Zealanders can 
complete their transactions with government easily in a digital environment. 
Maritime NZ submitted a business case to The Treasury seeking funding to enable delivery of 
the full System Reform solution. The bid was included in the Budget 2015 process and a 
Crown injection was subsequently approved for the full solution development.  This work will 
continue during 2014/15 and implementation of the full solution is expected later in 2015. 

Public Sector collaboration Transport Sector Collaboration and Capability Strategy 

In 2012 the transport sector chief executives established a programme to investigate 
opportunities from collaboration across the business functions of Communications, Human 
Resources, Risk Assurance, and Ministerial Services. As the programme has progressed, 
Information Communication Technology, Information Management, Finance, Procurement and 
Communications have been added. 

Maritime NZ has continued to play a leadership role at the overall programme governance level, 
the Human Resources work streams and has contributed to Risk and Assurance, Ministerial 
Services, Communications, Finance and Information Services/Security work programmes. 

Notable achievements during the year include: 

 Maritime NZ and the Ministry of Transport sharing one payroll resource resulting in cost 
savings for both agencies. 

 Establishing a Risk-Assurance Centre of Excellence at NZ Transport Agency to provide 
services to the transport sector, including Maritime NZ.  

 The NZ Transport Agency implementing and sharing an automated invoice process solution – 
this has enabled Maritime NZ to reallocate resources to deliver more value.  

 All of Government (AoG) collaboration 

Maritime NZ participated in the consultation process regarding extending the Functional 
Leadership mandate for both Property and Procurement to Crown Entities by Ministerial 
direction under the Crown Entities Act (CEA). 

Maritime NZ has continued to engage at an AoG functional leadership level, including with: 

 Ministry of Social Development led Property Management Centre of Expertise, effective 1 
July 2014 

 Ministry of Business Innovation and Employement on Procurement Mandatory Rules, 
effective 1 February 2015.  

 Privacy and security 

Maritime NZ has continued to engage with the Office of the Government Chief Information 
Officer (GCIO) on the ongoing programme to improve information privacy and security systems 
and practices across the public sector. Maritime NZ submitted its latest ‘statement of 
capability’ report on 28 March 2014. 

The report identifies that Maritime NZ is making progress towards developing its maturity and 
capability across the three areas of focus: 

 Ensuring that the right operational security practices are in place 

 Governance and oversight of security and privacy 

 Assurance over information privacy and security. 
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Information management Information Systems Strategic Plan 

Maritime NZ updated its Information Systems Strategic Plan 2013–16 to ensure alignment and 
integration with the Government ICT Strategy and Action Plan to 2017 and strategy and 
planning work being undertaken by the Transport Sector CIO Forum.  

Information Improvement 

Maritime NZ has developed an Information Improvement Strategy focused on developing data 
collection instruments, and on building a shared understanding of what constitutes effective 
information management throughout the organisation.  

A model for information improvement and a vision statement underpin the road map of 
improvement initiatives. Maritime NZ continues to participate in the Transport Sector 
Collaboration and Capability Strategy, which has enabled Maritime NZ to access wider 
information management expertise, potential cost savings and arrangements for sharing 
information management resource within the transport sector. 

Stakeholder engagement Local government relationships 

Maritime NZ has adopted a successful strategy of engaging with local authorities at the chief 
executive level. 

A number of important work streams are underway that require close collaboration with regional 
councils and ports. These include an implementation ‘refresh’ of the New Zealand Port and 
Harbour Marine Safety Code, a review of harbour control functions for large ships and the 
development of the New Zealand Marine Oil Spill Response Strategy 2014. 

Stakeholder engagement strategy 

Maritime NZ developed a Stakeholder Engagement Strategy to promote a ‘One MNZ’ approach 
to ensure that relationships with key stakeholders are managed and to enable stakeholder 
engagement priorities to be set at the appropriate levels. 

Accommodation As a result of staffing requirements to support the delivery of MOSS and SeaCert work was 
undertaken during the year to ensure that Maritime NZ’s regionally-based office 
accommodation was able to meet requirements. This work included the closure of some offices 
and, in some cases, relocations to larger premises. Maritime NZ’s head office in Wellington also 
went through a consolidation exercise to reduce office space from three to two floors. The 
overall fiscal impact of the right-sizing of Maritime NZ’s property portfolio has resulted in lease 
savings of approximately $120k. 
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Capability performance  
Key objective Performance measure  Progress 

Employee engagement 
improves from 2012 baseline 
of 16.5 percent compared to 
the June 2012 state sector 
employee engagement 
benchmark (median) of 21 
percent 

By 2014/15 Maritime NZ employee 
engagement exceeds the June 2015 
median state sector employee 
engagement benchmark 

Maritime NZ employee engagement has increased 
to 33 percent in the 2014 Workplace Survey 
compared with the Public Sector 2013 benchmark 
of 20 percent. 

Maritime NZ has 100 percent 
coverage of the required 
people capability to implement 
all critical elements of MOSS 
and SeaCert by 1 July 2014 

Evaluations of Maritime NZ capability 
indicate 100 percent coverage of the 
skills, knowledge and attitudes 
required to successfully implement all 
critical elements of MOSS and SeaCert 
are in place by 1 July 2014 

Learning and development initiatives have been 
completed and are currently being bedded in. 

Recruitment for the staffing requirements for 
implementing MOSS and SeaCert by 1 July 2014 
has been successfully completed. 

Maintain ACC Workplace 
Safety Management Practices 
(WSMP), secondary 
accreditation 

Secondary accreditation status 
maintained 

Maritime NZ obtained secondary status in May 
2013 and will retain this status until the next 
WSMP audit due in April 2015. 

Organisational health measures 
Performance measure 2011/12 

Actual 

2012/13 

Actual 

2013/14 

Target 

2013/14 

Actual 

Staff turnover 10.5% 7.9% 8–10%  7.1% 

Average sick day absences per employee 6.1 days 6.1 days 6 days 4.0 days 

Number of injuries/accidents per 100 employees per 
annum 

12.3 14.3 <16 10.5 

% of reported near miss incidents to reported accidents 34.5% 58.6% >50% 66.7% 

Maritime NZ’s current health and safety focus is to develop a reporting culture within the organisation by 
increasing awareness of hazards and encouraging reporting of near misses and accidents. This has resulted in an 
overall increase in reporting for both near-miss incidents and accidents. It is expected that incident/accident 
reporting will continue at an increased level due to continued in-house awareness campaigns. However, over time, 
the rate of accidents is expected to decrease as a result of hazards being identified and controlled before accidents 
occur, with the net effect being an overall increase in the safety of the workplace. 
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Recruitment and retention 
There has been a significant focus on, and improvement in recruitment, induction and people development 
activities within Maritime NZ during the year. This has occurred in parallel with providing secondment and 
development opportunities for our staff during a time of change in the way the organisation operates and the 
regulatory systems we are responsible for.   

As at 30 June 2014, Maritime NZ had an establishment of 191.8 full-time equivalent (FTE) staff based in its 
Wellington office and 12 regional offices, RCCNZ in Lower Hutt and Marine Pollution and Response Service in 
Auckland. 

The average age of Maritime NZ staff is 45, which is the same as the public service average age as at June 2012. 

41 percent of Maritime NZ staff are female. While this is lower than the 2012 public service percentage of 59 
percent and the 2012 labour force percentage of 47 percent, it reflects the seafaring qualification requirement for 
a large number of Maritime NZ staff.  These roles are sourced from a predominately male recruitment pool. 

The executive team has 38 percent female membership, which is slightly below the 2012 public service 
percentage of 42 percent and reflects the small size of the executive team.  

Maritime NZ’s candidate recruitment statistics and workforce reflect a wide range of nationalities. 

2014  2013  

Staff numbers 

Establishment FTEs 191.8 159.8 

Vacancies FTEs 3.7 10.7 

Actual FTEs 188.1 149.7 

Gender 

Male 113 95 

Female 77 56 

Age 

Average age of staff 45 45 

Promotions and internal secondments 

Promotion 7% 7% 

Internal secondments 11% 3% 

Ethnic profile* 

New Zealand European 51.6%  

Other European 17.9%  

Maori 3.2%  

Pasifika 1.6%  

Asian 6.8%  

Other ethnicity 2.6%  

Undisclosed 16.3%  

Disability profile* 

Our proportion of employees with a disability is 1.6% 

Staff turnover 

Staff turnover 7.1% 7.9% 

Table 2: Workplace profile of Maritime NZ as at 30 
June 2014 
* This information is voluntarily reported by staff 
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Staff engagement 
Maritime NZ undertook a Workplace Survey in May 2014 with the results reported in June 2014. This provided an 
overall assessment of 'organisational health' as well as a measure of staff engagement. Maritime NZ’s strong focus 
on organisational capability is reflected in the positive results received. The results are shown in Figure 7 below 
(2014 results highlighted). This shows a near 100 percent improvement in engagement since 2012, with a 50 
percent reduction in disengagement.  

The results show that staff at Maritime NZ are passionate about what they do. 95 percent of staff agree that they 
believe in what Maritime NZ is trying to accomplish, and nearly 90% agree that they understand how their role 
contributes to Maritime NZ’s success. 

Maritime NZ continues to work on supporting key drivers of staff engagement within the organisation, which are:  

1. Helping staff feel connected to a successful organisation. 

2. Providing satisfying jobs which make the most of people.  

3. Looking after staff and treating them fairly.  

4. Constantly providing feedback to staff on their performance. 

Figure 7: Summary of Workplace Survey results 
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Learning and development  

Maritime NZ’s approach to learning and development 
Maritime NZ has adopted an MNZ Approach to Learning and Development that provides a platform for the 
development of our Learning and Development (L&D) strategy, policies, procedures, systems and tools.  

It is intended that this L&D approach will result in Maritime NZ’s leaders: 

 recognising that people capability development is essential to the organisation’s success 
 ensuring that our values – integrity, commitment and respect – are reflected in our learning culture 
 being committed to: 

 modelling and growing a learning culture 
 continuous learning 
 identifying and focusing on the competencies that are essential and important to the organisation 
 good-practice people-capability development. 

Structured and Integrated Learning (SAIL)  
Maritime NZ has strengthened its focus on staff development with the introduction of a SAIL programme aimed at 
preparing front-line staff for implementation of the MOSS, SeaCert, Health and Safety in Employment and 
Maritime NZ’s Compliance Operating Model. 

Initiatives that have been delivered under this programme during the year include: the design and delivery of a 
basic investigation skills programme and audit training for Maritime Officers; coaching training and presentation 
technique skills; a SeaCert competency framework for frontline staff completed for current and future state and a 
Maritime NZ personal leadership programme. 

People capability strategy 
Maritime NZ has developed a People Capability Strategy that aligns with and supports the achievement of Maritime 
NZ's Strategic Plan, with the next step being the development of an action plan aligned with strategic goals in 
Maritime NZ’s Statement of Intent. Significant work has been applied in developing a range of qualitative 
indicators to measure Maritime NZ's strategic intention of being: 

"a healthy capable organisation that values and energises its people to deliver high quality regulatory and response 
services" 

Key initiatives undertaken in 2014 include the following: 

Healthy:   Workplace Safety Management Practices (WSMP) accreditation at secondary level maintained. Preparation is 
currently underway for the next WSMP audit in April 2015. 

 Health and safety visibility was enhanced during the year with a focus on reporting (including regular 
reporting to the Authority). 

 Further developments currently being worked on include collaboration with government agencies and 
transport sector workstream. 

Capable:   New initiatives such as “On Arrival” resettlement support and streamlining line manager involvement 
throughout the recruitment process by implementation of “Q-Jumpers” on-line recruitment tool facilitated 
the delivery of a robust recruitment service within Maritime NZ. 

 Significant focus on staff recruitment into difficult-to-fill specialist, technical and maritime roles during the 
year.  

 Induction revised and updated during the year, with a key innovation being active staff involvement in the 
induction process. 

 Focus in 2013 year on providing support for Tier 3 line managers/secondees 

 Development of structured and integrated training to support implementation of MOSS and SeaCert. 

Energised:  Employee engagement 33% compared to State Sector 2013 benchmark of 20% and previous survey result 
of 16.5%. 
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Equal employment opportunity employer  
Maritime NZ promotes equal employment opportunities to ensure that our human resources practices meet ‘good 
employer’ obligations.  

Maritime NZ’s Human Resource business plan and strategy are reviewed annually and actively support and 
encourage staff participation in all equal employment opportunities related matters.  

Activities this year 
Over the past 12 months, Maritime NZ has completed a number of activities, these are summarised in the seven 
key elements of being a ‘good employer’ below. 

Element Our activity this year 

Leadership, 
accountability and 
culture 

 Best Workplaces staff survey conducted in April 2014 results show a significant 
improvement in staff morale across the board 

 Initiatives throughout the year under the “Delivering One MNZ” work programme, 
including a Personal Leadership Initiative and “Dob in a colleague! campaign”  

Recruitment, 
selection and 
induction 

 Regular review and updating of recruitment policies and procedures.  

 Utilisation of a variety of recruitment media, both national and international, to 
attract applicants. 

 Delivery of four comprehensive staff induction processes, covering all key areas of 
Maritime NZ for new staff, during the 2013/14 year. 

Employee 
development, 
promotion and exit 

 Continued focus on staff development and on-going training opportunities for staff. 

 Structured and Integrated Learning (SAIL) programme delivered to meet the 
development needs of frontline staff. 

 Promotion and secondment opportunities provided to staff. Any promotion is based 
on merit. 

Flexibility and work 
design 

 Professional ergonomic workstation assessments are undertaken for all new and 
existing staff, as required, and any recommendations implemented. 

 Flexible work arrangements policy and procedure 

 Flexibility with work locations considered in line with job attributes and employee 
needs 

 Major regional offices linked with video conferencing facilities.  

Remuneration, 
recognition and 
conditions 

 Job evaluations are undertaken by an independent specialist provider for all new and 
amended roles. 

 Specific job sizing seminars are run by the Hay Group for staff as required. 

 Annual external benchmarking of Maritime NZ’s remuneration structure is 
conducted by an independent specialist provider. 

 Five staff were recipients of 2014 Chief Executive Development Award, a 
programme that aims to enhance the capability of Maritime NZ and its people by 
supporting personal development training opportunities that are not part of standard 
professional development opportunities.  

Harassment and 
bullying prevention 

 Robust anti-harassment policy and procedures in place and several trained internal 
anti-harassment support people.  

 Up-to-date and accessible employee code of conduct and behaviour at work policy. 

Safe and healthy 
environment 

 Awarded secondary status under the ACC WSMP scheme. 

 Strengthening reporting culture by increasing awareness of hazards and encouraging 
reporting of near misses and accidents.  

 Proactive Health, Safety and Wellness Committee that includes representation from 
each work group, the union, the executive team and the chief executive. 

 Staff support available through an Employee Assistance Programme. 
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Relationship of intermediate outcomes to outputs 
The table below provides a detailed summary of Maritime NZ’s output classes and associated outputs and their 
relationship to Maritime NZ’s three intermediate outcomes.  

Intermediate outcomes Output classes Outputs 

1. A effective regulatory 
framework for New Zealand’s 
maritime sector 

1. Influencing the policy environment 1.1. Development and provision of 
policy advice 

1.2 Reviews of maritime transport 
system 

1.3 Maritime security and 
intelligence advice 

1.4 Ministerial servicing 

2. Effective and efficient 
regulatory services   

2. Maritime safety and marine 
protection services 

2.1 Information and education 

2.2 Entry controls 

2.3 Monitoring and investigation of 
compliance 

2.4 Enforcement of compliance 

2.5 Distress and safety radio services

2.6 Aids to navigation 

3. Effective and efficient 
maritime safety and 
environmental response services 

3. Marine pollution response service 3.1 Marine pollution response 
capability 

4. Search and rescue coordination 
services 

4.1 Coordination of search and 
rescue operations 

4.2 Management of New Zealand’s 
emergency distress beacon system 

5. Tauranga maritime incident 
response 

5.1 Rena incident response 

6. Maritime incident response 
capability development 

6.1 Maritime incident response 
capability development (non-oil) 

6.2 Off-shore oil spill response 
capability development 
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Statement of service performance 
Maritime NZ’s statement of service performance has been prepared in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting practice. The statement of service performance spans six output classes:  

Output class 1: Influencing the policy environment for the maritime sector 

Output class 2: Maritime safety and marine protection services 

Output class 3: Marine Pollution Response Service 

Output class 4: Search and rescue coordination services 

Output class 5: Tauranga maritime incident response 

Output class 6: Maritime incident response capability development 

These classes highlight the wide range of activities and responsibilities Maritime NZ oversees.  

Output class 1: Influencing the policy environment for the maritime sector 
This output class involves the provision of policy advice (including second opinion advice and contributions to 
advice led by other agencies – particularly the Ministry of Transport) to support decision making by ministers on 
government policy matters relating to maritime safety and security and protection of the marine environment. It 
also covers activities involved in ministerial servicing. 

The output class contains the following sub-outputs: 

1.1: Development and provision of policy advice 

1.2: Reviews of the maritime transport system 

1.3: Maritime security and intelligence advice 

1.4: Ministerial servicing. 

Output 1.1: Development and provision of policy advice  
Development and provision of policy advice including:  

 provision of technical safety advice, directly, and in association with, the Ministry of Transport in relation to 
maritime sector policy and legislation 

 contribution to the negotiation of international agreements, treaties and conventions 
 engagement in relationships with other international maritime administrations 
 contribution to the development of policy advice by departments (other than the Ministry of Transport) and 

local government agencies 
 development of rules and other legislative instruments under the maritime transport acts, as funded by the 

Ministry of Transport 
 advice on Pacific safety initiatives, as funded by Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade.  

Actual  
2012/13 

Performance measure 
Actual 

2013/14 
Target 

2013/14 

100% 
All written policy reports/advice to Minister meet Maritime 
NZ’s quality criteria (content, form, and analysis) 

100% 100% 

100% 
All written policy reports/advice to the Minister is 
completed by due date 100% 100% 

100% 
Rules programme completed in accordance with rules 
programme, subject to variations agreed with Ministry of 
Transport 

88%6 100% 

                                                      

6
  Seven out of eight items on the 2013/14 Rules Programme were delivered on time. The omnibus rule remains outstanding 

due to delays in the review process. 
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Output 1.2: Reviews of the maritime transport system  
Regular reviews of the maritime transport system to promote the improvement and development of its safety and 
security 

Actual  
2012/13 

Performance measure 
Actual 

2013/14 
Target 

2013/14 

New measure Seafarer Certification Framework implemented by January 
2014 Achieved7 Achieved 

New measure Maritime Operator Safety System implemented by July 
2014 

Achieved Achieved 

Output 1.3: Maritime security and intelligence advice 
Key functions:  

 to ensure effective implementation of the International Code for the Security of Ships and of Port Facilities, in 
accordance with the MSA 

 to take such action as may be appropriate in the public interest to enforce the provisions of the MSA and of 
regulations and rules made under this Act, including carrying out inspections and audits 

 to investigate and review maritime security breaches and incidents. 

Actual  
2012/13 

Performance measure 
Actual 
2013/14 

Target 
2013/14 

New measure All ships and ports subject to the Maritime Security Act 
that are not compliant are identified 

100% 100% 

100% 
All potential threats to New Zealand port facilities are 
advised for appropriate action to be taken 100% 100% 

New measure 
All port security breaches are investigated and reviewed 
for corrective action and learnings 

100% 100% 

Output 1.4: Ministerial servicing 
Provision of services to ministers to enable them to discharge their portfolio responsibilities, including drafting 
replies to ministerial correspondence, responding to Official Information Act requests and parliamentary questions, 
and providing support at select committees on non-legislative matters. 

Actual  
2012/13 

Performance measure 
Actual 

2013/14 
Target 

2013/14 

100% 
Replies to ministerial correspondence and parliamentary 
questions meet agreed quality criteria 

100% 95% 

100% 
Ministerial correspondence and parliamentary questions 
provided within agreed timeframes 88%8 100% 

 

  

                                                      

7
  Timeframes for implementation of SeaCert were revised to 1 April 2014 and implementation was achieved by this date. 

8
  15 written Parliamentary Questions were due on 27 June 2014. A sustained IT outage resulted in relevant data being 

unavailable to fully answer these questions by the due date. The Ministry of Transport was advised of this fact and a revised 
delivery date of 30 June 2014 was agreed and subsequently met. 
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Output Class 1: Total revenue and expenses 

Actual  
2012/13 

Performance measure 
Actual 

2013/14 
Budget 

2013/14 

5,129 Revenue ($000) 7,875 7,531 

7,908 Expenditure ($000) 11,083 7,454 

(2,779) Surplus/(deficit) ($000) (3,208) 77 

Refer to Note 29 of Maritime NZ’s Financial Statements for explanations of significant variances against budget. 

Output Class 1: Performance summary 
Most performance targets were met with the exception of output 1.1 (rules programme) and output 1.4 (Ministerial 
servicing). In both cases revised, timeframes were negotiated. 

Output class 2: Maritime safety and marine protection services 
This output class involves the development and delivery of regulatory services that are legislatively established as 
the responsibility of Maritime NZ; including by the MTA, Ship Registration Act, MSA, HSE Act, and the Hazardous 
Substances and New Organisms Act. 

This output class contains the following related outputs: 

2.1: Information and education 

2.2: Entry controls 

2.3: Monitoring and investigation of compliance 

2.4: Enforcement of compliance 

2.5: Distress and safety communication services  

2.6: Aids to navigation.  

In combination, these related outputs provide an integrated approach to achieving compliance with safety, security 
and marine protection requirements. Modern regulatory theory and practice reflects an understanding that the 
majority of participants in a regulated sector will do the right thing if they are well informed about and supported to 
meet their obligations; entry controls ensure that participants meet appropriate standards and have relevant 
knowledge and experience; monitoring, investigation and enforcement activities ensure that participants who are 
not inclined to meet their obligations will do so, and holds them to account, where necessary, if they do not. These 
activities also provide information that can be used to inform the on-going development of the regulatory system. 
Aids to navigation support safety outcomes by signalling hazards, and distress and safety communication services 
provide a safety net for those who get into difficulty. 

Output 2.1: Information and education 
This output involves the provision of information and education services to, and liaison with, the maritime 
community, to promote maritime safety and security, and protection of the marine environment. Key functions 
include: 

 provision of recreational boating safety and awareness services 
 information/education to domestic commercial sectors of the maritime community. 

Actual  
2012/13 

Performance measure Actual 
2013/14 

Target 
2013/14 

93% Survey respondents who find the key publications 
Lookout! and Safe Seas Clean Seas useful 

93% 85% 
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Actual  
2012/13 

Performance measure Actual 
2013/14 

Target 
2013/14 

92% People who recall boating safety television advertising 
(as gauged by survey) 73%9 75% 

Output 2.2: Entry controls 
Exercise of entry controls (including continued eligibility) of operators, vessels, seafarers, products, services, ports, 
installations and facilities into the maritime transport system and/or the marine environment, under maritime and 
related legislation. Key functions include: 

 registration of New Zealand-owned ships 
 issuing maritime documents and certificates to New Zealand owners, operators and vessels 
 vessel security assessments 
 certification of seafarers and training providers 
 issuing marine protection documents  
 issuing maritime documents to providers of products, services, facilities and equipment used in the maritime 

system 
 port security assessments 
 issuing exemptions from the need to comply with maritime legislation, including rules. 

Actual  
2012/13 

Performance measure Actual 
2013/14 

Target 
2013/14 

New measure 

All applications for the issue of a maritime or marine 
protection document, or other statutory 
certificate/permit, are processed in accordance with 
published service standards. 

74%10 100% 

Output 2.3: Monitoring and investigation of compliance 
Monitoring and investigation of compliance with maritime legislation and other related legislation. Key functions 
include:  

 first inspections of ships registered in other countries when they arrive in New Zealand for compliance with 
IMO requirements (port state control inspections) 

 annual inspection of New Zealand-registered ships that comply with the Convention for Safety of Life at Sea 
(flag state control inspections) 

 inspection and oversight of domestic commercial vessels and their documents, to ensure compliance with 
legislation, and survey vessel standards 

 audit of New Zealand operators, vessels, facilities, products, services, documents and delegations, and 
requiring compliance with the documents and delegations 

 investigations and responses to accidents and incidents, regulatory non-compliance, breaches of maritime 
security requirements, and complaints. 

Actual  
2012/13 

Performance measure 
Actual 
2013/14 

Target 
2013/14 

 International vessels   

86% 
High- to very high-risk port state vessel inspections 
completed, based on Tokyo MOU targeting factor 49%11 90% 

                                                      

9
  The research is based on a survey sample, of which 73 percent recalled seeing Maritime NZ’s boating safety advertising. The 

research findings are consistent with the findings of the 2013 research results, showing an increased number of people 
agreeing with the relevance of the messages to them (64 percent) and an increased likelihood of wearing a lifejacket (51 
percent). Maritime NZ is pleased to see that the campaign is having a positive impact on behavior.   

10
  The measure only included the processing times for SSM certificates and Safe Operational Plans. The result was calculated 

based on the proportion issued within 20 working days (in accordance with Maritime NZ’s service charter). 1,249 
certificates/documents were issued during this reporting period.    

11
  This measure was only valid until 31 December 2013 due to a New Inspection Regime (NIR) set by Tokyo MOU that was 

effective from 1 January 2014 (see below). The actual result is presented as at 31 December 2013. During this reporting 
period MOSS was being developed, which necessitated additional resource to meet the 1 July 2014 date.  
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Actual  
2012/13 

Performance measure 
Actual 
2013/14 

Target 
2013/14 

New measure 
Proportion of Priority 1 vessels coming in to New Zealand 
that have been inspected by Maritime NZ12 

82% 70% 

New measure 
Undertake focused inspection campaigns targeting areas of 
high risk 4 4 

 Domestic vessels   

New measure Undertake intelligence-led operations targeting illegal 
operations  

6 6 

New measure Conduct education programmes 4 4 

New measure 
Identify and target the top 10 active and deliberate non-
compliant operators Achieved13 Achieved 

 Recreational boating   

New measure Undertake targeted safety campaigns 3 2 

Output 2.4: Enforcement of compliance 
Enforcement of compliance with, and the exercise of exit controls under, maritime and related legislation. Key 
functions include: 

 suspension of, or imposition of conditions on, maritime documents or marine protection documents 
 detention of ships and seizure of products under the MTA 
 follow-up, second and subsequent inspections to review non-conformity and corrective action notices, 

suspensions, conditions and detentions 
 issuing infringement notices under the MTA 
 issuing improvement notices and prohibition notices under the HSE Act 
 prosecution of offences under the MTA 
 exit controls – removal of ships from the register, and revocation of maritime and marine protection 

documents. 

Actual  
2012/13 

Performance measure Actual 
2013/14 

Target 
2013/14 

New measure Prosecutions brought under the MTA that are successful 100% 75% 

New measure Prosecutions brought under the HSE Act that are successful 100% 75% 

 

  

                                                      

12
  This measure was developed to replace the measure above in response to the NIR set by the Tokyo MOU that New Zealand 

began implementing from 1 January 2014. Under the NIR, there will be an increase in the number of high risk ships 
inspected. Vessels to be inspected are now prioritised as Priority 1, 2 and 3. During the third and fourth quarter of the 
financial year, Maritime NZ focused on Priority 1 vessels, and achieved an inspection rate of 82 percent, a marked 
improvement from the half-year result. 

13
  Rather than identifying the top 10 illegal operators, around 140 operators were identified who were operating outside of the 

rules. Compliance action was then undertaken, ranging from education to prosecution. As a result, all operators are either 
now compliant, or have ceased operations. 
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Output 2.5: Distress and safety communication services 
Provision of distress and safety radio services to the maritime community. 

Actual  
2012/13 

Performance measure Actual 
2013/14 

Target 
2013/14 

99.96% Radio stations availability 99.8% 99.8% 

100% 24-hour distress/safety radio service provided 100% 100% 

Output 2.6: Aids to navigation 
Provision of aids to navigation. Key functions include: 

 provision of navigational aids for shipping on New Zealand’s coast and adjacent islands 
 oversight of navigational aids owned by ports and other organisations. 

Actual  
2012/13 Performance measure 

Actual 
2013/14 

Target 
2013/14 

99.99% Lighthouse availability 100% 99.8% 

100% Day-beacons/buoys availability 99.8% 97% 

Output class 2: Total revenue and expenses 

Actual  
2012/13 Performance measure 

Actual 
2013/14 

Budget 
2013/14 

23,410 Revenue ($000) 22,746 22,112 

22,816 Expenditure ($000) 19,708 22,184 

594 Surplus/(deficit) ($000) 3,038 (72) 

Refer to Note 29 of Maritime NZ’s Financial Statements for explanations of significant variances against budget. 

Output Class 2: Performance summary 
Variance explanations are provided in the table footnotes. Some compliance targets were not met due to activity 
and resources diverted to MOSS activity. 

 

  



Maritime New Zealand Annual Report 2013/14 

44 

 

Output class 3: Marine Pollution Response Service 
Through this output class, Maritime NZ will deliver marine environment protection services that contribute directly 
to the Authority’s vision of safe, secure and clean seas.  

This output class contains the following sub-outputs: 

3.1: Marine pollution response capability 

Output 3.1: Marine pollution response capability 
Ensuring New Zealand’s preparedness for, and ability to respond to, marine oil spills. 

Actual  
2012/13 

Performance measure Actual 
2013/14 

Target 
2013/14 

108 Number of reported oil spills 124 <110 

87.5% Percentage of regional councils who have trained responders 
at or above 80% of recommended number  

75% >75% 

100% Percentage of regional (19) and national (1) stockpiles 
maintained and inspected in previous 12 months 

100% 100% 

Green Status of the Oil Spill Preparedness Index14 Green Green 

75% Percentage of urgent spills notified immediately 100% 100% 

75% Percentage of regional council plans that are current 87.5% 85% 

Output Class 3: Total Revenue and Expenses 

Actual  
2012/13 

Performance measure Actual 
2013/14 

Budget 
2013/14 

3,555 Revenue ($000) 6,354 5,664 

4,046 Expenditure ($000) 4,571 4,996 

(491) Surplus/(deficit) ($000) 1,783 668 

 

Refer to note 25 of the Oil Pollution Fund’s financial statements for explanations of significant variances against 
budget. 

Output Class 3: Performance summary 
Most performance indicators were met. The number of oil spills did not meet the 2013/14 target; this is beyond 
Maritime NZ’s direct control. 

 

  

                                                      

14
  This index measures the degree to which current arrangements for responding to Tier 2 and Tier 3 marine oil spills are at the 

optimum level specified in the national strategy. This indicator will continue to be reported against as a system performance 
indicator. See page 19 for further information about this indicator. 
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Output class 4: Search and rescue coordination services  
Maintenance and operation of a search and rescue coordination centre to coordinate and conduct search and 
rescue operations in the sea, air and land environments within the internationally mandated New Zealand search 
and rescue region.

15 
 

This output class contains the following sub-outputs: 

4.1: Coordination of search and rescue operations 

4.2: Management of New Zealand’s emergency distress beacon response. 

Output 4.1: Coordination of search and rescue operations  
Coordinate and conduct sea, air and land search and rescue operations through a 24/7 search and RCCNZ, 
including management of the emergency distress beacon system for New Zealand. 

Actual  
2012/13 

Performance measure Actual 
2013/14 

Target 
2013/14 

100% A minimum of two fully trained search and rescue officers on 
duty at all times 

100% 100% 

77.2% Logged incidents resolved by communications action only 68%16 75% 

100% A 24-hour uninterrupted coordination service is provided 100% 100% 

Output 4.2: Management of New Zealand’s emergency distress beacon system 
Operation and maintenance of the ground-based equipment that forms part of the international satellite system 
that detects, locates and alerts search and rescue authorities about emergency distress beacons, and the operation 
and maintenance of the emergency distress beacons database. Modern distress beacons (operating on the 406MHz 
frequency) contain unique identification codes that allow users to register information against the beacon, such as 
names and contact details of the user, user activity, user vessel or vehicle details, emergency contacts and next of 
kin. For New Zealand-registered beacons, this information is maintained in a database operated and managed by 
RCCNZ. 

Actual  
2012/13 

Performance measure Actual 
2013/14 

Target 
2013/14 

97.4% Availability of ground-based satellite equipment  99% 98% 

22.5% Beacons’ data verified every two years (at 30 June)  34%17 65% 

95.4% 
Beacon registrations received at the Rescue Coordination 
Centre NZ and processed into the database by the next working 
day 

90%18 98% 

                                                      

15
  As delegated by the Minister of Transport under section 431 (3) of the Maritime Transport Act 1994 in relation to section 

14B (1) (a) of the Civil Aviation Act 1990. 
16

  There has been an increase in the number of incidents involving the tasking of aircraft, ships, Coastguard or other groups 
and agencies to carry out the response, from 172 in the previous year to 199 this year. This explains the reduction in the 
number of incidents resolved by communication only. Most of the increased incidents involving tasking are land-based where 
the majority of incidents are real distress, as opposed to air or marine ones that typically are the result of accidental 
activation of the beacon. 

17
  A review of the beacon audit programme was completed in the third quarter of the reporting period. The review found that 

there were over 3,700 beacons where the audit process had commenced but had not been completed, despite numerous 
attempts to contact the beacon owners to request they update their details. These audits have now been identified as 
complete in the beacons database, with the beacon file annotated with “details may not be current”. This has improved the 
annual result compared with the previous year, but still short of the annual target set. New capability funding for the RCCNZ 
will enable additional resourcing to meet this target. 

18
  Improvements in the database entry process has reduced the time of data entry significantly, Maritime NZ has undertaken 

work with beacon wholesalers and anticipates an increased online use of the beacon registrations website may lead to in an 
improvement in this result. 
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Output Class 4: Total revenue and expenses 

Actual  
2012/13 

Performance measure 
Actual 

2013/14 
Budget 

2013/14 

4,239 Revenue ($000) 4,127 4,620 

4,846 Expenditure ($000) 4,726 4,739 

(607) Surplus/(deficit) ($000) (599) (119) 

Refer to note 29 of Maritime NZ’s financial statements for explanations of significant variances against budget. 

Output Class 4: Performance summary 
Variance explanations are provided in the table footnotes. Performance of the beacon registration process is 
expected to improve as a result of new capability funding for RCCNZ. 

Output class 5: Tauranga maritime incident response 
To provide direction and oversight for all Maritime NZ operations in Tauranga following the grounding of the 
container vessel Rena, including oil spill response, salvage and clean-up operations, management of 
communications with local and national stakeholders, investigations into why and how the grounding occurred, 
negotiations in relation to claims for compensation, and participation into any external inquiry into the Rena 
grounding. 

Output 5.1: Rena non-oil incident response 
To provide oversight and support for the Tauranga oil spill response, salvage and environmental recovery activity, 
following the grounding of Rena. 

Actual  
2012/13 

Performance measure Actual 
2013/14 

Target 
2013/14 

New measure 

Maritime NZ provides effective oversight of ongoing Rena 
response activities by third party operators covering: wreck 
reduction and debris removal; container recovery; shoreline 
clean-up including any residual oil; ongoing claim 
reconciliation; and technical advice and support to the Bay 
of Plenty Regional Council regarding application of the 
Resource Management Act 

Achieved Achieved 

Output Class 5: Total Revenue and Expenses 

Actual  
2012/13 

Performance measure Actual 
2013/14 

Budget 
2013/14 

2,446 Revenue ($000) 540 1,717 

2,370 Expenditure ($000) 540 1,717 

76 Surplus/(deficit) ($000) 0 0 

Refer to note 29 of Maritime NZ’s financial statements for explanations of significant variances against budget. 

Output Class 5: Performance summary 
Maritime NZ has continued to provide effective oversight during the reporting period. This has mostly been through 
regular meetings and discussions with salvors and key stakeholders. Maritime NZ also provided guidance and 
support to the Bay of Plenty Regional Council, while the owners of the vessel Rena have sought to obtain resource 
consent to leave parts of the wreck on Astrolabe Reef. Statutory notices have remained in place and therefore 
Maritime NZ has maintained a residual oversight role and will need to devote resources to Rena-related matters for 
at least the remainder of 2014.  
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Output class 6: Maritime incident response capability development19 

Output 6.1: Maritime incident response capability development (non-oil) 

Actual  
2012/13 

Performance measure 
Actual 
2013/14 

Target 
2013/14 

New measure 

Development of a national maritime incident strategy that 
includes salvage, non-oil pollution, volunteer 
communication and community engagement elements and 
a high level plan by 30 June 2014 

Partially 
completed20 

Completed 

Output 6.2: Off-shore oil spill response capability development 

Actual  
2012/13 

Performance measure 
Actual 
2013/14 

Target 
2013/14 

New measure 
Off-shore oil spill response scenario exercise completed by 
31 May 2014 Completed21 Completed 

Output Class 6: Total Revenue and Expenses 
Actual  
2012/13 

Performance measure Actual 
2013/14 

Budget 
2013/14 

N/A Revenue ($000) 773 - 

N/A Expenditure ($000) 781 - 

N/A Surplus/(deficit) ($000) (8) - 

Output Class 6: Performance summary 
This output class is intended to achieve the implementation of recommendations from the Murdoch review of Maritime 
NZ’s response to the Rena grounding to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of New Zealand’s response to complex 
maritime incidents, in particular to address systemic weaknesses in high-level coordination across government agencies. 
Overall the programme is on track, and making good progress as a result of work undertaken by both project streams 
during the period 1 December 2013 – 30 June 2014.  
 
Rena Review Implementation (RRI) Project – sound progress had been achieved in all RRI project work-streams with good 
attendance and participation in training by Maritime NZ staff; the successful completion of an open tender process for 
environmental activity; drafts being received for Maritime NZ’s non-oil strategy and plans.   
 
Off-shore Incident Response Capability (OIRC) – the project is structured into four capability areas. During the reporting 
period, work was initiated in all four areas and has progressed well. The project is on track to complete activity by the end 
of 30 June 2015. OIRC operations included the purchase of off-shore aerial dispersant equipment and improved 
modelling of sub-sea oil plume and gas hazard software capabilities were completed.  In addition, the Marine Pollution 
Response Service has explored options for aerial dispersant and undertaken observation trials of fixed wing aircraft aimed 
at assessing capability and securing supplier contracts for this capability.  Exercise Whakautu, a major cross-government 
exercise which formed part of the Department of Prime Minister and Cabinet’s national exercise programme, was 
successfully completed in three stages over the May/June period.  

                                                      

19
  After considering the independent review of Maritime NZ’s response to the grounding of the Rena (the ‘Murdoch’ report) and 

other recommendations, the Government provided funding to Maritime NZ for a programme from 1 January 2014 through to 
the end of the 2015/16 financial year aimed at increasing the effectiveness and efficiency of New Zealand’s maritime 
emergency response capability. Under a new “Output Class 6: Maritime incident response capability development”, two sub-
outputs were established for two capability development outputs (non-oil and oil).  

20
  A draft strategy has been completed. The strategy will be finalised following completion of the public consultation on and 

completion of the NZ Oil Spill Response Strategy. This delay is to ensure that the two strategies align. This is expected to be 
completed in the second quarter of 2014/15  

21
  Exercise Whakautu 2014 was completed on 28 May 2014. 
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Statement of responsibility for Maritime New Zealand 
The financial statements and statement of service performance of Maritime NZ and the judgements used are the 
responsibility of the Authority members and Maritime NZ management, and have been prepared in accordance with 
the Crown Entities Act 2004. 

The establishment and maintenance of an internal control system designed to provide reasonable assurance as to 
the integrity and reliability of the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2014 is the responsibility of the 
Authority members and Maritime NZ management. 

In the opinion of the Authority members and Maritime NZ management, the financial statements for the year 
ended 30 June 2014 fairly reflect the financial position and operations of Maritime NZ. 

 

  

David Ledson 
Chairman, Maritime NZ 
Dated: 31 October 2014 

Belinda Vernon
Authority member, Maritime NZ 
Dated: 31 October 2014
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

To the readers of 
Maritime New Zealand’s 

financial statements and non-financial performance information 
for the year ended 30 June 2014 

 

The Auditor-General is the auditor of Maritime New Zealand (Maritime NZ). The 
Auditor-General has appointed me, Kelly Rushton, using the staff and resources of Audit 
New Zealand, to carry out the audit of the financial statements and non-financial performance 
information of Maritime NZ on her behalf.  

We have audited: 

 the financial statements of Maritime NZ on pages 54 to 81, that comprise the statement 
of financial position as at 30 June 2014, the statement of comprehensive income, 
statement of movements in equity and statement of cash flows for the year ended on that 
date and notes to the financial statements that include accounting policies and other 
explanatory information; and 

 the non-financial performance information of Maritime NZ that comprises the statement 
of service performance on pages 38 to 47 and the report about outcomes on pages 12 
to 28. 

Opinion 

In our opinion: 

 the financial statements of Maritime NZ on pages 54 to 81: 

 comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and 

 fairly reflect Maritime NZ’s: 

 financial position as at 30 June 2014; and 

 financial performance and cash flows for the year ended on that date. 

 the non-financial performance information of Maritime NZ on pages 12 to 28 and 38 to 
47: 

 complies with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and 

 fairly reflects Maritime NZ’s service performance and outcomes for the year 
ended 30 June 2014, including for each class of outputs: 
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 its service performance compared with forecasts in the statement of 
forecast service performance at the start of the financial year; and 

 its actual revenue and output expenses compared with the forecasts in 
the statement of forecast service performance at the start of the 
financial year. 

Our audit was completed on 31 October 2014. This is the date at which our opinion is expressed. 

The basis of our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the 
Authority and our responsibilities, and we explain our independence. 

Basis of opinion 

We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which 
incorporate the International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand). Those standards require 
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and carry out our audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements and non-financial performance 
information are free from material misstatement.  

Material misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts and disclosures that, in our 
judgement, are likely to influence readers’ overall understanding of the financial statements 
and non-financial performance information. If we had found material misstatements that were 
not corrected, we would have referred to them in our opinion. 

An audit involves carrying out procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements and non-financial performance information. The 
procedures selected depend on our judgement, including our assessment of risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements and non-financial performance information, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to 
the preparation of Maritime NZ’s financial statements and non-financial performance 
information that fairly reflect the matters to which they relate. We consider internal control in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Maritime NZ’s internal control. 

An audit also involves evaluating: 

 the appropriateness of accounting policies used and whether they have been consistently 
applied; 

 the reasonableness of the significant accounting estimates and judgements made by the 
Authority; 

 the appropriateness of the reported non-financial performance information within 
Maritime NZ’s framework for reporting performance; 

 the adequacy of all disclosures in the financial statements and non-financial performance 
information; and 

 the overall presentation of the financial statements and non-financial performance 
information. 
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We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee complete accuracy of the 
financial statements and non-financial performance information. Also we did not evaluate the 
security and controls over the electronic publication of the financial statements and 
non-financial performance information. 

We have obtained all the information and explanations we have required and we believe we 
have obtained sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 

Responsibilities of the Authority 

The Authority is responsible for preparing financial statements and non-financial performance 
information that: 

 comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand;  

 fairly reflect Maritime NZ’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows; and 

 fairly reflect its service performance and outcomes. 

The Authority is also responsible for such internal control as is determined necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements and non-financial performance information that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Authority is also 
responsible for the publication of the financial statements and non-financial performance 
information, whether in printed or electronic form. 

The Authority’s responsibilities arise from the Crown Entities Act 2004. 

Responsibilities of the Auditor 

We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the financial statements and 
non-financial performance information and reporting that opinion to you based on our audit. 
Our responsibility arises from section 15 of the Public Audit Act 2001 and the Crown Entities 
Act 2004. 

Independence 

When carrying out the audit, we followed the independence requirements of the 
Auditor-General, which incorporate the independence requirements of the External Reporting 
Board. 

In addition to the audit we have carried out an assignment in the area of probity assurance, 
which is compatible with those independence requirements. Other than the audit and this 
assignment we have no relationship with or interests in Maritime NZ. 

 
K M Rushton 
Audit New Zealand 
On behalf of the Auditor-General 
Wellington, New Zealand
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Statement of comprehensive income for Maritime New Zealand  
Year ended 30 June 2014 

 Notes
  

Actual
2013/14 

$000 

Budget 
2013/14 

$000 

Actual
2012/13 

$000 

Income         

Crown 2 14,223 14,993 13,956 

Marine safety charge  17,656 15,633 17,806 

Other revenue 3 3,871 5,153 3,214 

Interest revenue  181 202 238 

Gains 4 - - 10 

Total revenue  35,931 35,981 35,224 

Expenditure    

Personnel costs 5 20,270 18,487 20,326 

Depreciation & amortisation costs 13,14 1,491 1,694 1,674 

Property, plant & equipment write-off & impairment 
provision 

 - - 431 

Capital charge 6 988 1,293 1,072 

Finance costs 7 13 - 11 

Other expenses 8 13,946 14,621 14,426 

Total expenditure   36,708 36,095 37,940 

Net (deficit)   (777) (114) (2,716)

Other comprehensive income   - - - 

Total other comprehensive income   - - -

Total comprehensive income   (777) (114) (2,716)

 
Explanations for significant variances against budget are detailed in note 29. 
The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.  
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Statement of movements in equity for Maritime New Zealand  
Year ended 30 June 2014 

  Notes
 

Actual
2013/14 

$000 

Budget 
2013/14 

$000 

Actual
2012/13 

$000 

Balance at 1 July  12,243 11,700 14,105 

Property, plant & equipment revaluation gains taken to 
equity 

18 - - 109 

Total comprehensive income  (777) (114)  (2,716)

Capital contribution 18 601 1,100 745 

Balance at 30 June   12,067 12,686 12,243 

 

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.  
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Statement of financial position for Maritime New Zealand 
As at 30 June 2014 

   Notes Actual 2013/14
$000 

Budget 2013/14 
$000 

Actual 2012/13
$000 

Assets      

Current assets      

Cash & cash equivalents 9 6,329 6,516 4,719 

Debtors & other receivables 10 3,527 2,988 2,978 

Prepayments  622 397 312 

Inventory 11 200 250 161 

Investments 12 - - 1,980 

Total current assets  10,678 10,151 10,150 

Non-current assets    

Property, plant & equipment 13 4,601 5,823 4,006 

Intangible assets  14 3,353 5,211 2,814 

Total non-current assets  7,954 11,034 6,820 

Total assets  18,632 21,185 16,970 

Liabilities    

Current liabilities    

Creditors and other payables 15 4,347 4,307 2,836

Provision for employee entitlements 16 2,048 859 1,734

Provisions 17 99 - 61 

Total current liabilities  6,494 5,166 4,631 

Non-current liabilities    

Provisions 17 71 3,333 96 

Total non-current liabilities  71 3,333 96 

Total liabilities  6,565 8,499 4,727 

Equity     

Crown contribution 18 14,868 12,686 14,267 

Retained earnings 18 (3,475) -  (2,698)

Revaluation reserve 18 674 - 674 

Total equity  12,067 12,686 12,243 

Total equity & liabilities 18,632 21,185 16,970 

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of cash flows for Maritime New Zealand 
Year ended 30 June 2014 

  
  

Notes
  

Actual
2013/14 

$000 

Budget 
2013/14 

$000 

Actual
2012/13 

$000 

Cash flows from operating activities      

Crown 14,223 10,589 13,956 

Marine safety charge 17,002 15,633 17,606 

Other third party 4,021 9,557 3,408 

Interest revenue 181 202 238 

Payments to employees (20,090) (18,487) (20,244)

Payments to suppliers (12,669) (14,621) (15,343)

Capital charge (988) (1,293) (1,072)

Goods & services tax (net) (20) - (349)

Net cash flows from operating activities 19 1,660 1,580 (1,800)

Cash flows from investing activities   

Receipts from sale of property, plant & equipment - - 10 

Receipts from maturity of investments 1,980 - 2,876 

Purchase of property, plant & equipment (1,321) (2,437) (775)

Purchase of intangible assets (1,310) (552) (566)

Net cash flows from investing activities (651) (2,989) 1,545 

Cash flows from financing activities   

Capital contribution 18 601 1,100 745 

Net cash flows from financing activities  601 1,100 745 

Net increase / (decrease) in cash & cash equivalents  1,610 (309) 490 

Opening cash balance at 1 July  4,719 6,825 4,229 

Closing cash balance at 30 June  6,329 6,516 4,719 

The Goods and Services Tax (net) component of operating activities reflects the net Goods and Services Tax paid 
and received with Inland Revenue. The Goods and Services Tax (net) component has been presented on a net 
basis, as the gross amounts do not provide meaningful information for financial statement purposes.  

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Notes to the financial 
statements for Maritime 
New Zealand 
Note 1: Statement of accounting 
policies for the year ended 30 June 
2014 

Reporting entity 
Maritime NZ is a Crown entity as defined by the 
Crown Entities Act 2004 and is domiciled in New 
Zealand. As such, Maritime NZ’s ultimate parent is 
the New Zealand Crown. 

Maritime NZ’s primary objective is to provide 
services to the New Zealand public as opposed to 
that of making a financial return. Accordingly, 
Maritime NZ has designated itself as a public 
benefit entity for the purposes of New Zealand 
equivalents to International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). 

These financial statements for Maritime NZ are for 
the year ended 30 June 2014 and were approved by 
the Authority on 31 October 2014.  

Basis of preparation 

Statement of compliance 

The financial statements of Maritime NZ have been 
prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Crown Entities Act 2004, which includes the 
requirement to comply with New Zealand’s generally 
accepted accounting practice (GAAP). 

These financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with NZ GAAP as appropriate for public 
benefit entities and they comply with NZ IFRS. 

Measurement base 

The financial statements have been prepared on an 
historical cost basis, except where modified by the 
revaluation of certain items of property, plant and 
equipment.  

The accounting policies set out below have been 
applied consistently to all periods presented in these 
financial statements. 

Functional and presentation currency 

These financial statements are presented in New 
Zealand dollars and all values are rounded to the 
nearest thousand dollars ($000). The functional 
currency of Maritime NZ is New Zealand dollars. 

Changes in accounting policies  

There have been no changes in accounting policies 
during the financial year. 

There have been no new or revised accounting 
standards during the financial year. 

Standards, amendments and interpretations 
issued that are not yet effective and have not 
been early adopted 

The Minister of Commerce has approved a new 
Accounting Standards Framework (incorporating a 
Tier Strategy) developed by the External Reporting 
Board (XRB). Under this Framework, Maritime NZ is 
classified as a Tier 1 reporting entity and it will be 
required to apply full Public Benefit Entity 
Accounting Standards. These standards are being 
developed by the XRB based on current International 
Public Sector Accounting Standards. The effective 
date for the new standards for public sector entities 
is for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 
2014. Therefore, Maritime NZ will transition to the 
new standards in preparing its 30 June 2015 
financial statements. Maritime NZ has not assessed 
the implications of the new Framework at this time. 

Due to the change in the Accounting Standards 
Framework for public benefit entities, it is expected 
that all new NZ IFRS and amendments to existing 
NZ IFRS will not be applicable to public benefit 
entities. Therefore, the XRB has effectively frozen 
the financial reporting requirements for public 
benefit entities up until the new Framework is 
effective. Accordingly, no disclosure has been made 
about new or amended NZ IFRS that exclude public 
benefit entities from their scope. 

There are no new relevant standards and 
interpretations issued this year and Maritime NZ has 
not early adopted any new standards and 
interpretations. 

Significant accounting policies 
The principal accounting policies applied in the 
preparation of these financial statements are set out 
below. These policies have been applied consistently 
to all periods presented in these financial 
statements. 

Revenue recognition 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable. 

Maritime NZ receives funding from the Crown, and is 
restricted in its use for the purpose of Maritime NZ 
meeting its objectives, as specified in the statement 
of intent. Revenue from the Crown is recognised as 
revenue when earned and is reported in the financial 
period to which it relates. 
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Revenue derived from the provision of services to 
third parties is recognised in proportion to the stage 
of completion at balance date. The stage of 
completion is assessed by reference to surveys of 
work performed or for marine safety charges based 
on information from New Zealand Customs regarding 
port visits. 

Interest income is recognised using the effective 
interest method. Interest income on an impaired 
financial asset is recognised using the original 
effective interest rate. 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when 
Maritime NZ has transferred to the buyer the 
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the 
goods. 

Capital charge 

The capital charge is recognised as an expense in 
the period to which the charge relates. 

Leases 

Finance leases 
Leases that transfer to Maritime NZ substantially all 
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an 
asset, whether or not title is eventually transferred, 
are classified as finance leases. At the 
commencement of the lease term, Maritime NZ 
recognises finance leases as assets and liabilities in 
the statement of financial position at the lower of 
the fair value of the leased item or the present value 
of the minimum lease payment. The finance charge 
is charged to the statement of comprehensive 
income over the lease period so as to produce a 
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability. 

The amount recognised as an asset is depreciated 
over its useful life. If there is no certainty as to 
whether Maritime NZ will obtain ownership at the 
end of the lease term, the asset is fully depreciated 
over the shorter of the lease term and its useful life. 

Operating leases 
Leases that do not transfer substantially all the risks 
and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset to 
Maritime NZ are classified as operating leases. 
Lease payments under an operating lease are 
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the lease in the statement of 
comprehensive income.  

Lease incentives received are recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income over the lease 
term as an integral part of the total lease expense.  

Taxation 

Maritime NZ is a public authority and consequently 
is exempt from the payment of income tax. 
Accordingly no charge for income tax has been 

provided for. Maritime NZ is not exempt from 
indirect tax legislation such as that relating to Goods 
and Services Tax, Pay As You Earn or Accident 
Compensation Corporation levies, and therefore is 
required to comply with these regulations. 

Goods and Services Tax  

All items in the financial statements are presented 
on a Goods and Services Tax-exclusive basis, with 
the exception of accounts receivable and accounts 
payable, which are stated as Goods and Services Tax 
inclusive. Where Goods and Services Tax is not 
recoverable as an input tax, it is recognised as part 
of the related asset or expense. 

The net amount of Goods and Services Tax 
recoverable from, or payable to, Inland Revenue is 
included as part of debtors and other receivables or 
creditors and other payables in the statement of 
financial position. The net Goods and Services Tax 
paid to, or received from, the Inland Revenue, 
including the Goods and Services Tax relating to 
investing and financing activities, is classified as an 
operating cash flow in the statement of cash flows. 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed 
exclusive of Goods and Services Tax. 

Budget figures 

The budget figures are derived from the statement of 
intent, as approved by the Authority at the beginning 
of the financial year. The budget figures have been 
prepared in accordance with New Zealand 
International Financial Reporting Standards using 
accounting policies that are consistent with those 
adopted by the Authority for the preparation of the 
financial statements. 

Cost allocation 

Maritime NZ has determined the cost of outputs by 
using the cost allocation system outlined below. 

Direct costs are those costs directly attributed to an 
output. Indirect costs are those costs that cannot be 
identified in an economically feasible manner with a 
specific output. Direct costs are charged directly to 
outputs. Indirect costs are charged to outputs based 
on cost drivers and related activity/usage 
information. Depreciation is charged on the basis of 
asset utilisation. Personnel costs are charged on the 
basis of actual time incurred. Other indirect costs 
are assigned to outputs, based on the proportion of 
full-time equivalents. 

There have been no changes to the cost allocation 
methodology since the date of the last audited 
financial statements. 
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Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, 
deposits held on call with banks, both domestic and 
international, other short-term, highly liquid 
investments, with original maturities of three months 
or less. 

Debtors and other receivables 

Debtors and other receivables are recorded at their 
face value, less any provision for impairment. 
Impairment of a receivable is established when there 
is objective evidence that Maritime NZ will not be 
able to collect amounts due according to the original 
terms of the receivable. Significant financial 
difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor 
will enter into bankruptcy, receivership or 
liquidation, and default in payments are considered 
indicators that the debtor is impaired. 

The amount of the impairment is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted 
using the original effective interest rate. 

The carrying amount of asset is reduced through the 
use of an allowance account, and the amount of the 
loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income. When the receivable is uncollectable, it is 
written off against the allowance account for 
receivables. Overdue receivables that have been 
renegotiated are reclassified as current (that is, not 
past due).  

Investments 

At each balance sheet date, Maritime NZ assesses 
whether there is any objective evidence that an 
investment is impaired. 

Bank deposits 

Investments in bank deposits are initially measured 
at fair value plus transaction costs. After initial 
recognition, investments in bank deposits are 
measured at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest rate method, less any provision for 
impairment. 

For bank deposits, impairment is established when 
there is objective evidence that Maritime NZ will not 
be able to collect amounts due according to the 
original terms of the deposit. Significant financial 
difficulties of the bank, probability that the bank will 
enter into bankruptcy, liquidation, and default in 
payments are considered indicators that the deposit 
is impaired. 

Inventory 

Inventories held for distribution or consumption in 
the provision of services that are not supplied on a 
commercial basis are measured at cost (determined 
on the weighted average cost method), adjusted 
when applicable, for any loss of service potential. 

Where inventories are acquired at no cost or for 
nominal consideration, the cost is the current 
replacement cost at the date of acquisition. This 
valuation includes allowances for slow moving and 
obsolete stock.  

The amount of any write-down for the loss of service 
potential or from cost to net realisable value is 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income in the period of the write-down. 

Foreign currency transactions 

Foreign currency transactions (including those for 
which forward exchange contracts are held) are 
translated into New Zealand dollars (the functional 
currency) using the exchange rates prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions.  

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of such transactions, and from the 
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies, are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 

Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment asset classes consist 
of: 

 lighthouses 
 navigational lights, buoys and day beacons 
 plant and equipment 
 motor vehicles 
 furniture, fittings and office equipment 
 computer equipment  
 leasehold improvements  
 land. 

Land is measured at fair value. All other assets 
classes are measured at cost, less any accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. 

Revaluations 

Land has been revalued with sufficient regularity to 
ensure that the carrying amount does not differ 
materially from fair value and at least every three 
years. 

The carrying values of revalued assets are assessed 
every three years by independent valuers to ensure 
that they do not differ materially from fair value. If 
there is evidence supporting a material difference, 
then the off-cycle assets classes are revalued. 

Accounting for revaluations 

Maritime NZ accounts for revaluations of property, 
plant and equipment on a class of assets basis. 

The results of revaluing are credited or debited to 
other comprehensive income and are accumulated to 
an asset revaluation reserve in equity. Where this 
results in a debit balance in the asset revaluation 
reserve, this balance is expensed in the statement of 
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comprehensive income. Any subsequent increase on 
revaluation that off-sets a previous decrease in value 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income will be recognised first in the statement of 
comprehensive income up to the amount previously 
expensed, and then credited to the revaluation 
reserve for that class of asset.  

Additions 

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment 
is recognised as an asset only when it is probable 
that future economic benefits or service potential 
associated with the item will flow to Maritime NZ 
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 

Work in progress is recognised at cost less 
impairment and is not depreciated. 

In most instances, an item of property, plant and 
equipment is initially recognised at its cost. Where 
an asset is acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost, 
it is recognised at its fair value as at the date of 
acquisition. 

Disposals 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by 
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount of 
the asset. Gains and losses on disposals are included 
in the statement of comprehensive income. 

When revalued assets are sold, the amounts 
included in revaluation reserves in respect of those 
assets are transferred to general funds. 

Subsequent costs 

Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are 
capitalised only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits or service potential associated 
with the item will flow to Maritime NZ and the cost 
of the item can be measured reliably. 

The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant 
and equipment are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income as they are incurred. 

Depreciation 

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on 
all property, plant and equipment other than land, at 
rates that will write-off the cost (or valuation) of the 
assets to their estimated residual values over their 
useful lives. The useful lives and associated 
depreciation rates used in the preparation of these 
statements are as follows: 

Asset type Useful life 
(years) 

Depreciation 
method 

Lighthouses 10–40  straight-line 

Navigational 
lights, buoys & 
day beacons 

10–20 straight-line 

Plant and 
equipment 

5–10 straight-line 

Motor vehicles 5 straight-line 

Furniture, 
fittings & office 
equipment 

5 straight-line 

Computer 
equipment 

3 straight-line 

Leasehold 
improvements 

2–9 straight-line 

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the 
unexpired period of the lease, or the estimated 
remaining useful lives of the improvements, 
whichever is shorter.  

The residual value and useful life of an asset is 
reviewed, and adjusted if applicable, at each 
financial year-end. 

Intangible assets 

Software acquisition and development 

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised 
on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and 
bring to use the specific software.  

Costs directly associated with the development of 
software for internal use by Maritime NZ are 
recognised as an intangible asset. Direct costs 
include the software development, employee costs 
and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. 

Other software-related costs are recognised as 
follows: 

Staff training costs are recognised as an expense 
when incurred. 

Costs associated with maintaining computer software 
are recognised as an expense when incurred. 

Costs associated with the development and 
maintenance of Maritime NZ’s website are 
recognised as an expense when incurred. 

Amortisation 

The carrying value of an intangible asset with finite 
life is amortised on a straight-line basis over its 
useful life. Amortisation begins when the asset is 
available for use and ceases at the date the asset is 
derecognised. The amortisation charge for each 
period is recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 
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The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of 
major classes of intangible assets have been 
estimated as follows: 

Asset type Useful life 
(years) 

Amortisation 
method 

Acquired 3–5 straight-line 

Developed 8 straight-line 

Impairment of property, plant and 

equipment, and intangible assets 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
that have a finite useful life are reviewed for 
impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is 
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair 
value less costs to sell and value in use. 

Value in use is depreciated replacement cost for an 
asset where the future economic benefits or service 
potential of the asset are not primarily dependent on 
the asset’s ability to generate net cash inflows and 
where Maritime NZ would, if deprived of the asset, 
replace its remaining future economic benefits or 
service potential. 

If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount, the asset is impaired and the carrying 
amount is written down to the recoverable amount. 
For revalued assets, the impairment loss is 
recognised in other comprehensive income to the 
extent that the impairment against the revaluation 
reserve. Where that results in a debit balance in the 
revaluation reserve, the balance is recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income. 

For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the total 
impairment loss is recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 

The reversal of an impairment loss on a revalued 
asset is credited to other comprehensive income and 
increases the asset revaluation reserve for that class 
of asset. However, to the extent that an impairment 
loss for that class of asset was previously recognised 
in the statement of comprehensive income, a 
reversal of the impairment loss is also recognised in 
the statement of comprehensive income. 

For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the 
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income. 

Creditors and other payables 

Short-term creditors and other payables are recorded 
at their face value. 

Employee entitlements 

Short-term employee entitlements 

These include salaries and wages accrued up to 
balance date, annual leave earned, but not yet taken 
at balance date are measured at undiscounted 
nominal values, based on accrued entitlements at 
current rates of pay. 

Employee entitlements that Maritime NZ expects to 
be settled within 12 months of balance date in 
which the employee renders the related service, is 
based on accrued entitlements at current rates of 
pay. Annual leave is calculated on an actual 
entitlement basis in accordance with the Holidays 
Act 2003. 

Maritime NZ does not recognise a liability for sick 
leave, as staff have an unlimited entitlement. 

Maritime NZ recognises a liability and an expense 
for bonuses where it is contractually obliged to pay 
them, or where there is a past practice that has 
created a constructive obligation. 

Superannuation schemes 

Defined contribution schemes 

Obligations for contributions to KiwiSaver and Tower 
LifeSaver are accounted for as defined contribution 
superannuation schemes and are recognised as an 
expense in the statement of comprehensive income 
as incurred. 

Defined benefit schemes 

Obligations for contributions to Government 
Superannuation Fund is accounted for as a defined 
contribution superannuation scheme and are 
recognised as an expense in the statement of 
comprehensive income as incurred. 

Provisions 

Maritime NZ recognises a provision for future 
expenditure of uncertain amount or timing when 
there is a present obligation (either legal or 
constructive) as a result of a past event, and it is 
probable that expenditure will be required to settle 
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made 
of the amount of the obligation. 

Provisions are measured at the present value of the 
expenditure expected to be required to settle the 
obligation, using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time, value of 
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The 
increase in the provision due to the passage of time 
is recognised as a interest expense and is included 
in finance costs. 
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Restructuring 

A provision for restructuring is recognised when 
Maritime NZ has approved a detailed formal plan for 
the restructuring that has either been announced 
publicly to those affected, or for which 
implementation has already commenced. 

Critical accounting estimates and 

assumptions 

In preparing these financial statements, Maritime NZ 
has made estimates and assumptions concerning the 
future. These estimates and assumptions may differ 
from the subsequent actual results. Estimates and 
assumptions are continually evaluated and are based 
on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. The estimates 
and assumptions that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year are discussed below. 

Estimating the fair value of land and 
building 

The significant assumptions applied in determining 
the fair value of land and building is disclosed in 
note 13.                                                                                                                                                                                  

Property, plant and equipment and 

intangible assets’ useful lives and 

residual value 

At each balance date, Maritime NZ reviews the 
useful lives and residual values of its property, plant 
and equipment and intangible assets. Assessing the 
appropriateness of useful life and residual value 
estimates of property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets requires Maritime NZ to consider a 
number of factors, such as the physical condition of 
the asset, expected period of use of the asset by 
Maritime NZ, and expected disposal proceeds from 
the future sale of the asset. 

An incorrect estimate of the useful life or residual 
value will impact the depreciation/amortisation 
expense recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income, and on the carrying amount 
of the asset in the statement of financial position. 
Maritime NZ minimises the risk of this estimation 
uncertainty by: 

 physical inspections of assets 
 asset replacement programmes 

 review of second-hand market prices for 
similar assets 

 analysis of prior asset sales. 

Maritime NZ has not made significant changes to 
past assumptions concerning useful lives and 
residual values, except where individual assets have 
been impaired or written off during the financial year 
due to observable changes in the asset itself.  

Critical judgements 

No critical judgements have been applied in the 
preparation of these financial statements. 

Commitments 

Future expenses and liabilities to be incurred on 
contracts that relate to unperformed goods or 
services that have been entered into at balance date 
are disclosed as commitments. Commitments 
disclosed include those operating and capital 
commitments arising from non-cancellable 
contractual or statutory obligations. 

Contingent assets and liabilities 

Contingent liabilities are disclosed if the possibility 
that they will crystallise is not remote. Contingent 
assets are disclosed if it is probable that the benefits 
will be realised. 

Statement of cash flows 

Cash means cash and cash equivalents on hand, 
held in bank accounts and demand deposits in 
which Maritime NZ invests as part of its day-to-day 
cash management. 

Operating activities include cash received from all 
income sources and records the cash payments 
made for the supply of goods and services, personnel 
expenses, interest and capital charge. Investing 
activities are those activities relating to the 
acquisition and disposal of non-current assets, 
intangible assets and investments. 

Financing activities comprise the change in equity 
and debt capital structure of Maritime NZ. 

Terminology  

Output class income and expenditure prior year 
financial information is reclassified to align with the 
statement of intent. The reclassification is made to 
provide information that is relevant to the 
understanding of the financial statements and has 
no impact on the net surplus/deficit. 
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Note 2: Revenue from the Crown  

Maritime NZ has been provided with funding from the Crown for specific purposes of Maritime NZ, as set out in its 
founding legislation and the scope of the relevant government appropriations. Apart from these general restrictions, 
there are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies attached to government funding (2013: nil). 

Note 3: Other revenue 

  
  

Actual 2013/14
$000 

Actual 2012/13
$000 

Seafarer licensing 536 538 

Ship registration 189 117 

User charges 1,047 586 

Other income 315 312 

Oil pollution recovery  

Oil pollution recovery 690 691 

Funding from Crown agencies  

Ministry of Transport 899 899 

NZ International Aid and Development Agency 195 71 

Total other revenue 3,871 3,214 

Note 4: Gains 

  Actual 2013/14
$000 

Actual 2012/13
$000 

Gain on sale of property, plant & equipment -  10 

Total gains -  10 

Note 5: Personnel costs 

  
 

Actual 2013/14
$000 

Actual 2012/13
$000 

Personnel & related costs 19,122 19,482 

Employer contributions to defined contribution plans 851 822 

Increase/(decrease) in employee entitlements (note 16) 297 22

Total personnel costs 20,270 20,326 

Employee contributions to defined contribution plans include contributions to KiwiSaver and the Government 
Superannuation Fund and Tower LifeSaver.  
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Note 6: Capital charge 

Maritime NZ pays a capital charge to the Crown on its taxpayers' funds at 30 June and 31 December each year. 
The capital charge rate for the year ended 30 June 2014 was 8.0% (2013: 8.0%). 

Note 7: Finance costs 

  Actual 2013/14
$000 

Actual 2012/13
$000 

Discount unwind on provisions (note 17) 13  11 

Total finance costs 13  11 

Note 8: Other expenses 

  
  

Actual 2013/14
$000 

Actual 2012/13
$000 

Administration 1,222  1,144 

Authority members’ fees (note 23) 119  121 

Bad debts written off 6 81 

Donations 10 2 

Fees to auditors – audit fees for financial statement audit 74 72 

Fees to auditors – for other services - 34 

Impairment of receivables (note 10) 2 56 

Maintenance 1,189 1,263 

Marketing & public relations 1,254 1,423 

Operating 1,679 1,596 

Operating lease expenses 1,382 1,130 

Professional & safety services 4,451 5,412 

Search & rescue variable costs 1,039 747 

Travel 1,519 1,256 

Inventory written off (note 11) - 89 

Total other expenses 13,946 14,426 

Fees of $38,622 for other services paid to auditors have been included in Work in Progress in Note 13 and relate 
to tender process review services for the MEOSAR project (2013: $33,888). 
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Note 9: Cash and cash equivalents 

  
 

Actual 2013/14
$000 

Actual 2012/13
$000 

Cash on hand & at bank 558 331 

Cash equivalents – term deposits 5,771 4,388 

Total cash & equivalents 6,329 4,719 

The carrying value of short-term deposits with maturity dates of three months or less approximates their fair value. 
The weighted average effective interest rate for short-term deposits is 3.48% (2013: 3.18%). 

Note 10: Debtors and other receivables 

  
   

Actual 2013/14
$000 

Actual 2012/13
$000 

Debtors & other receivables 2,922  2,351 

Less: provision for impairment (91)  (89)

Net trade debtors 2,831 2,262 

Other accounts receivable 696 716 

Total debtors & other receivables 3,527 2,978 

The carrying value of receivables approximates their fair value. As at 30 June 2014 and 2013, all overdue 
receivables have been assessed for impairment and appropriate provisions applied, as detailed below: 

Debtors aging 2014 2013 

  
  

Gross 
$000

Impairment 
$000

Net 
$000

Gross 
$000

Impairment 
$000 

Net 
$000

Not past due 1,948 - 1,948 1,363 - 1,363

Past due 1–30 days 993 - 993 404 - 404

past due 31–60 days 176 - 176 316 - 316

Past due 61–90 days 160 - 160 322 - 322

Past due > 90 days 341  (91) 250 662 (89) 572

Total 3,618  (91) 3,527 3,067 (89) 2,978
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The provision for impairment has been calculated based on expected losses for Maritime NZ's pool of debtors. 
Expected losses are based on an analysis of Maritime NZ's losses in previous periods, and review of specific 
debtors.  Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follows: 

  
 

Actual 2013/14 
$000 

Actual 2012/13 
$000 

Balance at 1 July 89  33 

Additional provisions made during the year (note 8) 2  56 

Balance at 30 June  91  89 

Note 11: Inventory 

  
  

Actual 2013/14 
$000 

Actual 2012/13 
$000 

Spare parts 200 161 

Total inventory 200 161 

The write-down of inventories held for distribution amounted to $Nil (2013: $89,364) reflecting the current age 
and condition. There have been no reversals of write-downs. No inventories are pledged as security for liabilities; 
however, some inventories are subject to retention of title clauses. 

Note 12: Investments 

  
 

Actual 2013/14 
$000 

Actual 2012/13 
$000 

Current investments are represented by   

Term deposit - 1,980 

Total current portion - 1,980 

Total investments - 1,980 

There were no impairment provisions for investments. 

 Actual 2013/14 
$000 

Actual 2012/13 
$000 

Term deposit with 4– 5 month maturities (2013: average 
maturity 138 days) 

-  1,980 

Weighted average effective interest rate N/A 3.90%

The carrying amount of term deposits with maturities less than 12 months approximates their fair value. 

Term deposits are invested at fixed rates ranging from 3.60% to 4.55%. As these deposits are at a fixed interest 
rate and measured at amortised cost, an increase or decrease in interest rates during the period would not impact 
on the measurement of the investments, and therefore there would be no impact on the surplus or equity.
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Note 13: Property, plant and equipment 

Movements for each class of property, plant and equipment are as follows: 

 Light houses Buoys, day 
beacons, 
navigational lights 

Plant & 
equipment 

Motor vehicles Furniture, 
fittings and 
office equipment 

Computer 
equipment 

Leasehold 
improvement 

Land Work in progress Total 

 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Cost or valuation                     

Balance at 1 July 2012 2,000  2,407 9,585 871 1,723  1,326 1,718 565 47 20,242  

Additions -  30 - 46 128  329 23 - 162 718  

Revaluation -  - - - -  - - 109 - 109  

Work in progress (WIP) -  - - - -  - - - 57 57  

Transfer from WIP -  - 9 - 27  6 - - (42) -  

Disposals -  - - (55) (11) - (12) - - (78) 

Balance at 30 June 2013 2,000  2,437 9,594 862 1,867  1,661 1,729 674 224 21,048  

Balance at 1 July 2013 2,000 2,437 9,594 862 1,867 1,661 1,729 674 224 21,048 

Additions - 62 - - 140 185 419 - - 806 

Work in progress (WIP) - - - - - - - - 515 515 

Transfer from WIP 83 9 - - 27 - - - (119) - 

Reclassification to intangible asset - - - - - - - - (29) (29) 

Disposals - - (43) - (526) (185) (25) - (6) (785) 

Balance at 30 June 2014 2,083 2,508 9,551 862 1,508 1,661 2,123 674 585 21,555 

Accumulated Depreciation and impairment losses 

Balance at 1 July 2012 972  1,906 8,680 636 1,463  1,145 1,113 - - 15,915  

Depreciation expense 80  62 159 68 90  225 159 - - 843  

Elimination on disposal -  - - (52)  (8) - (4) - - (64) 

Impairment Provision -  - - - -  - 348 - 348  

Balance at 30 June 2013 1,052  1,968 8,839 652 1,545  1,370 1,616 - - 17,042  

Balance at 1 July 2013 1,052 1,968 8,839 652 1,545 1,370 1,616 - - 17,042 

Depreciation expense 81 66 127 63 107 205 42 - - 691 

Elimination on disposal - - (43) - (526) (185) (25) - - (779) 

Balance at 30 June 2014 1,133 2,034 8,923 715 1,126 1,390 1,633 - - 16,954 

Carrying amounts     

At 30 June 2013 948  469 755 210 322  291 113 674 224 4,006  

At 30 June 2014 950 474 628 147 382 271 490 674 585 4,601 

Land transferred from the Ministry of Transport at no cost on the establishment of Maritime NZ in 1993 was revalued by an independent registered valuer, Beca Limited, on 30 June 2013.  
The net carrying amount of property, plant and equipment held under finance leases is $nil (2013: $nil).  
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Note 14: Intangible assets 

Movements for each intangible asset class are as follows: 

  
  

Acquired 
software 
$000 

Internally 
generated 
software 
$000 

Work in 
progress 
$000 

Total
$000 

Cost or valuation      

Balance at 1 July 2012 3,425 2,710 137  6,272 

Additions 90 251 -  341 

WIP - - 225  225 

Transfer from WIP - 137  (137) -

Disposals (148) - -  (148)

Balance at 30 June 2013 3,367 3,098 225  6,690 

Balance at 1 July 2013 3,367 3,098 225 6,690

Additions - - - -

WIP - - 1,310 1,310

Transfer from property, plant & equipment 
WIP 

29 - - 29

Disposals (155) - - (155)

Balance at 30 June 2014 3,241 3,098 1,535 7,874

Accumulated depreciation & impairment 
losses 

     

Balance at 1 July 2012 2,293 827 -  3,120 

Amortisation expense 161 670 -  831 

Elimination on disposal - (75)  -  (75)

Balance at 30 June 2013 2,454 1,422 -  3,876 

Balance at 1 July 2013 2,454 1,422 - 3,876

Amortisation expense 142 658 - 800

Elimination on disposal (155) - - (155)

Balance at 30 June 2014 2,441 2,080 - 4,521

Carrying amounts      

At 30 June 2013 913 1,676 225  2,814 

At 30 June 2014 800 1,018 1,535 3,353

There are no restrictions over the title of Maritime NZ's intangible assets, and no intangible assets pledged as 
security for liabilities. 
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Note 15: Creditors and other payables 

  Actual 2013/14
$000 

Actual 2012/13
$000 

Trade creditors 1,286 857 

Goods and Services Tax payable 56 76 

Accrued expenses 2,823 1,767 

Revenue in advance 182 136 

Total creditors and other payables 4,347 2,836

Creditors and other payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms; therefore, the 
carrying value of creditors and other payables approximates the fair value.  

Note 16: Employee entitlements 

  
  

Actual 2013/14
$000 

Actual 2012/13
$000 

Current annual leave 983 889 

Accrued salary & wages 1,065 845

Total employee entitlements 2,048 1,734 

Note 17: Provisions 

  
 

Actual 2013/14
$000 

Actual 2012/13
$000 

Current provisions are represented by    

Lease make good 99 61 

Total current provisions 99 61 

Non-current provisions are represented by   

Lease make good 71 96 

Total non-current provisions 71 96 

Total provisions 170 157 
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Movements for each class of provision are as follows:  

  Lease make-good 

$000 

Balance at 1 July 2012 127

Additional provisions made 19

Discount unwind provision (note 7) 11

Balance at 30 June 2013 157

Balance at 1 July 2013 157

Additional provisions made -

Discount unwind provision (note 7) 13

Balance at 30 June 2014 170

Lease make-good 

In respect of its leased premises, Maritime NZ is required at the expiry of the lease term to make good any damage 
caused to the premises from installed fixtures and fittings, and to remove any fixtures or fittings installed by 
Maritime NZ. In many cases, Maritime NZ has the option to renew these leases, which impacts on the timing of 
expected cash outflows to make good the premises. Information about Maritime NZ's leasing arrangements is 
disclosed in Note 20. 

Note 18: Equity 

  

 

Actual 2013/14 

$000 

Actual 2012/13 

$000 

General funds    

Balance at 1 July as previously reported 11,569 13,540 

Surplus/(deficit) (777) (2,716)

Capital contribution 601 745 

Balance at 30 June 11,393 11,569 

Revaluation reserve   

Balance at 1 July 674 565 

Revaluations - 109 

Balance at 30 June 674 674 

Total equity 30 June 12,067 12,243 

The revaluation reserve for the year ended 30 June 2014 consists of land $674,000 (2013: land $674,000). 
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Note 19: Reconciliation of net surplus/(deficit) to net cash from operating activities 

  

 

Actual 2013/14 

$000 

Actual 2012/13 

$000 

Net surplus/(deficit) (777)  (2,716)

Add/(less) non-cash items    

Depreciation & amortisation 1,491 1,674 

Write-off of property, plant and equipment 6 83 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment - 348 

Write-off of inventory - 90 

Total non-cash items 1,497 2,195 

Add/(less) items classified as investing/financing activities   

Loss/(gain) on sale of property, plant and equipment - (10)

Total items classified as investing/ financing activities - (10)

Add/(less) movements in working capital   

(Increase)/decrease in inventories (39) - 

(Increase)/decrease in debtors and other receivables (549) (136)

Increase/(decrease) in creditors and other payables, including 
provisions 

1,838 (1,252)

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments (310) 119 

Net movements in working capital items 940 (1,269)

Net cash from operations 1,660 (1,800)
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Note 20: Capital commitments and operating leases 

  

 

Actual 2013/14 

$000 

Actual 2012/13 

$000 

Capital commitments    

Property, plant & equipment 3,898 - 

Intangible asset -  - 

Total capital commitments 3,898  -

Capital commitment relates to the National Maritime Distress and Safety Communications Services Agreement with 
Kordia Limited which was entered into before 30 June 2014. 

Operating leases as lessee   

Future aggregate minimum lease payments to be paid under non-cancellable and operating leases: 

 Actual 2013/14 

$000 

Actual 2012/13 

$000 

Non-cancellable operating leases    

Not later than 1 year 3,985 1,192 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 14,750 2,371 

Later than 5 years 19,464 1,147 

Total non-cancellable operating leases 38,199 4,710 

Maritime NZ has recognised a make-good provision of $169,514 (2013: $157,006) in respect of these leases 
(refer Note 17). Operating lease payments relating to the National Maritime Distress and Safety Communications 
Services Agreement amount to $32,276,017.  

Note 21: Contingencies 

Contingent liabilities 

Maritime NZ has no contingent liabilities (2013: $nil). 

Contingent assets 

Maritime NZ has no contingent assets (2013: $nil). 
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Note 22: Related-party transactions 

Related-party transactions  

Maritime NZ is a wholly owned entity of the Crown. The government significantly influences the role of Maritime 
NZ, in addition to being a major source of its revenue. Maritime NZ enters into all related-party transactions on an 
arm’s length basis.  

Significant transaction with government-related entities 

Maritime NZ has been provided with funding from the Crown of $14,223,000 (2013: $13,956,000) for specific 
purposes as set out in its founding legislation and the scope of the relevant government appropriation. Funding 
from Crown agencies, Ministry of Transport $899,000 (2013: $899,000) and NZ Aid $195,000 (2013: 
$71,000). 

Collectively, but not individually significant, transactions with government-related entities 

In conducting its activities, Maritime NZ is required to pay various taxes and levies (such as Goods and Services 
Tax, Fringe Benefit Tax, Pay As You Earn Tax, and ACC levies) to the Crown and entities related to the Crown. The 
payment of these taxes and levies, other than income tax, is based on the standard terms and conditions that apply 
to all tax and levy payers. Maritime NZ is exempt from paying income tax. 

Maritime NZ also purchases goods and service from entities controlled, significantly influenced, or jointly 
controlled by the Crown. Purchases from these government-related entities for the year ended 30 June 2014 
totalled $1,682,000 (2013: $1,829,000). These purchases included the supply of services from NZ Customs, 
Crown Law, purchase of electricity from Meridian Energy, air travel from Air New Zealand, communications services 
from Kordia and postal services from New Zealand Post. 

The following transactions were carried out with related parties other than those described above. The aggregate 
value of transactions and outstanding balances relating to key management personnel and entities over which they 
have control or significant influence were as follows:  

Transaction Ref Transaction value 
year ended 30 June 

Balance outstanding 
year ended 30 June 

2014
$000 

2013
$000 

2014 
$000 

2013
$000 

Maritime NZ – provision of salaries and 
administrative support to New Zealand Oil 
Pollution Fund 

1 690 690 (366) (87)

Maritime NZ – amounts receivable from New 
Zealand Oil Pollution Fund 

 - (127) (129)

1. Maritime NZ is responsible for administering the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund, and in doing so incurs 
costs directly. These costs are recovered from the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund on a cost recovery basis.  

No provision has been required, nor any expense recognised, for impairment of receivables from related parties 
(2013: $nil). 
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Key management personnel compensation 

  Actual 2013/14 

$000 

Actual 2012/13 

$000 

Salaries & other short-term benefits 1,839 1,829 

Employer contributions to superannuation scheme 112 107 

Total key management compensation 1,951 1,936 

Key management personnel include all Authority members, the chief executive, and the remaining seven members 
of the executive team (2013: seven members).  

Note 23: Authority member remuneration 

The total value of remuneration paid or payable to Authority members during the year was as follows: 

   
 

Actual 2013/14 

$000 

Actual 2012/13 

$000 

David Ledson (Chairman) 39 39 

David Morgan (Deputy Chairman) - 16 

Ken Gilligan - 17 

Maxine Moana-Tuwhangai 20 7 

Peter Cowper 20 19 

Michael Ludbrook - 13 

Belinda Vernon 20 3 

Russell Watson 20 7 

Total Authority member remuneration 119 121 

There have been no payments made to committee members appointed by the Authority, who were not Authority 
members, during the financial year. 

Maritime NZ has provided a deed of indemnity to directors for certain activities undertaken in the performance of 
Maritime NZ's functions. 

Maritime NZ has affected directors’ and officers’ liability and professional indemnity insurance cover during the 
financial year in respect of the liability or costs of Authority members and employees. 
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Note 24: Employee remuneration 

Total remuneration paid or payable  $ Actual 2013/14 Actual 2012/13 

100,000–109,999 25 23  

110,000–119,999 22 20  

120,000–129,999 13 7  

130,000–139,999 2 5  

140,000–149,999 9 6  

150,000–159,999 5 8  

160,000-169,999 2 - 

170,000–179,999 2 3  

180,000–189,999 1 -  

190,000–199,999 - 1  

200,000–209,999 2 5  

210,000–219,999 3 1  

260,000-269,999 - - 

270,000–279,999 - 1  

300,000-309,999 2 - 

330,000–339,000 - 1  

Total employees 88 81  

During the year ended 30 June 2014, one (2013: four) employee received compensation and other benefits in 
relation to cessation totalling $43,427 (2013: $237,401). No Authority members received compensation or other 
benefits in relation to cessation (2013: $nil). 

Note 25: Events after balance sheet date 

There were no significant events after the balance date. 
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Note 26: Categories of financial assets and liabilities 

The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities in each of the New Zealand International 
Accounting Standard 39 categories are as follows: 

  Actual 2013/14 

$000 

Actual 2012/13 

$000 

Loans & receivables   

Cash & cash equivalents (note 9) 6,329 4,719 

Debtors & other receivables (note 10) 3,527 2,978 

Investments – term deposits (note 12) - 1,980 

Total loans & receivables 9,856 9,677 

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost    

Creditors & other payables (note 15) 4,347 2,836 

Total financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 4,347 2,836 

Note 27: Financial instrument risks 

Maritime NZ's activities expose it to a variety of financial instrument risks, including market risk, credit risk and 
liquidity risk. Maritime NZ has a series of policies to manage the risks associated with financial instruments, and 
seeks to minimise exposure from financial instruments. These policies do not allow any transactions to be entered 
into that are speculative in nature. 

Market risk 

The interest rates on Maritime NZ's investments are disclosed in note 12. 

Fair-value interest rate risk 

Fair-value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in 
market interest rates. Maritime NZ's exposure to fair-value interest rate risk is limited to its bank deposits, which 
are held at fixed rates of interest. 

Cash-flow interest rate risk 

Cash-flow interest rate risk is the risk that the cash flows from a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates. Investments issued at variable interest rates expose Maritime NZ to cash-flow 
interest rate risk. Maritime NZ's investment policy requires a spread of investment maturity dates to limit exposure 
to short-term interest rate movements. Maritime NZ currently has no variable interest rate investments. 

Sensitivity analysis 

As at 30 June 2014, if interest rates on term deposits had been 0.5% higher or lower, with all other variables held 
constant, the deficit for the year would have been $Nil (2013: $9,900) higher/lower. This movement is 
attributable to increased or decreased interest received on term deposits.  
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Currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to 
changes in foreign exchange rates. Maritime NZ purchases goods and services overseas, which requires it to enter 
into transactions denominated in foreign currencies. As a result of these activities, exposure to currency risk arises. 
Maritime NZ does not operate any overseas-currency bank accounts.  

It is Maritime NZ's policy to manage foreign currency risks arising from contractual commitments and liabilities by 
entering into foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge the foreign-currency risk exposure. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligation to Maritime NZ, causing Maritime NZ to incur a 
loss. Due to the timing of its cash inflows and outflows, Maritime NZ invests surplus cash with registered banks. 
Maritime NZ's investment policy limits the amount of credit exposure to any one institution. Maritime NZ has 
processes in place to review the credit quality of customers prior to the granting of credit. 

Maritime NZ's maximum credit exposure for each class of financial instrument is represented by the total carrying 
amount of cash and cash equivalents (Note 9), net debtors (Note 10) and term deposits (Note 12). There is no 
collateral held as security against these financial instruments, including those instruments that are overdue or 
impaired. 

Maritime NZ has no significant concentrations of credit risk, as it has a small number of credit customers and 
invests funds only with registered banks with specified Standard and Poor's credit ratings. 

Maritime NZ holds cash with Westpac, ANZ, Bank of New Zealand, Kiwibank and ASB. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that Maritime NZ will encounter difficulty raising liquid funds to meet commitments as 
they fall due. Prudent liquidity-risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the ability to close out 
market positions. Maritime NZ mostly manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring actual forecast and actual 
cash flow requirements.  

Maritime NZ maintains a credit card facility limit with Westpac. 

The table below analyses Maritime NZ's financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings, based on the 
remaining period at the balance date to the contract maturity date. The amounts disclosed are the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows. 

 Less than 31 
days 
$000 

Between 31 & 
60 days 
$000 

Between 61 & 90 
days 
$000 

Over 90 days 
$000 

2013   

Creditors & other payables (note 
15) 

2,824 12 - -

2014   

Creditors & other payables (note 
15) 

4,347 - - -
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Note 28: Capital management 

Maritime NZ's capital is its equity, which comprises accumulated funds and other reserves. Equity is represented 
by net assets. 

Maritime NZ is subject to the financial management and accountability provisions of the Crown Entities Act 2004, 
which impose restrictions in relation to borrowings, acquisition of securities, issuing of guarantees and 
indemnities, and the use of derivatives. 

Maritime NZ manages its equity as a by-product of prudently managing revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities and 
investments, and general financial dealings to ensure Maritime NZ effectively achieves its objectives and purpose 
while remaining a going concern. 

Note 29: Explanation of significant variances against budget 

Explanations for significant variations from Maritime NZ's budgeted figures in the Statement of Intent 2013-2016 
are as follows: 

Statement of financial performance 

Crown revenue 

Revenue is lower than budget as a result of the following: 

 Less funding received for the non-oil response of the Rena grounding due to less expenditure incurred than 
budgeted;  

 The reduced level of funding received for the non-oil response of the Rena grounding has been offset by 
funding received for maritime incident response capability development. This funding was not included in the 
Statement of Intent as it was only approved in December 2013; and 

 Variable search and rescue funding, received annually in the year following the year of actual expenditure, was 
budgeted as revenue for 2013/14 but, has been reclassified as a capital injection 

Marine Safety Charge 

Revenue is higher than budget due to a greater number of international commercial vessels visiting New Zealand 
paying the marine safety charge. 

Other revenue  

Revenue is lower than budget due to:  

 Lower than anticipated applications received under the two new regimes, MOSS and SeaCert, before 
mandatory compliance came into force on 1 July 2014. 

Personnel and other expenses 

Personnel and other expenses are higher than budget. This is primarily due to increased staff numbers during the 
year. The increase in personnel is to support the operational deployment of MOSS and SeaCert. 

The higher personnel costs were offset by the lower than budgeted capital charge. 

Statement of financial position 

Non-current liabilities 

The 2013/14 non-current provision represents a finance lease associated with the replacement of the current 
Distress Radio System. This lease did not commence until 1 July 2014 and will therefore be reflected in the 
2014/15 financial statements. 

Note 30: Directions issued by Ministers 

There were no Directions issued by the Minister within the financial reporting period. 
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Output class 1: Influencing the policy environment for maritime sector 

  Actual 2013/14
$000 

Budget 2013/14 
$000 

Actual 2012/13
$000 

Crown   3,619 3,619  3,868 

Crown agencies 899 1,125 899 

NZ International Aid and Development Agency 195 - 71 

Marine Safety Charge 2,849 2,522 -

Other 313 265 291 

Total revenue 7,875 7,531  5,129 

Total expenditure 11,083 7,454  7,908 

Net deficit (3,208) 77 (2,779)

Output class 2: Maritime safety and marine protection services 

  
Actual 2013/14

$000 
Budget 2013/14 

$000 
Actual 2012/13

$000 

Crown   1,937 1,937  1,714 

HSE 954 928 928 

Fuel Excuse Duty 2,330 2,348  930 

Marine Safety Charge 14,807 13,111  17,806 

Fees 1,773 2,998  1,242 

Other 945 790  790 

Total revenue 22,746 22,112  23,410 

Total expenditure 19,708 22,184  22,816 

Net surplus/(deficit) 3,038 (72) 594 

Output class 3: Marine pollution response service (New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund) 

Actual 2013/14
$000 

Budget 2013/14 
$000 

Actual 2012/13
$000 

Crown   - -  8 

Oil Pollution Levies 6,205 5,578  3,451 

Other 149 86 96 

Total revenue 6,354 5,664  3,555 

Total expenditure 4,571 4,996  4,046 

Net (deficit) 1,783 668 (491)
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Output class 4: Search and rescue coordination services 

 Actual 2013/14
$000 

Budget 2013/14 
$000 

Actual 2012/13
$000 

Crown   3,316 3,316  3,316 

Crown agencies - 988  614 

Fuel Excise Duty 754 140  140 

Other 57 176  169 

 Total revenue 4,127 4,620  4,239 

Total expenditure 4,726 4,739  4,846 

Net surplus/(deficit) (599) (119) (607)

Output class 5: Tauranga maritime incident response 

 Actual 2013/14
$000 

Budget 2013/14 
$000 

Actual 2012/13
$000 

Crown   540 1,717  2,310 

Crown agencies - -  136 

Total revenue 540 1,717  2,446 

Total expenditure 540 1,717  2,370 

Net surplus - -  76 

Output class 6: Maritime incident response capability development 

 
  

Actual 2013/14
$000 

Budget 2013/14 
$000 

Actual 2012/13
$000 

Crown   773 - -

Total revenue 773 - -

Total expenditure 781 - -

Net surplus (8) - -

The variance between the total revenue and expenditure of Output class 1, 2, 4, 5 and 6 and the total revenue and 
expenditure disclosed in the Statement of Comprehensive Income relates to inter-group eliminations required for 
consolidation but not required at the Output Class level.  

  



Maritime New Zealand Annual Report 2013/14 

82 

 

  



Maritime New Zealand Annual Report 2013/14 

83 

 

  



Maritime New Zealand Annual Report 2013/14 

84 

 

Appendix 1: Financial Statements for the New Zealand Oil 
Pollution Fund  

Chairman’s report 

New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund  

The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund comprises levies collected from all contributing commercial ships and 
offshore oil installations and pipelines. The levy is risk-based, to reflect the level of risk attributable to different 
categories of ships and types of oil. 

The Oil Pollution Advisory Committee endorses an annual budget for consideration by the Authority, which in turn 
recommends a capital and operating budget for approval by the Minister of Transport. 

The accumulated monies in the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund and the ongoing annual contributions from levies 
are applied, in accordance with the Maritime Transport Act 1994, to the development and maintenance of an 
effective marine oil pollution response system for New Zealand. 

 

David Ledson  
Chairman, Maritime NZ  
Date: 31 October 2014 
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Statement of responsibility for the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund 
The financial statements of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund and the judgments used are the responsibility of 
the Authority members and Maritime NZ management, and have been prepared in accordance with the Crown 
Entities Act 2004. 

The establishment and maintenance of an internal control system designed to provide reasonable assurance as to 
the integrity and reliability of the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2014 is the responsibility of the 
Authority members and Maritime NZ management. 

In the opinion of the Authority members and Maritime NZ management, the financial statements for the year 
ended 30 June 2014 fairly reflect the financial position and operations of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund. 

  

David Ledson 
Chairman, Maritime NZ 
Dated: 31 October 2014 

Belinda Vernon
Authority member, Maritime NZ 
Dated: 31 October 2014 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

To the readers of 
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s 

financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2014 
 

The Auditor-General is the auditor of New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund (the Fund). The 
Auditor-General has appointed me, Kelly Rushton, using the staff and resources of Audit 
New Zealand, to carry out the audit of the financial statements of the Fund on her behalf.  

We have audited: 

 the financial statements of the Fund on pages 89 to 111, that comprise the statement of 
financial position as at 30 June 2014, the statement of comprehensive income, statement 
of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year ended on that date and 
notes to the financial statements that include accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. 

Opinion 

In our opinion: 

 the financial statements of the Fund on pages 89 to 111: 

 comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and 

 fairly reflect the Fund’s: 

 financial position as at 30 June 2014; and 

 financial performance and cash flows for the year ended on that date. 

Our audit was completed on 31 October 2014. This is the date at which our opinion is expressed. 

The basis of our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the 
Authority and our responsibilities, and we explain our independence. 

Basis of opinion 

We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which 
incorporate the International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand). Those standards require 
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and carry out our audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.  
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Material misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts and disclosures that, in our 
judgement, are likely to influence readers’ overall understanding of the financial statements. If 
we had found material misstatements that were not corrected, we would have referred to them 
in our opinion. 

An audit involves carrying out procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgement, 
including our assessment of risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to 
the preparation of the Fund’s financial statements that fairly reflect the matters to which they 
relate. We consider internal control in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Fund’s internal control. 

An audit also involves evaluating: 

 the appropriateness of accounting policies used and whether they have been consistently 
applied; 

 the reasonableness of the significant accounting estimates and judgements made by the 
Authority; 

 the adequacy of all disclosures in the financial statements; and 

 the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee complete accuracy of the 
financial statements. Also we did not evaluate the security and controls over the electronic 
publication of the financial statements. 

We have obtained all the information and explanations we have required and we believe we 
have obtained sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 

Responsibilities of the Authority 

The Authority is responsible for preparing financial statements that: 

 comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and 

 fairly reflect the Fund’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows.  

The Authority is also responsible for such internal control as is determined necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error. The Authority is also responsible for the publication of the financial 
statements, whether in printed or electronic form. 

The Authority’s responsibilities arise from the Crown Entities Act 2004. 
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Responsibilities of the Auditor 

We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the financial statements and 
reporting that opinion to you based on our audit. Our responsibility arises from section 15 of 
the Public Audit Act 2001 and the Crown Entities Act 2004. 

Independence 

When carrying out the audit, we followed the independence requirements of the 
Auditor-General, which incorporate the independence requirements of the External Reporting 
Board. 

Other than the audit, we have no relationship with or interests in the Fund. 

 

K M Rushton 
Audit New Zealand 
On behalf of the Auditor-General 
Wellington, New Zealand 
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Statement of comprehensive income for the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund 
Year ended 30 June 2014  

  
  
  

Notes
 

Actual
2013/14 
$000 

Budget 
2013/14 
$000 

Actual 
2012/13 
$000 

Income     

Crown - - 8 

Oil Pollution Levy 6,205 5,528 3,451 

Other third party 2 82 60 53 

Interest revenue 44 26 43 

Gains 3 23 - -

Total revenue 6,354 5,614 3,555 

Expenditure   

Personnel costs 4 1,021 863 640 

Depreciation & amortisation costs 11, 12 375 386 374 

Oil spill response 6 - - 8 

Finance costs 5 1 - 8 

Other expenses 7 3,174 3,717 3,016 

Total expenditure 4,571 4,966 4,046 

Net (deficit) 1,783 648 (491)

Other comprehensive income - - - 

Total other comprehensive income - - -

Total comprehensive income 1,783 648 (491)

Explanations of significant variances against budget are detailed in Note 25. 

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of movements in equity for the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund 
Year ended 30 June 2014 

  
  
  

Notes
  

Actual
2013/14 
$000 

Budget 
2013/14 
$000 

Actual 
2012/13 
$000 

Balance at 1 July  5,645 5,490 6,136 

Total comprehensive income  1,783 648 (491)

Capital contribution 16 100 - -

Balance at 30 June  7,528 6,138 5,645 

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.  
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Statement of financial position for the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund 
As at 30 June 2014 

  
  
  

Notes
  

Actual
2013/14 
$000 

Budget 
2013/14 
$000 

Actual 
2012/13 
$000 

Assets     

Current assets     

Cash and cash equivalents 8 2,498 690 1,203 

Debtors & other receivables 9 584 625 182 

Prepayments - - 34 

Inventory 10 1,519 1,501 1,515 

Total current assets 4,601 2,816 2,934 

Non-current assets   

Property, plant & equipment 11 4,351 4,059 3,526 

Intangible assets  12 114 113 172 

Total non-current assets 4,465 4,172 3,698 

Total assets 9,066 6,988 6,632 

Liabilities   

Current liabilities   

Creditors and other payables 13 1,382 779 848

Provision for employee entitlements 14 93 71 77

Provisions 15 - - -

Total current liabilities 1,475 850 925 

Non-current liabilities   

Provisions 15 63 - 62 

Total non-current liabilities 63 - 62 

Total liabilities 1,538 850 987 

Equity    

General funds 16 7,528 6,138 5,645 

Total equity 7,528 6,138 5,645 

Total equity & liabilities 9,066 6,988 6,632 

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of cash flows for the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund 
Year ended 30 June 2014  

  
  
  

Notes
  

Actual
2013/14 
$000 

Budget 
2013/14 
$000 

Actual 
2012/13 
$000 

Cash flows from operating activities     

Crown - - 8 

Oil Pollution Levy 5,926 5,528 4,255 

Other third party 116 60 25 

Interest revenue 44 26 43 

Personnel (1,015) (863) (662)

Payments to suppliers (2,546) (3,686) (4,594)

Oil spill response - - (8)

Goods & services tax (net) (153) - (197)

Net cash flows from operating activities 17 2,372 1,065 (1,130)

Cash flows from investing activities   

Receipts from sale of property, plant & equipment 23 - -

Receipts from sale of investments - - 3,500 

Purchase of property, plant & equipment (1,200) (1,000) (234)

Acquisitions of investments - - (3,000)

Net cash flows from investing activities (1,177) (1,000) 266 

Cash flows from financing activities  

Capital contribution 16 100 - -

Net cash flows from financing activities 100 - -

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,295 65 (864)

Opening cash balance at 1 July 1,203 625 2,067 

Closing cash balance at 30 June 2,498 690 1,203 

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Notes to the financial 
statements for New 
Zealand Oil Pollution Fund 

Note 1: Statement of accounting 
policies for the year ended 30 June 
2014 

Reporting entity 
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has been 
established by Maritime NZ pursuant to section 330 
of the Maritime Transport Act 1994. The New 
Zealand Oil Pollution Fund is domiciled in New 
Zealand. The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s 
ultimate parent is the New Zealand Crown. 

The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s primary 
objective is to meet the ongoing costs of maintaining 
New Zealand’s oil spill response capability, 
including contingency plans, equipment, and 
training and response costs (where they are unable 
to be recovered from the spiller). Levies imposed on 
shipping and oil sites are paid into the New Zealand 
Oil Pollution Fund to finance these costs. 

Accordingly, the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has 
designated itself as a public benefit entity for the 
purposes of New Zealand Equivalents to 
International Financial Reporting Standards. 

While the financial statements of the New Zealand 
Oil Pollution Fund form part of the financial reports 
of the Authority, they are presented separately in 
order to clearly identify the income and expenditure 
associated with the Authority’s oil pollution response 
activities. 

The financial statements of the New Zealand Oil 
Pollution Fund have been prepared in accordance 
with section 330(7) of the Maritime Transport Act 
1994. 

The financial statements for the New Zealand Oil 
Pollution Fund are for the year ended 30 June 2014 
and were authorised by the Authority for issue on 31 
October 2014.  

Basis of preparation 

Statement of compliance 

The financial statements of the New Zealand Oil 
Pollution Fund have been prepared in accordance 

with the requirements of the Crown Entities Act 
2004, which includes the requirement to comply 
with New Zealand generally accepted accounting 
practice (NZ GAAP). 

These financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with NZ GAAP as appropriate for public 
benefit entities and they comply with NZ IFRS. 

Measurement base 

The financial statements have been prepared on an 
historical cost basis, except where modified by the 
revaluation of certain items of property, plant and 
equipment.  

Functional and presentation currency 

These financial statements are presented in New 
Zealand dollars and all values are rounded to the 
nearest thousand dollars ($000). The functional 
currency of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund is 
New Zealand dollars ($NZD). 

Changes in accounting policies 

There have been no changes in accounting policies 
during the financial year. 

There have been no new or revised accounting 
standards during the financial year. 

Standards, amendments and interpretations 
issued that are not yet effective and have not 
been early adopted 

The Minister of Commerce has approved a new 
Accounting Standards Framework (incorporating a 
Tier Strategy) developed by the External Reporting 
Board (XRB). Under this Framework, New Zealand 
Oil Pollution Fund is classified as a Tier 2 reporting 
entity and it will be required to apply Public Benefit 
Entity Accounting Standards with reduced 
disclosures. These standards are being developed by 
the XRB based on current International Public 
Sector Accounting Standards. The effective date for 
the new standards for public sector entities is for 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014. 
Therefore, New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund will 
transition to the new standards in preparing its 30 
June 2015 financial statements. New Zealand Oil 
Pollution Fund has not assessed the implications of 
the new Framework at this time. 

Due to the change in the Accounting Standards 
Framework for public benefit entities, it is expected 
that all new NZ IFRS and amendments to existing 
NZ IFRS will not be applicable to public benefit 
entities. Therefore, the XRB has effectively frozen 
the financial reporting requirements for public 
benefit entities up until the new Framework is 
effective. Accordingly, no disclosure has been made 
about new or amended NZ IFRS that exclude public 
benefit entities from their scope. 
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There are no new relevant standards and 
interpretations issued this year and the New Zealand 
Oil Pollution Fund has not early adopted any new 
standards and interpretations. 

Significant accounting policies 
The principal accounting policies applied in the 
preparation of these financial statements are set out 
below. These policies have been applied consistently 
to all periods presented in these financial 
statements. 

Revenue 

The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund earns revenue 
from interest on investments and levies to third 
parties for the provision of services. Such revenue is 
recognised when earned, and is reported in the 
financial period to which it relates. 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of 
consideration received or receivable. 

The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund received 
funding from the Crown in 2012/13, restricted in its 
use for the purpose of the fund responding to the oil 
spill from the grounding of the CV Rena. Revenue 
from the Crown is recognised as revenue when 
earned and is reported in the financial period to 
which it relates. 

Interest 

Interest income is recognised using the effective 
interest method. Interest income on an impaired 
financial asset is recognised using the original 
effective interest rate. 

Provision of services 

Revenue derived from the provision of services to 
third parties is recognised in proportion to the stage 
of completion at the balance sheet date. The stage 
of completion is assessed by reference to surveys of 
work performed or Oil Pollution Levy, based on 
information from New Zealand Customs regarding 
port visits. 

Leases 

Operating leases 

Leases that do not transfer substantially all the risks 
and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset to 
the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund are classified as 
operating leases. Lease payments under an operating 
lease are recognised as an expense on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the lease in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 

Lease incentives received are recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income over the lease 
term as an integral part of the total lease expense. 

Finance leases 

A finance lease is a lease that transfers to the lessee 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of an asset, whether or not title is 
eventually transferred. At the commencement of the 
lease term, the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund 
recognises finance leases as assets and liabilities in 
the statement of financial position at the lower of 
the fair value of the leased item, or the present value 
of the minimum lease payments. 

The finance charge is charged to the statement of 
comprehensive income over the lease period so as to 
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability. The amount 
recognised as an asset is depreciated over its useful 
life. If there is no certainty as to whether the New 
Zealand Oil Pollution Fund will obtain ownership at 
the end of the lease term, the asset is fully 
depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and its 
useful life. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and 
deposits held at call with domestic banks, and other 
short-term, highly liquid investments, with original 
maturities of three months or less. 

Debtors and other accounts receivable 

Debtors and other accounts receivable are recorded 
at their face value, less any provision for 
impairment. 

Impairment of a receivable is established when there 
is objective evidence that the New Zealand Oil 
Pollution Fund will not be able to collect amounts 
due according to the original terms of the receivable. 
Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, 
probability that the debtor will enter into bankruptcy, 
receivership or liquidation, and default in payments 
are considered indicators that the debtor is 
impaired. 

The amount of the impairment is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted 
using the original effective interest rate.  

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through 
the use of an allowance account, and the amount of 
the loss is recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income. When the receivable is 
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance 
account for receivables. Overdue receivables that 
have been renegotiated are reclassified as current 
(i.e. not past due). 

Investments 

At each balance sheet date, the New Zealand Oil 
Pollution Fund assesses whether there is any 
objective evidence that an investment is impaired. 
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Bank deposits 

Investments in bank deposits are initially measured 
at fair value plus transaction costs. After initial 
recognition, investments in bank deposits are 
measured at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest rate method, less any provision for 
impairment. 

For bank deposits, impairment is established when 
there is objective evidence that the New Zealand Oil 
Pollution Fund will not be able to collect amounts 
due according to the original terms of the deposit. 
Significant financial difficulties of the bank, 
probability that the bank will enter into bankruptcy, 
liquidation, and default in payments are considered 
indicators that the deposit is impaired. 

Inventories 

Inventories held for consumption in the provision of 
services that are not issued on a commercial basis 
are measured at cost (determined on the weighted 
average cost method), adjusted when applicable, for 
any loss of service potential. The replacement cost or 
service potential of oil spill dispersant held for 
distribution reflects any obsolescence or any other 
impairment. The write-down from cost to current 
replacement cost or net realisable value is 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income in the period when the write-down occurs. 

Inventory items used to repair or maintain an asset 
are recorded as an expense in the statement of 
comprehensive income. Items that replace an 
existing asset and are over $2,000 are recorded as 
property, plant and equipment, with the asset being 
replaced written off. If the replacement item is 
under $2,000, the cost is recorded as repairs and 
maintenance unless the item is part of an operating 
asset unit, in which case the cost is recorded as 
property, plant and equipment. 

Foreign currency transactions 

Foreign currency transactions (including those for 
which forward exchange contracts are held) are 
translated into New Zealand dollars (the functional 
currency) using the exchange rates prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions.  

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of such transactions and from the 
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 

Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment asset classes are as 
follows: 

 plant and equipment 
 vessels 

 motor vehicles 
 furniture, fittings and office equipment 
 computer equipment 
 leasehold improvements.  

All assets classes are measured at cost, less 
any accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses. 

Additions 

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment 
is recognised as an asset only when it is probable 
that future economic benefits or service potential 
associated with the item will flow to the New 
Zealand Oil Pollution Fund and the cost of the item 
can be measured reliably. 

Work in progress is recognised at cost less 
impairment and is not depreciated. 

In most instances, an item of property, plant and 
equipment is initially recognised at its cost where an 
asset is acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost, it 
is recognised at its fair value as at the date of 
acquisition. 

Disposals 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by 
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount of 
the asset. Gains and losses on disposals are included 
in the statement of comprehensive income. 

Subsequent costs 

Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are 
capitalised only when it is probable that future 
economic benefit or service potential associated with 
the item will flow to the New Zealand Oil Pollution 
Fund and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. 

The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant 
and equipment are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income as they are incurred. 

Depreciation 

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on 
all property, plant and equipment, at rates that will 
write-off the cost (or valuation) of the assets to their 
estimated residual values over their useful lives. 

The useful lives and associated depreciation rates 
used in the preparation of these statements are as 
follows: 

Asset type Useful life 
(years) 

Depreciation 
method 

Plant and 
equipment 

5–50  straight-line 

Vessels 10–35 straight-line 
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Motor vehicles 5 straight-line 

Furniture, fittings 
and office 
equipment 

5 straight-line 

Computer 
equipment 

3 straight-line 

Leasehold 
improvements 

2–9 straight-line 

The cost of leasehold improvements is capitalised 
and depreciated over the unexpired period of the 
lease. Items under construction are not depreciated. 
The total cost of a capital project is transferred to 
the appropriate asset class on its completion and 
then depreciated. 

The residual value and useful life of an asset is 
reviewed, and adjusted if applicable, at each 
financial year-end. 

Intangible assets 

Software acquisition and development 

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised 
on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and 
bring to use the specific software. Costs that are 
directly associated with the development of software 
for internal use by the New Zealand Oil Pollution 
Fund are recognised as an intangible asset. Direct 
costs include the software development, employee 
costs and an appropriate portion of relevant 
overheads. 

Staff training costs and costs associated with the 
development and maintenance of the New Zealand 
Oil Pollution Fund’s website are recognised as an 
expense when incurred. 

Costs associated with maintaining computer software 
are recognised as an expense when incurred. 

Amortisation 

The carrying value of an intangible asset with a finite 
life is amortised on a straight-line basis over its 
useful life. Amortisation begins when the asset is 
available for use and ceases at the date the asset is 
derecognised. The amortisation charge for each 
period is recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 

The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of 
major classes of intangible assets have been 
estimated as follows: 

Asset type Useful life 
(years) 

Amortisation 
method 

Acquired 3–5 straight-line 

Developed 8 straight-line 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
that have a finite useful life are reviewed for 
impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is 
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair 
value less costs to sell and value in use. 

Value in use is depreciated replacement cost for an 
asset where the future economic benefits or service 
potential of the asset are not primarily dependent on 
the asset’s ability to generate net cash inflows and 
where the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund would, if 
deprived of the asset, replace its remaining future 
economic benefits or service potential. 

If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount, the asset is impaired and the carrying 
amount is written down to the recoverable amount. 
For revalued assets, the impairment loss is 
recognised against the asset revaluation reserve for 
that class of asset to the extent that the impairment 
loss does not exceed the amount in the revaluation 
reserve for that class of asset. Where that results in a 
debit balance in the asset revaluation reserve, the 
balance is recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 

For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the total 
impairment loss is recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 

The reversal of an impairment loss on a revalued 
asset is credited to other comprehensive income and 
increases the asset revaluation reserve. However, to 
the extent that an impairment loss for that class of 
asset was previously recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income, a reversal of the impairment 
loss is also recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 

For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the 
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income. 

Creditors and other payables 

Short-term creditors and payables are recorded at 
their face value. 

Employee entitlements 

Short-term employee entitlements 

These include salaries and wages accrued up to 
balance date, annual leave earned but not yet taken 
at balance date. 
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Employee entitlements that the New Zealand Oil 
Pollution Fund expects to be settled within 12 
months of balance date that the employee renders 
the related service, is based on accrued entitlements 
at current rates of pay. Annual leave is calculated on 
an actual entitlement basis in accordance with the 
Holidays Act 2003. 

The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund does not 
recognise a liability for sick leave, as staff have an 
unlimited entitlement. 

The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund recognises a 
liability and an expense for bonuses where it is 
contractually obliged to pay them, or where there is 
a past practice that has created a constructive 
obligation. 

Superannuation schemes 

Defined contribution schemes 

Obligations for contributions to KiwiSaver are 
accounted for as defined contribution 
superannuation schemes and are recognised as an 
expense in the statement of comprehensive income 
as incurred. 

Defined benefit schemes 
Obligations for contributions to Government 
Superannuation Fund is accounted for as a defined 
benefit superannuation scheme and are recognised 
as an expense in the statement of comprehensive 
income as incurred. 

Provisions 

The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund recognises a 
provision for future expenditure of uncertain amount 
or timing when there is a present obligation (either 
legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that expenditures will be required to settle 
the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made 
of the amount of the obligation. 

Provisions are measured at the present value of the 
expenditure expected to be required to settle the 
obligation, using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The 
increase in the provision due to the passage of time 
is recognised as an interest expense and is included 
in finance costs. 

Goods and Services Tax 

All items in the financial statements are presented 
on a Goods and Services Tax exclusive basis, with 
the exception of accounts receivable and accounts 
payable, which are stated with Goods and Services 
Tax included. Where Goods and Services Tax is not 
recoverable as input tax, then it is recognised as part 
of the related asset or expense. 

The net amount of Goods and Services Tax 
recoverable from, or payable to, Inland Revenue is 
included as part of receivables or payables in the 
statement of financial position. 

The net Goods and Services Tax paid to, or received 
from Inland Revenue, including the Goods and 
Services Tax relating to investing and financing 
activities, is classified as an operating cash flow in 
the statement of cash flows. 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed 
exclusive of Goods and Services Tax. 

Income tax 

The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund is a public 
authority in terms of the Income Tax Act 2007 and 
consequently is exempt from income tax. 
Accordingly, no charge for income tax has been 
provided for. 

Budget figures 

The budget figures are derived from the statement of 
intent, as approved by the Authority at the beginning 
of the financial year. The budget figures have been 
prepared in accordance with New Zealand 
International Financial Reporting Standard, using 
accounting policies that are consistent with those 
adopted by the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund for 
the preparation of the financial statements. Some 
budget numbers have been classified differently 
from the statement of intent to bring them into line 
with the classifications used in the financial 
statements. 

Expenses 

Expenses are recognised in the financial period to 
which they relate. 

Cost allocation 

The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has determined 
the cost of outputs by using the cost allocation 
system outlined below. 

Direct costs are those costs directly attributed to an 
output. Indirect costs are those costs that cannot be 
identified in an economically feasible manner with a 
specific output. Direct costs are charged directly to 
outputs. Indirect costs are charged to outputs based 
on cost drivers and related activity/usage 
information. Depreciation is charged on the basis of 
asset utilisation. Personnel costs are charged on the 
basis of actual time incurred. Other indirect costs 
are assigned to outputs, based on the proportion of 
full-time equivalents. 

There have been no changes to the cost allocation 
methodology since the date of the last audited 
financial statements.  
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Critical accounting estimates and 

assumptions 

In preparing these financial statements, the New 
Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has made estimates and 
assumptions concerning the future. These estimates 
and assumptions may differ from the subsequent 
actual results. Estimates and assumptions are 
continually evaluated and are based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectations 
of future events that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. The estimates and 
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year 
are discussed below: 

Property, plant and equipment and 

intangible assets useful lives and 

residual value 

At each balance date, the New Zealand Oil Pollution 
Fund reviews the useful lives and residual values of 
its property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets. Assessing the appropriateness of useful life 
and residual value estimates of property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets requires the New 
Zealand Oil Pollution Fund to consider a number of 
factors, such as the physical condition of the asset, 
expected period of use of the asset by the New 
Zealand Oil Pollution Fund, and expected disposal 
proceeds from the future sale of the asset. 

An incorrect estimate of the useful life or residual 
value will impact on the depreciation/amortisation 
expense recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income, and on the carrying amount 
of the asset in the statement of financial position. 
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund minimised the 
risk of this estimation uncertainty by: 

 physical inspections of assets 
 asset replacement programmes 
 review of the second-hand market prices for 

similar assets 
 analysis of prior asset sales. 

The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has not made 
significant changes to past assumptions concerning 

useful lives and residual values except where 
individual assets have been written-off due to 
observable changes to the asset itself. 

Capital commitments 

Future expenses and liabilities to be incurred on 
contracts that relate to unperformed goods or 
services that have been entered into at balance date 
are disclosed as commitments. Commitments 
disclosed include those operating and capital 
commitments arising from non-cancellable 
contractual or statutory obligations. 

Contingent assets and liabilities 

Contingent liabilities are disclosed if the possibility 
that they will crystallise is not remote. Contingent 
assets are disclosed if it is probable that the benefits 
will be realised. 

Statement of cash flows 

Cash means cash and cash equivalents on hand, 
held in bank accounts, and demand deposits in 
which the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund invests as 
part of its day-to-day cash management. 

Operating activities include cash received from all 
income sources and records the cash payments 
made for the supply of goods and services, personnel 
expenses, interest, and capital charges. 

Investing activities are those activities relating to the 
acquisition and disposal of non-current assets, 
intangible assets and investments. 

Financing activities comprise the change in equity 
and debt capital structure of the New Zealand Oil 
Pollution Fund. 

Terminology  

Output class income and expenditure prior year 
financial information is reclassified to align with the 
Statement of Intent. The reclassification is made to 
provide information that is relevant to the 
understanding of the financial statements and has 
no impact on the net surplus/deficit.

Note 2: Other third-party revenue 

    Actual
2013/14 

$000 

Actual 
2012/13 

$000 

Equipment hire 67 25  

Other Income 15 28  

Total other revenue 82 53  
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Note 3: Gains 

  
  
  

Actual
2013/14 

$000 

Actual 
2012/13 

$000 

Gain on sale of property, plant & equipment 23 - 

Total gains 23 - 

Note 4: Personnel expenses 

  
  
  

Actual
2013/14 

$000 

Actual 
2012/13 

$000 

Personnel & related costs 940 631  

Employer contributions to defined contribution plans 49 32  

Increase/(decrease) in employee entitlements (note 14) 32 (23) 

Total personnel costs 1,021 640  

Note 5: Finance costs 

  
  
  

Actual
2013/14 

$000 

Actual 
2012/13 

$000 

Discount unwind on provisions (note 15) 1 8 

Total finance costs 1 8 

Note 6: Oil spill response 

  
  
  

Actual
2013/14 

$000 

Actual 
2012/13 

$000 

Personnel and related costs - (167) 

Administration - 2  

Costs covered by Maritime NZ - -  

Consultancy - 7  

Operating - 116  

Operating lease expenses - 10  

Other - 109  

Travel - (69) 

Total personnel costs - 8  
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Note 7: Other expenses 

  
  
  

Actual
2013/14 

$000 

Actual 
2012/13 

$000 

Administration 25 20  

Bad debts written off 1 3  

Costs covered by Maritime NZ 690 690  

Consultancy 48 117  

Fees to auditors – audit fees for financial statement audit 11 10  

Impairment of receivables (note 8) 3 2  

Maintenance 119 125  

Marketing & public relations 39 43  

Operating 144 218  

Operating lease  154 156  

Professional & safety services 479 332  

Regional council costs 718 897  

Travel 265 194  

Training & exercises 420 117  

Property, plant & equipment write-off 58 92  

Total other expenses 3,174 3,016  

Note 8: Cash and cash equivalents 

   
  
  

Actual 

2013/14 

$000 

Actual 

2012/13 

$000 

Cash on hand & at bank 126 246  

Cash equivalents – term deposits 2,372 957  

Total cash & equivalents 2,498 1,203  

The carrying value of short-term deposits with maturity dates of three months or less approximates their fair value.  

The weighted average effective interest rate for short-term deposits with maturity dates of three months or less is 
3.0% (2013: 3.0%). 
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Note 9: Debtors and other receivables 

  
  
  

Actual
2013/14 

$000 

Actual 
2012/13 

$000 

Debtors & other receivables 406 155  

Less: provision for impairment (5) (2) 

Net trade debtors 401 153  

Other accounts receivable 60 29  

Goods and Services Tax refundable 123 - 

Total debtors & other receivables 584 182  

The carrying value of receivables approximates their fair value.  

As at 30 June 2014 and 2013, all overdue receivables have been assessed for impairment and appropriate 
provisions applied, as detailed below: 

Debtors Aging 30 June 2014 30 June 2013 

  
  

Gross 
$000 

Impairment 
$000 

Net 
$000 

Gross 
$000 

Impairment 
$000 

Net 
$000 

Not past due 498 - 498 108 -  108 

Past due 1–30 days - - - - -  - 

past due 31–60 days - - - 23 -  23 

Past due 61–90 days - - - 1 -  1 

Past due > 90 days 91 (5) 86 52 (2) 50 

Total 589 (5) 584 184 (2) 182 

The provision for impairment has been calculated based on expected losses for the New Zealand Oil Pollution 
Fund’s pool of debtors. Expected losses are based on an analysis of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund's losses in 
previous periods, and review of specific debtors. 

Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follows: 

  
  
  

Actual
2013/14 

$000 

Actual 
2012/13 

$000 

Balance at 1 July 2 -  

Additional provisions made during the year  3 2  

Balance at 30 June  5 2  
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Note 10: Inventory 

  
  
  

Actual
2013/14 

$000 

Actual 
2012/13 

$000 

Oil spill response and dispersants 1,519 1,515  

Total inventory 1,519 1,515  

The write-down of inventories held for distribution amounted to $nil (2013: $nil). There have been no reversals of 
write-downs. No inventories are pledged as security for liabilities; however, some inventories are subject to 
retention of title clauses.  
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Note 11: Property, plant and equipment 

Movements for each class of property, plant and equipment are as follows 
 Plant & 

equipment 
Vessels Motor 

vehicles 
Furniture, fittings 

and office 
equipment 

Computer 
equipment 

Leasehold 
improvement 

Work in 
progress 

Total 

  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Cost or valuation          

Balance at 1 July 2012 10,008 454 287 106  23 60 64 11,002 

Additions 87 - - -  - - - 87 

Work in progress - - - -  - - 147 147 

Transfer from WIP 64 - - -  - -  (64) - 

Disposals  (598) - -  (14) - - - (612) 

Balance at 30 June 2013 9,561 454 287 92  23 60 147 10,624 

Balance at 1 July 2013 9,561 454 287 92 23 60 147 10,624 

Additions 71 - 34 - - - - 105 

Work in progress - - - - - - 1,098 1,098 

Transfer from WIP 147 - - - - - (147) - 

Disposals (591) (31) (35) - - - - (657) 

Balance at 30 June 2014 9,188 423 286 92 23 60 1,098 11,170 

Accumulated depreciation & impairment losses          

Balance at 1 July 2012 6,626 208 287 101  23 57 - 7,302 

Depreciation expense 280 32 - 3  - 1 - 316 

Elimination on disposal  (506) - - (14) - - -  (520) 

Balance at 30 June 2013 6,400 240 287 90  23 58 - 7,098 

Balance at 1 July 2013 6,400 240 287 90  23 58 - 7,098 

Depreciation expense 277 32 6 2 - - - 317 

Elimination on disposal (534) (27) (35) - - - - (596) 

Balance at 30 June 2014 6,143 245 258 92 23 58 - 6,819 

Carrying amounts          

At 30 June 2013 3,161 214 - 2  - 2 147 3,526 

At 30 June 2014 3,045 178 28 - - 2 1,098 4,351 
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Note 12: Intangible assets 

Movements for each intangible asset class 

  Acquired 
software 

Internally 
generated 
software 

Total 

  $000 $000 $000 

Cost or valuation    

Balance at 1 July 2012 27 492 519 

Balance at 30 June 2013 27 492 519 

Balance at 1 July 2013 27 492 519 

Balance at 30 June 2014 27 492 519 

Accumulated depreciation & 
impairment losses 

   

Balance at 1 July 2012 27 262 289 

Amortisation expense - 58 58 

Balance at 30 June 2013 27 320 347 

Balance at 1 July 2013 27 320 347 

Amortisation expense - 58 58 

Balance at 30 June 2013 27 378 405

Carrying amounts    

At 30 June 2013 - 172 172 

At 30 June 2014 - 114 114 

There are no restrictions over the title of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s intangible assets, and there are no 
intangible assets pledged as security for liabilities. 
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Note 13: Creditors and other payables 

  
  
  

Actual 

2013/14 

$000 

Actual 

2012/13 

$000 

Trade creditors 385 45  

Goods & Services Tax payable - 30  

Accrued expenses 997 773  

Total creditors & other payables 1,382 848  

Creditors and other payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms; therefore, the 
carrying value of creditors and other payables approximates their fair value. 

Note 14: Employee entitlements 

  
  
  

Actual 

2013/14 

$000 

Actual 

2012/13 

$000 

Current annual leave 53 47  

Accrued salary and wages 40 30 

Total employee entitlements 93 77  

Note 15: Provisions 

  
  
  

Actual 

2013/14 

$000 

Actual 

2012/13 

$000 

Non-current provisions are represented by    

Lease make good 63 62  

Total non-current provisions 63 62  

Total provisions 63 62  
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Movements for each class of provision are as follows:  

  
  

Lease make 
good 

$000 

Balance at 1 July 2012 54 

Discount unwind provision (Note 5) 8

Balance at 30 June 2013 62

Balance at 1 July 2013 62 

Discount unwind provision (Note 5) 1 

Balance at 30 June 2014 63 

Lease make-good 
In respect of its leased premises, the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund is required at the expiry of the lease term to 
make good any damage caused to the premises from installed fixtures and fittings, and to remove any fixtures or 
fittings installed by the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund. In many cases, the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has 
the option to renew these leases, which impacts on the timing of expected cash outflows to make good the 
premises. Information about the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s leasing arrangements is disclosed in note 18. 

Note 16: Equity 

  
  
  

Actual 

2013/14 

$000 

Actual 

2012/13 

$000 

General funds    

Balance at 1 July as previously reported 5,645 6,136  

Surplus/(deficit) 1,783 (491) 

Capital contribution 100 - 

Balance at 30 June 7,528 5,645  

Total equity 30 June 7,528 5,645  
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Note 17: Reconciliation of net surplus/(deficit) to net cash from operating activities 

  
  
  

Actual 

2013/14 

$000 

Actual 

2012/13 

$000 

Net surplus/(deficit) 1,783 (491) 

Add/(less) non-cash items   

Depreciation & amortisation 375 374  

Write-off property, plant and equipment 58 92  

Total non-cash items 433 466  

Add/(less) items classified as investing/financing activities  

Loss/(gain) on sale of property, plant and equipment (23) - 

Total items classified as investing/ financing activities (23) - 

Add/(less) movements in working capital   

(Increase)/decrease in inventories (4) (14) 

(Increase)/decrease in debtors and other receivables (402) 804  

Increase/(decrease) in accounts payables, including provisions 551 (1,867) 

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments 34 (28) 

Net movements in working capital items 179 (1,105) 

Net cash from operations 2,372 (1,130) 

Note 18: Capital commitments and operating leases 

Operating leases as lessee 
Future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: 

  
  
  

Actual 

2013/14 

$000 

Actual 

2012/13 

$000 

Non-cancellable operating leases    

Not later than 1 year 155 37  

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 194 -  

Total non-cancellable operating leases 349 37  

The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has recognised a make-good provision of $63,000 (2013: $62,000) in 
respect of these leases (note 15).  
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Note 19: Contingencies 

Contingent liabilities 

New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has no contingent liabilities (2013: $nil). 

Contingent assets 

New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has no contingent assets (2013: $nil). 

Note 20: Related party transactions 

Related-party transactions  
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund is a wholly owned entity of the Crown. The government significantly influences 
the role of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund. New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund enters into all related party 
transactions on an arm’s length basis. 

Significant transaction with government-related entities 

New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund received Crown Funding of $nil (2013: $8,000) to cover the additional costs of 
responding to the grounding of the CV Rena off Tauranga. 

Collectively, but not individually, significant, transactions with government-related entities 

In conducting its activities, New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund is required to pay various taxes and levies (such as 
Goods and Services Tax, Fringe Benefit Tax, Pay As You Earn, and ACC levies) to the Crown and entities related to 
the Crown. The payment of these taxes and levies, other than income tax, is based on the standard terms and 
conditions that apply to all tax and levy payers. The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund is exempt from paying income 
tax. 

The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund also purchases goods and service from entities controlled, significantly 
influenced, or jointly controlled by the Crown. Purchases from these government-related entities for the year ended 
30 June 2014 totalled $718,000 (2013: $845,000). These purchases included professional services from 
Massey University and air travel from Air New Zealand  

The following transactions were carried out with related parties other than those described above. The aggregate 
value of transactions and outstanding balances relating to key management personnel and entities over which they 
have control or significant influence were as follows:  

Transaction Ref Transaction value
year ended 30 June 

Balance outstanding 
year ended 30 June 

  2014
$000 

2013
$000 

2014 
$000 

2013
$000 

New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund 
– salaries & administration cost 
recovered by Maritime NZ 

1 690 690 366 87

New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund 
– amounts owed to Maritime NZ 

 - - 113 129

1. Maritime NZ is responsible for administering the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund. The costs relating to this 
administration have been paid to Maritime NZ on a cost-recovery basis.  

No provision has been required, nor any expense recognised, for impairment of receivables from related parties 
(2013: $nil). 
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Employee remuneration 

Total remuneration paid or payable 

$  
Actual 

2013/14 

Actual 

2012/13 

110,000–119,999 2 1  

120,000–129,999 1 1  

Total Employees 3 2  

During the year ended 30 June 2014, no employees received compensation and other benefits in relation to 
cessation (2013: $nil). No Authority members received compensation or other benefits in relation to cessation 
(2013: $nil). 

Note 21: Events after balance sheet date 

There were no significant events after the balance date. 

Note 22: Categories of financial assets and liabilities 

The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities in each of the New Zealand International Accounting 
Standard 39 categories are as follows: 

  
  
  

Actual 
2013/14 

$000 

Actual 
2012/13 

$000 

Loans & receivables    

Cash & cash equivalents (note 8) 2,498 1,203  

Debtors & other receivables (note 9) 584 182  

 Total loans & receivables 3,082 1,385  

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost   

Creditors & other payables (note 13) 1,382 848  

Total financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 1,382 848  

Note 23: Financial instrument risks 

The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s activities expose it to a variety of financial instrument risks, including 
market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has a series of policies to manage 
the risks associated with financial instruments and seeks to minimise exposure from financial instruments. These 
policies do not allow any transactions to be entered into that are speculative in nature. 

Market risk 
The interest rates on the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s short term deposits are disclosed in note 8. 

Fair-value interest rate risk 
Fair-value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in 
market interest rates. The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s exposure to fair-value interest rate risk is limited to its 
bank deposits that are held at fixed rates of interest. 

Cash-flow interest rate risk 
Cash-flow interest rate risk is the risk that the cash flows from a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates. Investments issued at variable interest rates expose the New Zealand Oil 
Pollution Fund to cash-flow interest rate risk.  
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The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s investment policy requires a spread of investment maturity dates, to limit 
exposure to short-term interest rate movements. The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund currently has no variable-
interest rate investments. 

Sensitivity analysis 
As at 30 June 2014, if interest rates on term deposits had been 0.5% higher or lower, with all other variables held 
constant, the deficit for the year would have been $nil (2013: $nil) higher/lower. This movement is attributable to 
increased or decreased interest received on term deposits.  

Currency risk 
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to 
changes in foreign exchange rates.  

The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund purchases goods and services overseas that require it to enter into 
transactions denominated in foreign currencies. As a result of these activities, exposure to currency risk arises. The 
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund does not operate any overseas currency bank accounts.  

It is the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s policy to manage foreign currency risks arising from contractual 
commitments and liabilities by entering into foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge the foreign currency risk 
exposure. 

Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligation to the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund, causing 
the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund to incur a loss.  

Due to the timing of its cash inflows and outflows, the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund invests surplus cash with 
registered banks. The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s investment policy limits the amount of credit exposure to 
any one institution.  

The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has processes in place to review the credit quality of customers prior to the 
granting of credit. 

The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s maximum credit exposure for each class of financial instrument is 
represented by the total carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents (note 8) and net debtors (note 9). There is 
no collateral held as security against these financial instruments, including instruments that are overdue or 
impaired. 

The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has no significant concentrations of credit risk, as it has a small number of 
credit customers and invests New Zealand Oil Pollution Funds only with registered banks with specified Standard 
and Poor's credit ratings. 

As at 30 June 2014 the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund holds cash with Westpac.  

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund will encounter difficulty raising liquid funds to meet 
commitments as they fall due. Prudent liquidity-risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the 
ability to close out market positions. New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund mostly manages liquidity risk by continuously 
monitoring actual forecast and actual cash flow requirements.  

New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund maintains a credit card facility limit with Westpac. 

The table below analyses New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings, 
based on the remaining period at the balance date to the contract maturity date. The amounts disclosed are the 
contractual undiscounted cash flows. 
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  Less than 
31 Days 

Between 
31 & 60 

days 

Between 
61 & 90 

days 

Over 90 
days 

  $000 $000 $000 $000

2013      

Creditors & Other Payables (Note 13) 848 - 2 -

2014      

Creditors & Other Payables (Note 13) 1,382 - - -

Note 24: Capital management 

The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s capital is its equity, which comprises accumulated New Zealand Oil 
Pollution Funds and other reserves. Equity is represented by net assets. 

The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund is subject to the financial management and accountability provisions of the 
Crown Entities Act 2004, which impose restrictions in relation to borrowings, acquisition of securities, issuing 
guarantees and indemnities, and the use of derivatives. 

The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund manages its equity as a by-product of prudently managing revenues, expenses, 
assets, liabilities and investments, and general financial dealings to ensure the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund 
effectively achieves its objectives and purpose while remaining a going concern. 

Note 25: Explanation of significant variances against budget 

Explanations for significant variations from New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund's budgeted figures in the Statement of 
Intent 2013-2016 are as follows: 

Statement of financial performance 

Crown revenue 
Crown revenue is lower than budget as there were no costs relating to the Rena grounding in 2013/14. There were 
minimal costs incurred in 2012/13. 

Oil pollution levy 
Revenue is higher than budget due to a greater number of international commercial vessels visiting New Zealand 
and an increase in tonnages. 

Personnel costs 
Personnel costs were higher than budget due to secondments of Maritime NZ staff to the New Zealand Oil 
Pollution Fund to work on projects. 

Other expenses 
Other expenses are lower than budget due to oil spill response training with the regional councils being deferred 
during the year.  

Statement of financial position 

Cash and cash equivalents and investments 
Cash and cash equivalents are higher than budget arising from the higher than budget surplus for the year. 

Note 26: Directions issued by Ministers 

There were no directions issued by Ministers within the financial reporting period.  
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Appendix 2: Maritime New Zealand and Rescue 
Coordination Centre New Zealand additional financial 
information 
The financial statements of the Authority consolidate the activities of the Rescue 
Coordination Centre New Zealand with Maritime NZ’s traditional business activities. 
This appendix provides additional financial information that does not form part of 
Maritime NZ’s audited accounts, to give readers more detail about the cost of 
operating Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand. 
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Statement of comprehensive income 

Year ended 30 June 2014 

 Maritime New Zealand Rescue Coordination Centre Group

 
  
  

Actual
2013/14 

$000 

Budget
2013/14 

$000 

Actual
2012/13 

$000 

Actual
2013/14 

$000 

Budget
2013/14 

$000 

Actual
2012/13 

$000 

Actual
2013/14 

$000 

Budget
2013/14 

$000 

Actual 
2012/13 

$000 

Income           

Crown 10,153 10,549 9,886 4,070 4,444 4,070 14,223 14,993 13,956  

Marine safety charge 17,656 15,633 17,806 - - - 17,656 15,633 17,806  

Other Revenue 3,871 5,053 3,110 - 100 104 3,871 5,153 3,214  

Interest revenue 124 126 173 57 76 65 181 202 238  

Gains - - 10 - - - - - 10  

Total revenue 31,804 31,361 30,985 4,127 4,620 4,239 35,931 35,981 35,224  

Expenditure     

Personnel costs 18,094 16,300 17,963 2,176 2,187 2,363 20,270 18,487 20,326  

Depreciation & amortisation costs 1,409 1,622 1,575 82 72 99 1,491 1,694 1,675  

Property, plant and equipment write-off & impairment 
provision 

- - 431 - - - - - 431  

Capital charge 870 1,068 944 118 225 128 988 1,293 1,072  

Finance costs 12 - 10 1 - 1 13 - 11  

Other expenses 11,597 12,366 12,171 2,349 2,255 2,255 13,946 14,621 14,426  

Total expenditure 31,982 31,356 33,094 4,726 4,739 4,846 36,708 36,095 37,940  

Net Surplus/(deficit) (178) 5 (2,109) (599) (119) (607) (777) (114) (2,716) 

Other comprehensive income - - - - - - - - -  

Total other comprehensive income - - -   - - -   - - -   

Total comprehensive income (178) 5 (2,109) (599) (119) (607) (777) (114) (2,716) 
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Statement of movements in equity  

Year ended 30 June 2014 

 Maritime New Zealand Rescue Coordination Centre New 
Zealand 

Group

  
  
  

Actual
2013/14 

$000 

Budget
2013/14 

$000 

Actual
2012/13 

$000 

Actual
2013/14 

$000 

Budget
2013/14 

$000 

Actual
2012/13 

$000 

Actual
2013/14 

$000 

Budget
2013/14 

$000 

Actual 
2012/13 

$000 

Balance at 1 July 10,702 10,210 12,702 1,541 1,490 1,403 12,243 11,700 14,105  

Property, plant & equipment revaluation gains/(losses) taken 
to equity 

- - 109 - - - - - 109  

Total comprehensive income (178) 5 (2,109) (599) (119) (607) (777) (114) (2,716) 

Capital contribution - - - 601 1,100 745 601 1,100 745  

Balance at 30 June 10,524 10,215 10,702 1,543 2,471 1,541 12,067 12,686 12,243  
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Statement of financial position Year ended 30 June 2014 

 Maritime New Zealand Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand Group 

 
  
  

Actual 
2013/14 

$000 

Budget 
2013/14 

$000 

Actual 
2012/13 

$000 

Actual 
2013/14 

$000 

Budget 
2013/14 

$000 

Actual 
2012/13 

$000 

Actual 
2013/14 

$000 

Budget 
2013/14 

$000 

Actual 
2012/13 

$000 

Assets           

Current assets           

Cash & cash equivalents 4,743 5,320 3,960 1,586 1,196 759 6,329 6,516 4,719  

Debtors & other receivables 3,651 2,956 2,996 14 32 47 3,527 2,988 2,978  

Prepayments 471 230 278 151 167 33 622 397 312  

Inventory 200 250 161 - - - 200 250 161  

Investments - - 1,000 - - 980 - - 1,980  

Total current assets 9,065 8,756 8,395 1,751 1,395 1,819 10,678 10,151 10,150  

Non-current assets           

Property, plant & equipment 4,238 4,140 3,773 363 1,683 233 4,601 5,823 4,006  

Intangible assets  3,330 5,211 2,795 23 - 19 3,353 5,211 2,814  

Total non-current assets 7,568 9,351 6,568 386 1,683 252 7,954 11,034 6,820  

Total assets 16,633 18,107 14,963 2,137 3,078 2,071 18,632 21,185 16,970  

Liabilities           

Current liabilities           

Creditors and other payables 4,131 3,859 2,588 354 448 312 4,347 4,307 2,836  

Provision for employee entitlements 1,816 700 1,524 232 159 210 2,048 859 1,734 

Provisions 90 - 61 9 - - 99 - 61  

Total current liabilities 6,038 4,559 4,173 594 607 522 6,494 5,166 4,631  

Non-current liabilities           

Provisions 71 3,333 88 - - 8 71 3,333 96  

Total non-current liabilities 71 3,333 88 - - 8 71 3,333 96  

Total liabilities 6,109 7,892 4,261 594 607 530 6,565 8,499 4,727  

Equity            

Crown contribution 9,017 10,215 9,017 5,851 2,471 5,250 14,868 12,686 14,267  

Retained earnings 833 - 1,011 (4,308) -  (3,709) (3,475) - (2,698) 

Revaluation reserve 674 - 674 - - - 674 - 674  

Total equity 10,524 10,215 10,702 1,543 2,471 1,541 12,067 12,686 12,243  

Total equity and liabilities 16,633 18,107 14,963 2,137 3,078 2,071 18,632 21,185 16,970  
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Statement of cash flows Year ended 30 June 2014  

 Maritime New Zealand Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand Group 

 
  
  

Actual 
2013/14 

$000 

Budget 
2013/14 

$000 

Actual 
2012/13 

$000 

Actual 
2013/14 

$000 

Budget 
2013/14 

$000 

Actual 
2012/13 

$000 

Actual 
2013/14 

$000 

Budget 
2013/14 

$000 

Actual 
2012/13 

$000 

Cash flows from operating activities           

Crown 10,153 7,273 9,886 4,070 3,316 4,070 14,223 10,589 13,956  

Marine safety charge 17,002 15,633 17,606 - - - 17,002 15,633 17,606  

Other third party 3,917 8,329 3,165 32 1,228 243 4,021 9,557 3,408  

Interest revenue 124 126 173 57 76 65 181 202 238  

Payments to employees (17,816) (16,300) (17,877) (2,155) (2,187) (2,367) (19,971) (18,487) (20,244) 

Payments to suppliers (10,289) (12,366) (13,180) (2,427) (2,255) (2,163) (12,788) (14,621) (15,343) 

Capital charge (870) (1,068) (944) (118) (225) (128) (988) (1,293) (1,072) 

Goods & services tax(net) (28) - (373) 8 - 24 (20) - (349) 

Net cash flows from operating activities 2,193 1,627 (1,544) (533) (47) (256) 1,660 1,580 (1,800) 

Cash flows from investing activities           

Receipts from sale of property, plant & equipment - - 10 - - - - - 10  

Receipts from maturity of investments 1,000 - 2,851 980 - 25 1,980 - 2,876  

Purchase of property, plant & investments (1,100) (857) (705) (221) (1,580) (70) (1,321) (2,437) (775) 

Purchase of intangible assets (1,310) (552) (566) - - - (1,310) (552) (566) 

Net cash flows from investing activities (1,410) (1,409) 1,590 759 (1,580)  (45) (651) 2,989 1,545  

Cash flows from financing activities           

Capital contribution - - - 601 1,100 745 601 1,100 745  

Net cash flows from financing activities - - - 601 1,100 745 601 1,100 745  

Net Increase / (Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 783 218 46 827 (527) 443 1,610 (309) 490  

Opening cash balance at 1 July 3,960 5,102 3,914 759 1,723 315 4,719 6,825 4,229  

Closing cash balance at 30 June 4,743 5,320 3,960 1,586 1,196 758 6,329 6,516 4,719  
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Appendix 3:  Maritime New 
Zealand’s primary 
functions  
Maritime NZ is a Crown entity comprising a five-
member board known as the Authority (see sections 
429 and 429A of the Maritime Transport Act), 
appointed under the Crown Entities Act 2004.  

Maritime NZ’s primary functions and duties are laid 
out in the Maritime Transport Act 1994, which sets 
out the objective of the Authority (section 430) as 
follows:  

To undertake its safety, security, marine protection 
and other functions in a way that contributes to the 
aim of achieving an integrated, safe, responsive and 
sustainable transport system. 

Maritime NZ has additional obligations and 
functions under the following legislation: 

 Maritime Security Act 2004: Maritime NZ has 
been designated as the agency responsible for 
administering this Act for the effective 
implementation of the International Code for the 
Security of Ships and of Port Facilities. 

 Section 14C of the Civil Aviation Act 1990: 
Maritime NZ is responsible for coordinating 
Category II search and rescue operations, and 
for operating and maintaining the Rescue 
Coordination Centre New Zealand  

 Health and Safety in Employment Act 1992: 
Maritime NZ has been designated as the 
responsible agency to administer this Act for 
work on board ships and for ships as places of 
work. 

 Ship Registration Act 1992: Maritime NZ is 
required to maintain the New Zealand Register 
of Ships. 

Statutory functions 
Under the Maritime Transport Act 1994, Maritime 
NZ has the following functions: 

 To promote maritime safety and security, and 
protection of the marine environment in and 
beyond New Zealand, in accordance with New 
Zealand’s international obligations 

 To ensure the provision of appropriate distress 
and safety radio communication systems and 
navigational aids for shipping 

 To ensure New Zealand’s preparedness for, and 
ability to respond to, marine oil pollution spills 

 To license ships, their operation and their crews 
 To cooperate with, or provide advice and 

assistance to, any government agency or local 
government agency when requested to do so by 
the Minister 

 To provide information and advice with respect 
to maritime transport and marine protection, 

and to foster appropriate information and 
education programmes with respect to maritime 
transport and marine protection 

 To investigate and review maritime transport 
accidents and incidents, and maritime security 
breaches and incidents 

 To maintain the New Zealand Register of Ships 
 To maintain and preserve records and 

documents relating to the Authority’s functions 
 To advise the Minister on technical maritime 

safety policy. 

Other functions 
 To administer the Health and Safety in 

Employment Act 1992 Act for work on board 
ships and for ships as places of work 

 To administer the international obligations of 
the Crown under the treaties, memoranda and 
other international maritime and marine 
environment protection agreements, as agreed 
with the Minister of Transport 

 To develop and maintain maritime safety and 
marine protection rules 

 To ensure effective implementation of the 
International Code for the Security of Ships and 
of Port Facilities, in accordance with the 
Maritime Security Act 

 To maintain and operate the Rescue 
Coordination Centre New Zealand, and 
participate in the coordination of any search and 
rescue operation, as required under the Civil 
Aviation Act 

 To ensure New Zealand’s Long Range 
Identification and Tracking of ships system 
obligations are maintained. 

Functions of the Director 
The Authority is required to appoint a chief executive 
officer, who shall also fulfil the statutory office of 
Director of Maritime NZ. 

Under the Maritime Transport Act 1994, the 
Director has the following functions:  

 To exercise control over entry into the maritime 
transport system through the granting of 
maritime documents and marine protection 
documents. (A maritime document is any 
licence, permit, certificate or other document 
issued by the Director of Maritime NZ under 
Section 41 of the Maritime Transport Act 1994, 
including certificates of competency, safe ship 
management, surveyor recognition and safe 
crewing documents) 

To take such action as may be appropriate in the 
public interest to enforce the provisions of the 
Maritime Transport Act 1994, and other Acts (such 
as the Maritime Security Act 2004, Hazardous 
Substances and New Organisms Act and Health and 
Safety in Employment Act 1992), and of regulations 
and rules made under these Acts, including the 
carrying out or requiring of inspections and audits 
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To monitor adherence within the maritime transport 
system to any regulatory requirements relating to 
safety and security, access and mobility, public 
health and environmental sustainability 

To ensure regular reviews of the maritime transport 
system and to promote the improvement and 
development of its safety and security. 

The Director has statutory independence from the 
Authority and the Minister when performing the 
following functions in a particular case: 

Granting, suspending or revoking maritime 
documents or marine protection documents 

Granting exemptions from maritime rules or 
maritime protection rules.
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Appendix 4:  
Directory 

National office 
Level 11, 1 Grey Street 
PO Box 25620 
Wellington 6146 
 
Phone:  +64 4 473 0111 
Fax:   +64 4 494 1263 
 
Toll-free info line: 0508 22 55 
22 

District offices 

Whangarei 
Unit 2 
16B Commerce Street 
Whangarei 0110 
 
PO Box 1843 
Whangarei 0140 
Phone:  +64 9 432 7056 
Fax:   +64 9 432 7056 

Auckland 
2A Augustus Terrace 
Level 2 
Parnell 1052 
 
PO Box 624, Shortland Street  
Auckland 1140 
 
Phone:  +64 9 307 1370  
Fax:   +64 9 309 3573 

Tauranga 
Ground Floor 
Nikau House 
27-33 Nikau Crescent 
Mount Maunganui 3116 
PO Box 5288 
Mount Maunganui 3150  
 
Phone:  +64 7 575 2079 
Fax:   +64 7 575 2083 

Napier 
NZWTA Building 
Cnr Lever & Bridge Streets 
4110 
 
PO Box 12012 
Ahuriri 
Napier 4144  
 
Phone:  +64 6 835 4889 
Fax:   +64 6 831 0008 

Nelson 
Duncan Court 
72 Vickerman Street 
Nelson 7010 
 
PO Box 5015  
Port Nelson 
Nelson 7043  
 
Phone:  +64 3 548 2434  
Fax:   +64 3 548 2998 

Rangiora  
80 Ivory Street 
Rangiora 7400 
 
PO Box 11  
Rangiora 7440 
 
Phone: +64 3 328 8734  
Fax:   +64 3 328 9423 

Dunedin 
The Customhouse 
32 Portsmouth Drive 
Dunedin 9054 
 
PO Box 1272  
Dunedin 9054  
 
Phone: +64 3 477 4055  
Fax:   +64 3 477 9121 

Invercargill 
117 Spey St 
Invercargill 9810 
 
PO Box 1709 
Invercargill 9840  
Phone: +64 3 212 8958 
Fax:   +64 3 212 8578 

Marine Pollution 

Response Service 

Centre  
755 Te Atatu Road  
Te Atatu 
Waitakere 0610  
 
PO Box 45–209   
Auckland 0651  
 
Phone:  +64 9 834 3908  
Fax:   +64 9 834 3907 

Rescue Coordination 

Centre New Zealand 
Avalon Business Centre 
Percy Cameron Street 
Avalon 5011 
 
PO Box 30050  
Lower Hutt 5040 

Phone:  +64 4 577 8034 
Fax:   +64 4 577 8041 
Toll-free 24-hour: 0508 472 
269 

Accident reporting:  

Phone: 0508 222 433  

Beacon registration:  
Phone: 0800 406 111 or email 
406registry@maritimenz.govt.nz 

Website 

maritimenz.govt.nz 

Auditor 
Audit New Zealand 
Wellington 
On behalf of the Auditor-
General 

Insurance broker 
Aon Risk Services (NZ) Limited 
Wellington 
  



Maritime New Zealand Annual Report 2013/14 

120 

 

 



Disclaimer: While all care and 
diligence has been used in extracting, 
analysing and compiling this information, 
Maritime New Zealand gives no warranty 
that the information provided is without error. 
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